
Finance Committee

City of Appleton

Meeting Agenda - Final-revised

100 North Appleton Street 

Appleton, WI  54911-4799

www.appleton.org

Council Chambers, 6th Floor5:30 PMMonday, July 22, 2024

1. Call meeting to order

2. Pledge of Allegiance

3. Roll call of membership

4. Approval of minutes from previous meeting

24-0955 7/8/24 Finance Committee minutes

Meeting_Minutes070824.pdfAttachments:

5. Public Hearing/Appearances

24-0956 Brad Viegut from Baird presentation on the 2024 General Obligation Notes 

and Sewerage System Revenue Bond Sales

 

prs financing plan_appleton finance committee 07.22.24.pdfAttachments:

6. Action Items

24-0957 Request to approve Riverside Cemetery Association reimbursement 

request for maintenance of Veteran graves.

RS cemetery grave reimbursment 2024_1-1.pdf

Copy of Military Report 2023 - 2024.pdf

VETERANS JULY 2023 - JUNE 2024.pdf

Attachments:

24-0958 Request to reject bid from Neumann Pools Inc. for the Mead Pool 

Plastering Project.

2024 Mead Pool Re-Coating Project (reject bids).pdfAttachments:

Page 1 City of Appleton Printed on 7/19/2024

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24656
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=e0b7e619-168b-4162-bf6e-bda8286f564e.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24657
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=5a3392a9-f21e-4f74-83bb-8a591433585d.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24658
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=2db52bde-550e-4e89-9769-ffd728303201.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=2f9b29f9-2a09-45c8-a3b0-7c64bda063d5.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=d18b56b9-4cd3-43e5-afa3-4324dff2740a.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24659
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=f00a301c-1640-4ee8-ab70-eca7b3f61709.pdf


July 22, 2024Finance Committee Meeting Agenda - Final-revised

24-0959 Request to approve Change Order No. 2 to contract 21-24 for H-23 

Lightning Drive Extension Phase 1 for added drain tile and earthwork, in 

the amount of $72,830.00 resulting in a decrease in contingency from 

$92,934.82 to $20,104.82. Overall contract increases from $1,622,361.12 

to $1,695,191.12.

H-23 Change Order 2 Finance Memo Final.pdf

Copy of H-23 Change Order 2 Final.pdf

Attachments:

24-0960 Request to award the 2024 Police Station Gun Range Door Project to IEI 

general contractor in the amount of $44,838 with a 10% contingency of 

$4,484 for a project total not to exceed $49,322, along with the following 

budget amendment (2/3 vote of Council required):

2024 Fire Station Alarm Upgrade Project - $3,502

2024 Police Station Gun Range Door project +$3,502

Police Station Firing Range Door.pdfAttachments:

24-0961 Request to reject base bid from August Winter & Sons in the amount of 

$2,617,900 for the Appleton Wastewater Treatment Plant Primary Clarifier 

#1 - #4 Rehabilitation Project.

PrimClarifer1-4 Rehab_Bid rejection memo.pdfAttachments:

24-0962 Request to approve Change Order #1 to Sabel Mechanical as part of the 

AWWTP Final Clarifier Tank Underdrain and Tank Drain Rehabilitation 

Contract Project totaling $8,837 resulting in a decrease in contingency 

from $6,662 to $0.00 with the balance of $2,175 covered by available 

project funds.

240719_Finance Memo_Change Order 1_Sabel amended.pdfAttachments:

24-0972 Resolution #8-R-24 to Require a Super Majority Vote on Wheel Tax or 

Wheel Tax Related Fee Increases

 

#8-R-24 Require Super Majority Vote on Wheel Tax Fee Changes.pdfAttachments:

7. Information Items

24-0964 Contract 77-23 was awarded to Masonry Restoration, Inc. for $162,675 

with a contingency of $15,000 for WWTP Exterior Repairs. Change orders 

were approved totaling $6,425.  Final contract amount is $169,100 with a 

contingency of $8,575.  Payments issued to date total $152,190.  Request 

final payment of $16,910.

Page 2 City of Appleton Printed on 7/19/2024

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24660
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=f452e3cc-cc6b-45c5-8cd0-3bd6de81cdd3.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=3912ab79-90f1-4dc1-b1e8-d8d024e59666.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24661
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=a77f7f7d-efaf-4cf5-b2d3-c67fb060292d.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24662
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=70f7d47b-dd25-494c-afa0-adc030c6665f.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24663
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=fff27ece-b02b-494e-bfb6-ee9383346635.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24673
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=466b496a-e6c9-44ca-b9e4-3ad8b45580f4.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24665


July 22, 2024Finance Committee Meeting Agenda - Final-revised

24-0965 The following 2024 Budget adjustment was approved by the Mayor and 

Finance Director in accordance with Policy:

General Fund - Police

Miscellaneous Revenue + $7,131

Miscellaneous Supplies + $7,131

Crisis Response Team Pilot Program surplus to be used for crisis 

response supplies

24-0966 Change Orders #1 and #2 to August Winter and Sons, Inc. contract as part 

of the AWWTP Grit System & Raw Sludge Pump Replacement Project 

totaling $18,959 resulting in a decrease in contingency from $57,336 to 

$38,377.

AWWTP GirtProj_ChangeOrders No1-2.pdfAttachments:

24-0967 Change Orders #1 to Rohde Brothers, Inc. contract as part of the AWWTP 

Sludge Piping and Digester Heat Exchanger Replacement Project totaling 

$9,730 resulting in a decrease in contingency from $241,800 to $ 232,070.

AWWTP HEX ReplacementChangeOrderNo1.pdfAttachments:

24-0968 Change Orders #1 to August Winter and Sons, Inc. contract as part of the 

Clearwell Repairs Project totaling $8,814 resulting in a decrease in 

contingency from $48,400 to $39,586.

AWTF Clearwell_Change Orders No1.pdfAttachments:

24-0969 2024 Facilities and Construction Management Mid-Year Report

2024 Facilities and Construction Management Mid-Year Report.pdfAttachments:

24-0970 2024 Finance Mid-Year Report

2024 Finance Mid-Year Report.pdfAttachments:

24-0971 2024 Legal & Administrative Services Mid-Year Report

2024 Legal Admin Mid Year Report.pdf.pdfAttachments:

8. Adjournment

Notice is hereby given that a quorum of the Common Council may be present during this 

meeting, although no Council action will be taken.

Reasonable Accommodations for Persons with Disabilities will be made upon Request 

and if Feasible.

Any questions regarding this agenda, please contact Jeri Ohman at (920) 832-5742.

Page 3 City of Appleton Printed on 7/19/2024

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24666
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24667
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=68022281-e424-481d-98b1-a39d90114c85.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24668
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=39538d17-4f5a-478a-be22-285ec94c41a8.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24669
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=1b9f14b3-49f3-424f-a835-b530f57e2bf3.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24670
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=cd8ae454-73e0-46a1-a6b7-351ce52841a6.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24671
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=44fde6f3-4c99-45db-9ee4-17705514f067.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24672
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=1273e8dc-ef84-4cf9-adbd-1044a52007c5.pdf


100 North Appleton Street 

Appleton, WI  54911-4799

www.appleton.org

City of Appleton

Meeting Minutes

Finance Committee

5:30 PM Council Chambers, 6th FloorMonday, July 8, 2024

Call meeting to order1.

Meeting called to order at 5:30pm

Pledge of Allegiance2.

Roll call of membership3.

Croatt, Fenton and Van ZeelandPresent: 3 - 

Firkus and HartzheimExcused: 2 - 

Approval of minutes from previous meeting4.

24-0895 06/24/24 Finance Committee minutes

Meeting_Minutes 062424.pdfAttachments:

Fenton moved, seconded by Van Zeeland, that the Report Action Item be 

approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Croatt, Fenton and Van Zeeland3 - 

Excused: Firkus and Hartzheim2 - 

Public Hearing/Appearances5.

24-0886 Leah Lasecki, CPA with CliftonLarsenAllen, LLP - Presentation of the 2023 

Audit and Executive Summary

City of Appleton - 2023 Audit Presentation - Full Slides.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was presented

Action Items6.

24-0887 Request to approve Transportation Project Plat and Relocation Order for the 

Olde Oneida Street Bridge over South Mill Race Project.

49840121_TPP_6.25.24_ signed.pdfAttachments:

Van Zeeland moved, seconded by Fenton, that the Report Action Item be 

recommended for approval. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Page 1City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24596
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=68adad97-0011-4cbd-9bed-72e217fbb6ad.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24587
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=bd913783-091d-458c-9d5a-838232a52a31.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24588
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=c91d4980-0d79-4f33-8d94-a78f9a2f481e.pdf


July 8, 2024Finance Committee Meeting Minutes

Aye: Croatt, Fenton and Van Zeeland3 - 

Excused: Firkus and Hartzheim2 - 

24-0900 Request to approve AUDIT AGREEMENT FOR PAYMENT FOR LANDS 

OR INTERESTS IN LANDS ACQUIRED FROM PUBLIC UTILITY needed 

for the City to be reimbursed by WisDOT for relocating water main in 

conjunction with the 2025 I-41/Ballard Road interchange reconstruction 

project. 

DT1541_CoA_WATR _1130-65-76_1130-65-41.pdfAttachments:

Fenton moved, seconded by Van Zeeland, that the Report Action Item be 

recommended for approval. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Croatt, Fenton and Van Zeeland3 - 

Excused: Firkus and Hartzheim2 - 

24-0889 Request to approve the following 2024 Budget amendment:

Public Works Capital Project Fund

Public Safety Camera Program                 + $110,904

Fund Balance Applied                               + $110,904

To fund Public Safety Camera project costs.

Public Safety Camera Budget Amendment.pdfAttachments:

Van Zeeland moved, seconded by Fenton, that the Report Action Item be 

recommended for approval. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Croatt, Fenton and Van Zeeland3 - 

Excused: Firkus and Hartzheim2 - 

24-0898 Request to award the City of Appleton’s 2024 Park Pavilions Roof 

Replacement Project contract to Schulze Exteriors, LLC in the amount of 

$45,775 with a 15% contingency of $7,000 for a project total not to exceed 

$52,775.

2024 Parks Pavilion Roof Replacement.pdfAttachments:

Fenton moved, seconded by Van Zeeland, that the Report Action Item be 

recommended for approval. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Croatt, Fenton and Van Zeeland3 - 

Excused: Firkus and Hartzheim2 - 

Information Items7.

Page 2City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24601
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=02cb550f-ba5a-42a5-9535-fcbddefc6f00.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24590
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=6337a259-3bcf-40d5-9e02-cd0b98a774d7.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24599
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=974357ed-131d-4495-9812-253a75c34735.pdf


July 8, 2024Finance Committee Meeting Minutes

24-0884 The following 2024 Budget adjustments were approved by the Finance 

Director in accordance with Policy:

General Fund - Library

Childrens - Other Reimbursement          +$200

Childrens - Office Supplies                     +$200

To record PBS Kids Stipend

Library Grants

Reach Out and Read - Other Reimbursements       +$419

Library Grants - Books & Library Materials              +$419

To record United Way Reach Out and Read Funding

This item was presented

24-0885 Contract 160-23 was awarded to Rohde Brothers for $177,700 with a 

contingency of $40,014 for Water Air Compressor. Change orders were 

approved totaling $1,256. Final contract amount is $178,956. Payments 

issued to date total $171,949. Request final payment of $7,007.00.  

This item was prestented

24-0890 Contract 60-21 was awarded to Van Ert Electric Company, Inc. for $2,130,000 

with a contingency of $148,074.60 for WW Substation Upgrade, Phase 4. 

Change orders were approved totaling $64,925.40. Final contract amount is 

$2,194,925.40. Payments issued to date total $2,085,179.13.  Request final 

payment of $109,746.27.

This item was presented

Adjournment8.

Van Zeeland moved, seconded by Fenton, that this meeting be adjourned. Roll 

Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Croatt, Fenton and Van Zeeland3 - 

Excused: Firkus and Hartzheim2 - 

Page 3City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24585
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24586
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24591


 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

City of Appleton Bradley D. Viegut, Managing Director 

Finance Committee Meeting bviegut@rwbaird.com 

July 22, 2024  

  

 

 

777 East Wisconsin Avenue 

Milwaukee, WI 53202 

Phone 414.765.3827 

 



City of Appleton 

FINANCE COMMITTEE MEETING 

July 22, 2024 

2 
 

Timeline 

• Finance Committee considers plan of finance ...................................................................................................... July 22, 2024 

▪ Preparations are made for issuance 

✓ Official Statement 

✓ Bond Rating 

✓ Marketing 

• Notes/Bonds Pricing ....................................................................................................................................................... August 7, 2024 

• Special Finance Committee considers award resolutions .............................................................................................. August 7, 2024 

• Common Council meeting to award Notes/Bonds ......................................................................................................... August 7, 2024 

• Closing (funds available) ............................................................................................................................................... August 28, 2024 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 



City of Appleton 

FINANCE COMMITTEE MEETING 

July 22, 2024 

3 

Borrowing Amount / Structure / Purpose – General Obligation Promissory Notes, Series 2024 

Amount: $13,500,000 

Issue: General Obligation Promissory Notes, Series 2024 

Purpose: 2024 CIP: $8,777,300 

TID #13: $4,721,700 

Structure: Matures April 1, 2025-2034 

First Interest: April 1, 2025 

Callable: April 1, 2031 

Estimated Interest Rate: 3.84% 



City of Appleton 

FINANCE COMMITTEE MEETING 

July 22, 2024 

4 
 

Example Financing Plan – General Obligation Promissory Notes, Series 2024 

POS

2024 NOTES

$13,500,000
General Obligation Promissory Notes, Series 2024

August 28, 2024

(First Interest April 1, 2025)

2024 CIP Projects:  $8,777,300; TID #13: $4,721,700 TOTAL 2024 DEBT SERVICE ALLOCATION

EXISTING * PRINCIPAL INTEREST LESS: TOTAL EXISTING &

LEVY YEAR LEVY SUPPORTED * (4/1) (4/1 & 10/1) HYPOTHETICAL 2024 YEAR

YEAR DUE DEBT SERVICE
(A)

* TIC=  BID PREMIUM DEBT SERVICE DUE

* 3.84% (Levy)

*

2023 2024 $13,794,989 * $13,794,989 2024

2024 2025 $13,795,384 * $655,000 $730,538 ($883,736) $501,802 $13,795,384 2025

2025 2026 $13,381,625 * $420,000 $640,945 $1,060,945 $13,796,906 2026

2026 2027 $12,942,750 * $420,000 $619,945 $1,039,945 $13,406,678 2027

2027 2028 $12,003,688 * $980,000 $584,945 $1,564,945 $12,997,740 2028

2028 2029 $10,503,000 * $1,305,000 $527,820 $1,832,820 $11,761,053 2029

2029 2030 $9,010,475 * $1,750,000 $451,445 $2,201,445 $10,639,403 2030

2030 2031 $6,299,900 * $1,840,000 $361,695 $2,201,695 $7,927,453 2031

2031 2032 $4,469,100 * $1,940,000 $265,740 $2,205,740 $6,100,701 2032

2032 2033 $2,769,300 * $2,040,000 $163,255 $2,203,255 $4,400,068 2033

2033 2034 * $2,150,000 $55,363 $2,205,363 $1,630,943 2034

*

$98,970,211 * $13,500,000 $4,401,690 ($883,736) $17,017,954 $110,251,315

(A) Net of bid premium from the 2023 Notes.



City of Appleton 

FINANCE COMMITTEE MEETING 

July 22, 2024 

5 
 

Debt Service Allocation – General Obligation Promissory Notes, Series 2024 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2024 DEBT SERVICE ALLOCATION

CIP TID #13

YEAR (Levy) (TID Supported) YEAR

DUE DUE

2024 $0 $0 2024

2025 $0 $572,199 2025

2026 $415,281 $575,268 2026

2027 $463,928 $576,018 2027

2028 $994,053 $570,893 2028

2029 $1,258,053 $574,768 2029

2030 $1,628,928 $572,518 2030

2031 $1,627,553 $574,143 2031

2032 $1,631,601 $574,139 2032

2033 $1,630,768 $572,488 2033

2034 $1,630,943 $574,420 2034

$11,281,104 $5,736,850



City of Appleton 

FINANCE COMMITTEE MEETING 

July 22, 2024 

6 
 

Potential Future Borrowing Debt Service – General Obligation  

Periods of level

payments are boxed

TOTAL POTENTIAL FUTURE BORROWING DEBT SERVICE

EXISTING & CIP COMBINED

YEAR 2024 NOTES BORROWINGS
(B)(C)

2026
(B)(C)

2028
(B)(C)

2030
(B)(C)

G.O. YEAR

DUE DEBT SERVICE (Levy) DEBT SERVICE DUE

(Levy) (Levy)

2024 $13,794,989 $0 $13,794,989 2024

2025 $13,795,384 $0 $13,795,384 2025

2026 $13,796,906 $0 $13,796,906 2026

2027 $13,406,678 $359,575 $380,217 $14,146,469 2027

2028 $12,997,740 $770,639 $376,900 $14,145,279 2028

2029 $11,761,053 $1,251,775 $377,713 $756,097 $14,146,637 2029

2030 $10,639,403 $2,372,450 $378,150 $756,723 $14,146,725 2030

2031 $7,927,453 $4,746,928 $378,213 $754,310 $335,500 $14,142,403 2031

2032 $6,100,701 $6,573,271 $377,900 $756,285 $336,538 $14,144,695 2032

2033 $4,400,068 $8,272,271 $381,750 $752,648 $338,838 $14,145,573 2033

2034 $1,630,943 $11,042,777 $381,275 $753,118 $335,875 $14,143,987 2034

(B) This information is provided for information purposes only.  It does not recommend any future issuances and is not intended to be, and should not be regarded as, advice.

(C) Assumes future borrowings, as described below, using estimated interest rates of approximately 3.00%:

Potential Future Borrowings

General Purposes 2026 2028 2030

2025 $9,000,000

2026 $6,350,000 $4,500,000

2027 $10,500,000

2028 $8,500,000 $9,000,000

2029 $9,500,000

2030 $7,500,000 $4,000,000

2031 $6,500,000

2032 $6,500,000

2033 $6,500,000

2034 $6,500,000



City of Appleton 

FINANCE COMMITTEE MEETING 

July 22, 2024 

7 
 

Total Combined Debt Service 



City of Appleton 

FINANCE COMMITTEE MEETING 

July 22, 2024 

8 
 

Amount / Structure / Purpose – Sewerage System Revenue Bonds, Series 2024 
 

Amount: $12,910,000 

Issue: Sewerage System Revenue Bonds, Series 2024 

Purpose: $12,550,000 - Sewer System Projects 

Structure: Matures May 1, 2026-2044 

First Interest: May 1, 2025 

Callable: May 1, 2032 

Estimated Interest Rate: 4.44% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



City of Appleton 

FINANCE COMMITTEE MEETING 

July 22, 2024 

9 
 

Example Financing Plan – Sewerage System Revenue Bonds, Series 2024 
 
 

 

PRELIMINARY

$12,910,000

Sewerage System Revenue Bonds, Series 2024

Dated August 28, 2024

(First Interest May 1, 2025)

EXISTING 2024 Projects Financed:  $12,550,000 COMBINED

SEWERAGE SEWERAGE DEBT

YEAR SYSTEM PRINCIPAL INTEREST TOTAL SYSTEM SERVICE

DUE DEBT (5/1) (5/1 & 11/1) DEBT COVERAGE

(Revenue Only) TIC= (Revenue Only) (2023 Net Revenues)

4.44%

2024 $3,102,763 $3,102,763 2.10

2025 $3,091,188 $751,794 $751,794 $3,842,982 1.70

2026 $3,095,538 $200,000 $634,825 $834,825 $3,930,363 1.66

2027 $2,868,488 $440,000 $618,825 $1,058,825 $3,927,313 1.66

2028 $2,698,863 $465,000 $596,200 $1,061,200 $3,760,063 1.74

2029 $2,393,863 $490,000 $572,325 $1,062,325 $3,456,188 1.89

2030 $2,398,288 $515,000 $547,200 $1,062,200 $3,460,488 1.89

2031 $2,099,488 $540,000 $520,825 $1,060,825 $3,160,313 2.06

2032 $1,829,188 $570,000 $493,075 $1,063,075 $2,892,263 2.26

2033 $1,824,113 $600,000 $463,075 $1,063,075 $2,887,188 2.26

2034 $1,825,413 $630,000 $430,788 $1,060,788 $2,886,200 2.26

2035 $1,830,138 $665,000 $396,794 $1,061,794 $2,891,931 2.26

2036 $1,828,288 $700,000 $360,963 $1,060,963 $2,889,250 2.26

2037 $1,830,838 $735,000 $323,294 $1,058,294 $2,889,131 2.26

2038 $1,827,763 $775,000 $283,656 $1,058,656 $2,886,419 2.26

2039 $1,832,256 $820,000 $241,788 $1,061,788 $2,894,044 2.25

2040 $1,829,244 $865,000 $197,556 $1,062,556 $2,891,800 2.26

2041 $1,324,325 $910,000 $150,963 $1,060,963 $2,385,288 2.74

2042 $873,169 $955,000 $106,781 $1,061,781 $1,934,950 3.37

2043 $995,000 $65,344 $1,060,344 $1,060,344 6.15

2044 $1,040,000 $22,100 $1,062,100 $1,062,100 6.14

$40,403,206 $12,910,000 $7,778,169 $20,688,169 $61,091,376

2023 Audited Net Revenues Available for Debt Service: $6,525,132

Additional Bonds Test: Net Revenues at least 1.20 times the maximum annual combined 

principal and interest requirement annual combined principal and interest requirement.





Last Name First Name Middle Death Date Enter Service DateDischarged Date

Babcock Darwood "Lee" 4/9/2023 12/3/1958 3/1/1962
Meek David E 2/1/2021 10/17/1963 10/16/1967
Losselyong Daniel Nicholas 4/14/2004 10/11/1955 10/10/1957
Schricker Gerald J 4/25/2023 5/10/1965 4/21/1967
Stabile Michael 11/17/2015
Timmins Lynn 7/6/2023
Sonsthagen Owen L. 5/18/2023 1/1/1948
Schmitz Robert E 12/17/2022
Wesolowski Joseph Ronald 12/6/2013 10/20/1961 10/4/1963
Knostenberg John U 3/7/2023 6/8/1956 4/3/1959
Weir Donald 10/23/2023
McConnell Richard "Dick" 2/22/2023 10/19/1955 9/25/1957
Gowey Daniel A 11/17/2022 6/20/1966 1/21/1969
Young Ivan 10/21/1993 1/28/1944 11/11/1945
Vanden Boom William 8/12/2023 9/25/1991 4/20/1993
Troy Stanley E 12/14/2022 7/7/1964 04/07/0066
Lemmers Stephen 5/25/2023 3/19/1952 3/27/1954
Weber Russell G 1/28/1988 8/10/1953 8/9/1956
Harwood Paul Allen 8/28/2023
Lyons Clifford H 11/21/2014
Phinney Michael C 5/8/2016
Rosewitz Jerry 12/16/2022
Collins Steven J 7/20/2023 6/23/1967 6/20/1969
Smith Shelby J 4/25/2003
Auerswald Edgar H 2/12/1944
Oettinger Milton G 3/22/2018
White William 04/26/1882
Archambault Brian 1/21/2007
Hickinbotham James J 1/1/2023
Sykes Lewis H 05/14/1864
Bowlby Howard Wellington 7/24/1983 7/8/1943 2/4/1946
Bremer John H 7/5/1920
Neller James Locke 12/31/2010
Schneider Orville T 4/21/1945
Dinegeldein Fred H 12/6/1951
Collins Joseph C. 4/11/1982 7/3/1964 8/30/1966
Mata Jacob P 1/5/2024
Gibson Arrington 09/16/1860
Hawkins Robert, B 11/11/2015
Lor Nhia 2/25/2018
Reeck Marlin H 3/23/2024 1/1/1955 1/1/1963
Steinfeldt Thomas F 3/31/2024



Werner Martin 9/2/1998
Mory George Horan 6/18/1948
Deeg Lynn 11/27/2023 9/28/1962 9/27/1966
Carini Dominic John 5/20/2024
Chastain Charles 8/21/2023 7/4/1957 7/3/1959
Laubenstein Jerome H 4/13/2024
Feide William 4/30/2024
Jensen Mark P 2/22/2023
Rector Robert H 5/18/2024
Page Rueben F 4/14/2008 2/2/1943 11/19/1945
Puffer Richard G 4/28/2015
DuBord James 11/25/2014
Washatka John 8/24/2003
Harwood Dewey S 12/28/2008 7/1/1944 6/15/1946
Grundeman Erwin F 1/1/1973
Krause Theodore R. 8/30/2021
Shellard Albert F 10/13/2006 6/8/1953 6/25/1955
Dahms Steve 2/13/2024 3/3/1967 7/14/1991
Marston Robie Drake 10/08/1862 07/28/1862 10/08/1862
Bixby Philip 4/14/1945
Rowe Julian 11/15/2010
Brain Thomas E 5/27/1947 3/30/1942 3/31/1944
**Kemp Charles B 5/13/1932 7/13/1901 7/15/1904
Person Thomas Brayton 8/24/2023 8/29/1951 8/15/1953
McSorley Raymond F 5/1/2005
Meyer Gerald L 7/11/1994
Kranzusch Theodore A 8/22/1996 6/13/1945 10/22/1945
Gurnee W.T. 07/20/1898 08/25/1862 08/29/1865
Rusch Jr. Alvin 8/21/2012
Brandner Joseph 5/11/1923 03/06/1865 08/29/1865
Petersen Andrew F. 1/4/1955 04/28/1898 11/09/1898
Kasten Stephen Mark 7/7/2016
Neveau Alfred G. 9/2/2017
Ehrhardt Earl W 10/22/2010
Ballard Harry R 3/7/1978 6/30/1916 7/10/1916
Kuck Carlton E 2/3/1999 11/7/1942 1/24/1946
Rusch Gordon A. Sr. 12/9/1985
Ward Richard 6/2/2015
Armstrong Clarence W 5/9/1986
De Young Francis W. 8/19/1978 3/25/1941 10/5/1945
Kolngen Nicholaus 11/2/1921
Richter Fredrick 5/26/1971
Sabee James H 1/16/1980 5/7/1940 5/1/1946
Skarweski Gaylord A. 2/12/1995 7/2/1942 10/27/1946



Welsch Herbert Lloyd 5/5/2013
Clements Douglas 3/20/2018
Burmeister Arthur T 3/18/1973
Herber Francis N. 11/27/1988 5/22/1945 7/18/1946
Kamine Reinhart Louis 2/27/2016
Abbott Leslie C 9/10/1976 5/11/1955 5/10/1957
Waugus Glenne M 12/15/2015
Adjet William 11/1/1938 6/2/1917 9/9/1919
Ahlschwede Joseph L 8/9/1982 8/28/1942 12/30/1944
Albrecht Sylvester 10/7/1972 10/10/1942 11/26/1945
Alexander Harold J. 1/19/2004
Alstad Alvin C. 3/7/1997 8/4/1944 2/20/1946
Andrews James Joseph 1/25/1980 2/24/1943 9/10/1943
Anholzer George J 4/15/1990 8/13/1918 1/7/1919
Armstrong Robert C 2/22/1988 12/29/1942 11/5/1944
Arnell Joseph P 7/20/1978 2/27/1942 1/30/1946
Asman Arthur R 8/13/1954 10/21/1918 2/6/1919
Aspen Leonard Clifford 3/28/1984 2/15/1943 12/15/1945
Atwood Carroll D 9/25/1968 4/7/1946 1/30/1948
Auterburn Herbert 6/18/1975 6/11/1943 11/26/1945
Badtke Harvey 6/1/1988 8/27/1942 10/20/1945
Bahr Willian Herbert 2/8/2004
Bailey Sylvester Matt 10/6/1984 8/4/1943 8/16/1946
Bailey Frances 1/30/1930
Balestrieri Jerome 6/17/1998 12/5/1942 2/12/1946
Bamke Neil P. 8/6/1999 12/21/1945 11/2/1947
Bartel William 2/7/1971 7/22/1918 2/6/1919
Barney Steven C. 4/13/2004 3/19/1965 1/12/1970
Barney Milo Chas. 5/22/2002 5/16/1934 5/1/1939
Bartelt Donald H. E. 3/22/1987
Bartelt Harvey A 9/21/1987
Barth Kenneth 3/18/2005 2/25/1953 2/24/1955
Bates Robert G. 11/4/1974 5/3/1948 5/2/1952
Bauer Louis W. 10/13/1988 2/4/1943 10/28/1945
Bauer Fred A 4/12/1947 9/5/1917 3/21/1919
Bauer Anson J 4/30/1942 4/27/1942 1/29/1946
Bauernfeind Dale O 4/15/1994 11/2/1961 11/1/1963
Bauman Stanley 3/16/1969
Bauman Fenton E 6/2/1979 1/28/1942 9/13/1945
Becker Robert M 11/27/1992 4/14/1952 4/13/1954
Behm Francis A 5/7/1994 12/20/1943 11/3/1945
Behnke Henry J 12/19/1955 04/28/1898 05/12/1898
Hesse Harold Edward 8/8/2018
Beilke Kenneth H.R. 12/2/1992 3/30/1944 5/11/1946



Bellrichard Andrew A. 7/25/1999 3/8/1957 4/23/1962
Bentley Charles 5/20/1925 08/12/1862 06/12/1865
Berggren Russell E. 11/12/1995 4/15/1941 10/28/1945
Bermann Harold H 2/22/1998
Beschta Norman A 10/14/1981 9/26/1947 3/20/1968
Beyer Vernon M. 3/29/2001 12/13/1949 12/12/1953
Hawley David L. 9/14/2016
Bodner Clarence 4/16/1988 7/22/1918 9/6/1919
Boldt Oscar J. 2/8/1970 7/22/1918 12/13/1918
Bomier Raymond W. 8/5/1970 8/26/1942 3/20/1943
Bongers Roy E 1/11/1993 7/2/1943 3/13/1946
Bowlby Claude 12/24/1997 9/30/1943 11/8/1945
Bosser Richard 7/2/1965 7/8/1918 2/3/1919
Bosser Alfred C. 12/29/1965 8/17/1917 8/12/1919
Boye Charles 9/24/1920 08/21/1862 11/28/1864
Boyer Cheney K 2/11/1943 5/13/1917 10/31/1919
Brackey Leslie C. 12/7/1991 7/3/1942 2/17/1946
Strutz Donald 8/13/2016
Braeger George W. 4/23/1993 2/26/1946 6/25/1949
Braeger Herman V 10/29/1966
Braeger Clarence A. 6/30/1963 9/18/1917 7/26/1919
Brainerd Carlos M 5/7/1926
Brauer Harold W. 4/26/1968 10/18/1940 2/25/1944
Breitzman Marvin E. 11/23/1972 10/28/1942 6/28/1945
Brady Henry 1/31/1908 08/15/1863 07/03/1865
Brew David L. 12/12/2003
Brewer Frank Marshall 10/30/1977 2/18/1942 4/20/1946
Briggs Lewis A. 5/23/1923 12/16/1861 07/14/1865
Brinkman Walter N. 11/24/1951 11/27/1917 6/10/1919
Brockman Arthur J 3/2/1964 7/22/1918 12/13/1918
Brockman Fred P 10/24/1951
Brokaw Norman E 7/26/1999
Brooks Frederick E Jr. 9/9/1985 6/10/1943 3/13/1946
Brueggemann Max G 5/5/1925 12/14/1917 8/7/1920
Buchanan James P 6/11/1964 5/22/1942 4/2/1964
Buchanan Merlin G. 5/3/1999 3/16/1944 3/6/1945
Nass Edward Wm. Jr. 10/4/1981 10/19/1965 10/19/1967
Bucholtz Garnet L. 3/17/1976 8/27/1941 11/23/1945
Buckland Comfort Starr 1/10/1924
Nass Harry W 8/19/1980 8/28/1942 5/26/1945
Nee Donald J. Vet. 12/7/1964 4/25/1942 9/22/1945
Buesing Ralph A 7/7/2018
Busch Benjamin 12/16/1992 2/20/1960 6/27/1960
Buske Max Charles 7/15/1968 5/1/1918 6/23/1919



Burroughs Robert J 4/15/1983 7/25/1939 8/23/1945
Calnin Michael H 11/7/1975 10/30/1951 10/13/1953
Buxton Warren O. 5/17/1959 6/24/1943 1/1/1944
Carlson Clarence D. 8/24/2004 4/3/1942 10/12/1945
Carnes Robert M. 4/10/1995
Carter John A. 3/7/1971
Cavert Kenneth G. 9/6/1993
Chadek Edward 4/20/1979 1/18/1944 5/23/1946
Chamberlain Charles W. 4/4/1948 12/13/1913 10/30/1919
Chavez Joseph J. 10/3/1979
Chern Michael 5/5/1981 7/3/1943 3/23/1946
Christen Marjorie L 12/4/1991 2/23/1944 1/5/1946
Christen Wilbert F. 9/15/1995 5/27/1942 3/4/1946
Christensen Robert A. 1/3/1969
Christianson Lewis M. 7/4/2004
Clark Charles Lewis 9/9/1944 04/28/1898 11/09/1898
Cleveland Theodore D 8/11/1990 7/5/1946 11/6/1947
Cleveland Jay 6/12/1961 4/10/1917 5/16/1919
Conard Ralph J. 6/30/1998 8/6/1941 10/8/1945
Coulthard Homer William 2/28/1976 11/8/1942 11/25/1945
Court John R. 10/22/1966 7/3/1917 5/18/1919
Craig Clinton Arthur 4/28/1998 6/13/1940 6/21/1945
Cronmiller Bruce 11/11/1996 12/11/1942 12/3/1945
Crowe Clarence 3/1/1986 3/18/1941 6/28/1945
Bierman Gerald C. 7/5/2018
Cutshall Hudson W. 1/12/2001 1/31/1955 9/17/1958
Czechowicz Dennis S. 7/19/2005 4/19/1971 4/18/1973
Dame George C. 3/9/1976 7/16/1918 2/18/1919
Damon Richard O. 12/17/1995 1/7/1943 1/6/1956
Daniels Daniel Melvin Sr 9/13/1983 1/23/1948 1/22/1952
Neiderhauser Les 10/4/1997 6/29/1951 3/28/1953
Davis Allen E. 11/14/1930 03/01/1865 08/29/1865
Davis Donald W. 8/10/1981
De Janes Robert Floyd 2/20/1985 6/4/1942 1/6/1946
De Noble Lloyd A. 9/16/1996 2/10/1943 2/23/1946
Deckers Adrian J. 3/22/1988
Neidhold Carl D 1/15/1973 7/30/1944 8/8/1949
Dennis Philip Leo 7/10/2003 2/2/1961 1/26/1965
DeShaney James L. 12/4/1995
Dietrich Herbert G. 1/8/1980
Dilley Darrell G. 10/1/2000 2/25/1955 12/9/1963
Nelis James H. Sr. 7/26/2004 1/28/1957 1/27/1959
Dittmer Cedric K 1/11/1979 10/16/1918 12/14/1918
Dix Harold E 12/10/1994



Doerfler Joseph H. 10/21/1996 1/5/1943 11/2/1945
Doerfler Reno S. 9/11/1996 9/30/1918 12/20/1918
Doerfler Harold A 5/31/1981 1/4/1943 5/21/1943
Dowe John H. 2/23/1991
Downer Arthur B. 4/7/1998
Dreier Clarence L. 11/8/1977 2/22/1945 12/14/1946
Neller Robert J. 8/9/1989 8/13/1943 11/29/1945
Besch Donald 8/31/2015
Dutcher John W. 7/6/1993 10/14/1943 9/27/1945
Ecker Robert F 2/24/2002
Eggleston Raymond L. 7/18/1955 05/16/1898 11/26/1898
Elias Ewald J 6/4/1984 9/4/1918 1/8/1919
Ellenbecker Raymond A. 12/9/1993 2/13/1951 2/12/1954
Ellis Allen Lt Col B 8/17/1943 7/15/1917 6/1/1919
Ellmaker William G. 3/15/1963 4/21/1917 4/17/1919
Elmer Wayne F. 5/30/2004 4/25/1960 5/24/1962
Elsner Sr. Willis W. 10/28/1977
Emrich Roger C. 12/28/1995 10/25/1943 10/29/1945
Endter Richard P. 6/3/1973 9/19/1961 9/5/1964
Engel Albert F 10/23/1991 7/20/1943 10/15/1945
Engelland Arthur H 3/26/2004 1/18/1944 2/12/1946
Engler Carl H. 3/21/1972 6/6/1942 11/29/1945
Essler Edward W. 1/19/1962 6/25/1943 10/26/1945
Falk Stanley W. 9/2/1996 1/19/1940 9/24/1945
Farwell Francis Ross 9/10/1940
Kiser Kenneth 9/9/2006
Feavel Harvey 10/2/1918 5/25/1918 10/2/1918
Fellion John B. 8/1/1924 08/14/1862 12/16/1862
Fellows Walter W. 10/3/1966 6/11/1917 4/14/1919
Felzer Theodore W 8/26/1968 7/18/1918 1/23/1919
Fenner Donald B. 9/18/1994 5/22/1944 4/6/1946
Ferron Willard P. 3/26/2003 7/8/1943 2/13/1946
Filen Howard L 8/28/1978 4/13/1945 12/13/1945
Fox William T. 1/3/1927
Fox H.D. 2/7/1920 05/18/1861 09/22/1862
Frank Theodore 9/18/1977 6/15/1918 6/23/1919
Franke Douglas G. 7/6/1977 1/22/1970 9/27/2006
Fraser Earle J 12/2/1968 4/2/1917 4/19/1919
Frederick Wilbert J. 5/30/1998 12/28/1942 12/20/1945
Frese John W 7/23/1969 5/25/1918 2/19/1919
Galpin Alfred 5/19/1924
Galpin Harold 4/24/1907 08/15/1862 06/08/1865
Galpin Algernon Syndey 10/1/1932 09/16/1861
Ganzen Paul 12/2/1942 04/28/1898 11/09/1898



Ganzen Charles H. 6/28/1953 04/28/1898 11/09/1898
Gartmann Ervin William 4/1/1968 5/16/1967 3/27/1968
Gasper Merton A. 9/22/2003 11/18/1942 3/22/1944
Gass Orville E 1/10/2001 5/27/1949 11/10/1952
Gast Daniel F. 2/14/1995 3/24/1971 4/23/1974
Gatz Emil F 2/19/1958 9/18/1917 5/26/1919
Gensler Melvin H. 6/21/1980 4/25/1942 11/11/1945
Gerdin Oscar 5/6/1939 10/15/1917 5/19/1919
Gillett Irving E. 11/29/1937 06/30/1898 02/28/1899
Gitter Richard E. 3/7/2001 9/19/1967 8/15/1971
Giuliana Joseph Chas. 3/27/2000 9/11/1947 9/10/1951
Giuliani Joseph Isidore 9/14/1975
Glaser Dwain R. 12/16/2003 4/15/1944 11/10/1945
Glander Otto C . Sr. 10/27/1964 5/25/1918 2/9/1919
Glass Henry J. 3/30/1962 6/28/1918 1/31/1919
Glass Emil 3/5/1955 3/20/1916 8/15/1917
Gleisner Henry G. 4/8/1978 10/26/1942 1/10/1945
Goldbeck Charles Bruno 3/19/1978 4/1/1918 6/13/1919
Gonnering Sylvester L 9/26/1995 10/15/1961 8/10/1962
Gooding Charles L 4/17/1996 11/9/1942 11/7/1945
Goodrich Bertrand F 3/8/1931 04/26/1898 11/21/1898
Gordon David O 3/19/1958 6/27/1942 1/6/1945
Gostas Spyro 10/7/1982 10/9/1942 12/21/1942
Gosz Clarence 3/23/2003 11/10/1941 11/10/1945
Gottschalk Lida Mae 7/31/1971 4/27/1967 11/11/1970
Graef Lothar G 9/22/1957 6/16/1916 5/22/1919
Graef Aldor Edward 4/28/1949
Grearson Filmore 11/9/1988 8/13/1943 9/23/1945
Greenman Edwin Gardener 2/4/1993 5/15/1943 2/15/1946
Gregory Eleanor E 4/4/2003
Gregory Loranzo T 12/17/1983 6/13/1941 6/30/1961
Greunke Emmery A 6/22/1954 8/1/1919
Griem Jon 11/23/1972
Grishaber Carleton G 3/5/1995 2/18/1942 11/25/1946
Grobe Laurence D 7/8/1995 9/28/1944 7/27/1946
Grobe Lewis E 1/10/1978 4/29/1918 6/3/1919
Groth Gerald K 9/11/1995 6/24/1955 6/23/1957
Gruentzel Bette R 7/14/1979 4/5/1943 5/25/1943
Grunst Otto 6/18/1956 4/29/1918 7/14/1919
Guenther Charles Otto 2/23/1970 10/2/1917 4/14/1919
Gurnee David C 7/20/1972 6/13/1945 12/1/1945
Gutche Melvin E. 5/9/2001
Gutowski Alexander 12/5/1927 7/3/1917 8/14/1919
Maves Robert 5/11/2002 11/13/1942 10/9/1945



Hackworthy Herbert F 4/16/1961 12/12/1917 6/18/1919
Haferbecker Howard 11/27/2005 2/15/1949 4/30/1966
Halfmann Phil B 8/21/1980 3/29/1918 6/9/1919
Hammer James O 5/15/1944 9/1/1943 5/15/1944
Hancock Edward W 12/14/1957 5/10/1915 8/13/1917
Hanselman Norman Wm 3/2/1989 10/14/1942 2/9/1946
Hansen John I. 1/26/1944 7/22/1918 2/6/1919
Hardacker Floyd A 9/12/1974 6/15/1918 12/13/1919
Harris Richard 6/10/1989 5/26/1942 10/20/1945
Hartmanstorfer Frank 11/25/1982 10/27/1942 12/20/1945
Hartzheim Emery Walter 10/14/1985 4/25/1942 2/6/1946
Hauert Edwin J 7/15/1966
Haufschildt Leroy 12/1/2003 1/11/1943 1/10/1946
Haugen Karl M 8/13/1958 11/19/1917 7/17/1918
Hausher Gordon E 10/24/1983 12/2/1942 1/10/1946
Heiss William B 7/30/1918 5/19/1915 7/30/1918
Hendricks Robert. J 10/13/1999 6/16/1943 1/18/1946
Henk Ray Sr 3/21/1966 5/9/1917 5/24/1919
Herrmann Robert K 9/21/1975 1/22/1942 6/12/1945
Herzfeldt Clarence L 7/16/1972 5/29/1943 3/3/1947
Herzog Charles V 2/28/1966 9/11/1942 2/14/1946
Hess Reuben J 1/8/1971
Miller Harold W 12/26/1987 8/5/1917 6/17/1919
Hinnenthal Hugo H 1/25/1981 9/7/1917 2/19/1919
Hoeppner Paul 3/9/1979 5/25/1918 5/30/1919
Hoerning Bernard 11/3/1971 7/22/1918 12/13/1918
Hoffmann Louis A 4/7/1926 8/13/1918 12/10/1918
Hoffman Frank J. 6/22/1937 03/01/1897
Hogenson John Robert 11/3/2004 7/16/1952 7/15/1956
Holbrook Ronald L 11/18/1995 7/3/1961 7/1/1964
Holtz Lyle 6/16/1988 2/15/1944 5/29/1946
Holzer Leslie F 11/1/1950 9/7/1917 6/6/1919
Honick Peter J 7/19/1961 7/18/1918 1/8/1919
Hopfensperger Clarence 9/21/1964 9/17/1943 12/17/1945
Hopkins Charles W 2/14/1910 08/08/1864 07/17/1865
Hoppe Otto H 12/12/1968 7/8/1918 9/16/1919
Horn Arthur H 11/6/1957 7/22/1918 2/6/1919
Horn Glenn Joseph 12/26/1999 1/11/1951 10/7/1959
Hrudka Ladimier M 6/11/1959 5/24/1918 7/31/1918
Hulbert Clyde Ira 9/14/2001 9/16/1947 9/9/1949
Hussner Helm C 2/22/1972 7/6/1918 1/8/1919
Huth Elton C. 7/3/2000 2/25/1953 2/18/1955
Immel Herbert H 5/19/1974 10/10/1942 3/16/1943
Ince Frank 8/23/2002 9/7/1950 9/30/1966



Jahnke Wm. Edward 10/19/1982 2/24/1942 9/7/1945
Janda Rudolph 10/23/2004
Jansen Edward C. 1/13/2001 1/4/1943 3/4/1946
Jensen Arthur Robert 6/4/2001 5/15/1947 5/15/1947
Jewell Thomas E. 11/13/1978 8/23/1976 9/13/1976
Johnson Melvin K 7/8/1987 12/19/1944 10/29/1946
Johnson Yngve A 11/8/1980 10/18/1940 1/22/1946
Johnson Thorston Oscar 9/23/1982 4/11/1924 4/27/1928
Johnson Bentley M. 11/19/1962 5/14/1918 9/30/1921
Johnson George E 6/16/1972 7/25/1918 12/20/1918
Jorgenson Harvey 8/17/1988 9/15/1942 10/7/1946
Jorstad Sr. Douglas Lee 3/27/1980 6/11/1968 6/4/1970
Hoffman Archabald 9/7/2015
Judge Basil T. Sr. 3/4/2000 9/30/1946 7/21/1949
Jury Emerson E. Rev. 6/10/1995
Kahler Harvey I. 4/20/2001
Kahler Charles F. 4/4/1972 11/25/1942 3/29/1943
Kampo Alex F 3/19/1998 10/15/1940 7/13/1945
Kanouse Abijah Wood 5/31/1928 08/24/1864 07/01/1865
Kasten Herman B. 11/1/1933 5/15/1918 9/30/1921
Kerschl Freidrich 9/15/1987
Kessler Robert B. 4/20/1944 12/1/1942 4/20/1944
Kiar Robert T. 9/23/2002 6/7/1942 9/18/1945
Kirsch Nicholaus 4/24/1925 09/17/1861 12/03/1864
Klahorst Henry H. 5/31/1969 6/14/1918 1/13/1919
Klitzke William Carl 3/4/1931 4/25/1918 5/31/1919
Klopstein Orville C. 9/17/1992 9/25/1941 10/26/1941
Klundt Henry 9/12/1983 3/29/1918 1/25/1919
Knuth Elmer C 2/26/1990 3/20/1942 10/19/1945
Knuth Fred Charles 3/3/1957 7/22/1918 12/11/1918
Koerner Edward C. 12/6/1993
Koester Walter Henry 2/18/1952
McGinnis Edward J. 1/1/1956 6/12/1918 9/30/1921
Konrad Dean P 5/7/2003 10/22/1952 6/30/1953
Kopenhefer Ralph Bradford 12/2/1952 10/14/1898 03/23/1899
Korte Fred William 6/2/1934 9/18/1917 5/26/1919
Kosbab Richard 2/2/1929 10/24/1918 11/2/1918
Kranzusch James Henry 9/24/1986 11/12/1944 12/21/1946
Kranzusch Arthur C 1/24/1942 9/4/1918 12/18/1918
Krasinski Roman Z. 4/6/1979 3/5/1941 11/21/1944
Krause Rudolph 5/26/1993
Kronberg Douglas R 5/4/1995
Krueger Harold P. 4/13/1995 11/16/1951 11/1/1955
Kruschke Walter F. 11/16/1954



Kruse George T. 5/6/1942 8/26/1918 3/21/1919
Krynock Robert C. Sr. 8/22/2000 7/29/1948 10/15/1948
Kuehmsted Arthur O 2/8/1948 8/29/1918 12/11/1918
Kuether Frank 2/18/1957 7/23/1918 5/9/1919
Kugel James M. 1/13/2002 6/4/1945 8/19/1946
Kunstman Frank C. 11/29/1965 2/13/1918 6/21/1919
Laabs Mahlon W. 10/11/1999 10/31/1941 9/3/1945
Laabs Harry 3/10/1978 2/18/1918 4/24/1919
LaBerge Roger G. 1/11/1984 10/14/1943 10/22/1945
Lahn Harold C. 7/15/1965 8/6/1960 2/5/1961
Lamers Dennis D. 7/24/1994 6/24/1970 1/23/1972
Landry Thomas W. 6/12/1956 2/6/1943 11/10/1944
Larsen Niels C. 10/20/1993 3/21/1941 11/8/1945
Lashway Henry C 11/22/1993 9/1/1942 1/5/1946
Lastofka Louis J. 3/4/1971 1/5/1951 12/7/1954
Leman Craig A 3/31/1987 12/9/1913 7/7/1919
LeMieux Henri J. 7/14/1979
Leppla Harold M 9/26/1960 10/21/1918 12/18/1918
Liesch Anton 5/7/1970 5/1/1918 1/3/1919
Lillge Roy 7/9/1954 5/1/1918 6/30/1919
Lillge Henry 10/18/1940 7/8/1918 2/3/1919
Lillge Edwin J. 4/5/1925 9/18/1917 2/27/1920
Limpert John A. 3/21/1944 1/28/1954 1/27/1956
Limpert George J. 7/16/1957 8/30/1918 12/24/1918
Lust William E. 6/15/1990
Luttman Arthur H 12/8/1956 12/5/1942 11/14/1944
VanHandel Raymond 2/18/1967 10/27/1942 12/6/1945
Maahs Charles John 8/27/1986 6/8/1918 9/3/1919
Macklin Wilmot F 3/12/1998
Mahloch Christopher JOHN 8/11/1990
Mahloch Ronald J. 9/9/1993 4/19/1976 9/26/1991
Mann Marie M. 1/6/2003
VanHandel Anthony J. 6/24/1991 10/26/1948 10/20/1949
VanHandel Cornelius J. 9/12/1964 7/14/1945 12/11/1945
VanHandel Edward H. 10/25/1976 1/1/1942 12/8/1945
Van Heuklon James 8/11/1938
Mayer Larry Norman 8/9/1982 10/15/1961 8/10/1962
Mayer Otto J. 6/2/1963 5/3/1918 7/10/1919
McConagha William A. 12/21/1983 5/13/1918 8/13/1919
McCoy Donald 4/29/1968 7/8/1942 2/6/1945
McDonald William James 12/25/1983
McFarland Walter W 1/8/1944
McGinty James T. 5/12/1971 4/25/1942 9/7/1945
McGregor Roy C. 10/27/1962



McGuire Leland 11/17/1987 6/25/1943 8/28/1945
McHugh Francis J. 7/26/1987 9/10/1945 4/29/1947
McPheeters William E 1/14/1962 8/5/1919
Mead Leonard William 11/3/1941 4/12/1917 8/19/1919
Meagher William D. 6/17/2002
Meidam Stephen 7/15/1937
Meidam Miles R. 12/28/1997 3/30/1943 6/10/1943
Meidam Adrian W 3/30/1984 12/17/1943 10/23/1945
Melchert Donald 7/23/1974 2/2/1943 1/22/1946
Merollo Daniel J 5/27/1974 5/4/1943 11/12/1945
Merollo Daniel J 4/1/1981 5/8/1918 9/30/1920
Mielke Joseph 2/9/1994 12/1/1952 11/30/1956
Mielke Albert 9/28/1960 9/18/1918 9/26/1918
Miles Samuel W. 6/4/1973 7/15/1942 1/1/1946
Miller John P. 1/3/1973 5/29/1944 10/12/1945
Miller Clarence F. 2/1/1976 10/15/1942 1/17/1946
Miller George 2/6/1924 11/19/1862 09/08/1863
Miotke George Charles 11/14/1999 7/5/1943 12/22/1945
Missling Ralph J. 1/16/2000 2/24/1943 12/1/1945
Mitchell Robert Sanford 7/20/1966
Mitchell John H. 4/15/1985 7/25/1918 7/18/1919
Morgan William J. 7/13/1997 10/8/1940 11/12/1946
Morris John P. 6/3/2002 9/12/1945 2/6/1946
Morse Ernest B. 8/1/1936 6/10/1918 6/27/1919
Mory George Horan 8/18/1948 7/5/1918 4/11/1919
VanLinn Edward J. 1/25/2005 9/19/1946 2/7/1948
Motiska Michael 11/20/1966 6/6/1941 12/1/1945
VanLinn David James 12/27/1980 1/23/1976 1/22/1979
Mueller Donald W. 11/16/1963 9/10/1941 10/28/1945
Muench Raymond J 11/24/1981 11/16/1919 11/16/1920
Murphy Daniel 9/7/1950
Murray Gordon James 11/22/2000 6/21/1971 6/20/1975
VanLoo Clarence 8/29/1979
VanPatten Cornelius J. 5/12/1987
VanRooy Thomas 5/14/1997 3/11/1959 2/24/1961
Nabbefeld Arthur John 10/21/1997 5/2/1946 3/8/1948
Nelson Archie 6/5/1919 5/17/1918
Never Lee G. 7/4/1997 9/27/1956 10/2/1958
Nichols Clarence A 2/16/1935 11/11/1918
Nicholson Harry A 10/20/1970 1/25/1943 6/15/1943
Nickasch Ruben 12/31/1946 5/30/1918 9/30/1921
Noffke Sherman C. 4/2/1975 2/22/1944 5/3/1966
Nohr Louis F. 8/25/1937 10/19/1918 12/18/1918
Norenberg Carl 7/15/1918 8/6/1917 7/15/1918



Norman Lawrence T. 8/6/2003 6/27/1941 6/26/1946
Notaras John George 11/5/1979 5/2/1945 7/6/1946
Noyes Russell L. Jr. 1/6/2003
O'Bright George R. 9/14/1992 1/20/1951 1/19/1953
Oenes Erwin Julian 3/7/1992
Olfson Walter Irvine 11/8/1948 12/15/1917 1/27/1919
Olson Robert G 6/10/1977 4/7/1917 5/18/1919
Orbison Thomas E 10/4/1963 6/13/1919
Orbison Mary 9/10/1980 10/13/1918 1/16/1920
Orbison Frank Harwood 4/7/1980 7/31/1942 5/3/1947
Page William G. 10/26/1978 10/15/1940 1/13/1946
Palmbach Clemens 5/6/1992
Pardee Charles A. Dr. 4/22/1955
Parkinson George 5/11/1960 4/15/1917 3/27/1919
Pauls Roy 12/14/1938 7/8/1918 1/16/1919
Pearson Charles M. 2/23/1963 10/1/1917 9/4/1919
Peot Marjorie J. 7/14/2003 1/10/1944 12/3/1945
Peotter Walter G 4/1/1970 5/1/1918 7/3/1919
Peotter George E. 9/20/1972 1/30/1918 6/21/1919
Peske Fred C. 1/24/1967 5/28/1918 8/27/1919
Peterman Steve 5/11/1991 7/19/1979 7/17/1984
Peterson Ralph 6/21/1999 8/21/1940 5/31/1944
Peterson Russell 3/20/1989 6/30/1943 3/29/1946
Peterson Talbot 10/4/1979 8/30/1943 5/8/1946
Pfeffer Joseph 3/15/1949 5/25/1918 6/1/1919
Pickering Clyde "Ben" 10/28/1965 5/4/1918 1/11/1919
Pierce Kenneth W. 12/10/2000 9/28/1942 11/23/1946
Pierce Allan A 11/29/1997 1/10/1962 12/13/1963
Pierre John A. 10/10/1969 7/23/1917 1/17/1919
Pingel Alfred W 11/2/1987 7/3/1917 3/27/1919
Plamann Melvin E. 1/9/1983 3/26/1942 11/5/1945
Playman Harold L 6/15/1971 9/25/1918 12/1/1918
Pollo John Jr. 10/23/1980 7/19/1916 6/27/1919
Polzin George W. Dr. 9/27/1974 10/4/1918 12/18/1918
Pomeroy Ralph 1/4/1921 04/28/1898 11/09/1898
Pond Charles Sr. 8/29/1971 5/6/1957 2/24/1959
Popp Elmer C. 10/8/1920
Portmann Joseph J 12/30/1996 1/27/1941 12/22/1945
Potter Ralph Oram 5/17/1927 11/22/1917 7/24/1919
Priest William Henry 9/30/1930 08/07/1862 02/27/1863
Prindle Kenneth G. 12/4/1986 7/15/1941 6/28/1943
Probst Jason 12/12/1989 7/11/1984 2/17/1988
Puffer Waldo J. 2/9/1960 1/26/1943 1/7/1946
Purath Frederick 4/12/1904 01/31/1865 09/04/1865



Radick Michael 12/15/1957 4/23/1918 1/8/1919
Radtke Paul A. 9/10/1998 11/15/1943 4/29/1946
Ramminger Herbert 6/12/1974 6/21/1942 10/20/1945
Rechner John J 6/28/1984 12/3/1943 12/30/1945
Rawlinson George R. 3/1/1958 9/3/1918 1/24/1919
Reetz Louis F. 4/11/1932 7/26/1918 2/7/1919
Reetz William Albert 6/7/1988 4/25/1917 6/1/1919
Reffke Erwin Carl 12/14/1982 11/25/1942 8/27/1943
Rehfeldt Rudolph 12/3/1947 4/25/1918 6/1/1919
Reinke Harold E 12/14/1980 8/10/1942 1/21/1946
Reinke Herman G. 7/4/1997
Reinke Harry F. 10/23/1971
Reitz Herbert 8/30/1998
Relien Gilbert J. 6/25/1990 5/28/1944 4/22/1946
Renner George A. 8/27/1930 5/25/1918 3/24/1919
Reuss Clarence W 4/11/1957 11/1/1939 1/30/1942
Reuss James E. 2/6/1998 12/9/1942 2/14/1946
Reynolds Laurence W. 9/3/1999 2/15/1943 12/5/1945
Riesenweber Charles 5/18/1924 03/03/1864 08/29/1865
Ritger Arthur 1/14/1951 10/29/1918 12/5/1918
Roberts John David 5/20/2001
Rogers Richard Earl 12/29/1997 1/6/1951 1/6/1954
Rogers Holbrook, (Bud) 6/9/1992 1/7/1942 9/7/1945
Rohm Elmer R. 8/13/1966 5/10/1915 12/4/1919
Roll George A. 4/29/1978 4/30/1917 5/19/1919
Ronk Robert C. 3/9/1990
Roth Walter E. 1/30/1996 8/12/1941 9/23/1944
Roth Ralph G. 3/31/1971 6/11/1942 11/5/1945
Roth Donald L. 3/16/1986
Rothe Eugene G. G 2/18/1998 9/8/1943 3/19/1946
Rupiper Donald J. 7/13/2002 3/15/1950 10/9/1953
Ruth William L. 12/25/2004 6/2/1964 5/14/1968
Sager William F. 11/29/1964 1/10/1918 7/16/1919
Sager Robert K. 7/26/1963 2/7/1940 9/13/1945
Sager Eugene R. 4/30/1969 12/14/1942 9/20/1945
Saiberlich Raymond A. 6/21/1988 10/15/1918 12/12/1918
Saiberlich Henry A. 10/25/1958 7/24/1943 3/22/1946
Salentine Carl M 12/16/1994 10/16/1942 3/17/1954
Sauer Tim A. 6/13/1972 5/2/1918 6/26/1919
Sanders Henry V 5/5/1955 9/17/1917 8/13/1919
Schabo Elmer C 6/15/1980 8/26/1918 1/7/1919
Schwendler Carl G 9/5/2018
Scheil Clarence 7/28/1972 10/2/1917 2/22/1919
Schmidli Emil H. H. Jr. 6/18/2005 6/13/1942 2/5/1946



Schmidt Franklin F 6/28/1996
Schmitz Richard R. 3/10/2000 7/1/1944 6/30/1947
Schmitz John E. 10/19/1971 5/25/1918 6/29/1919
Schneider Thomas H. 5/17/1953 7/11/1945 1/20/1947
Schoepke Gerald 1/8/1987 1/20/1958 12/21/1959
Morris Marion 5/12/2013
Schroeder Orville H enry 11/11/1933 07/14/1818 5/14/1919
Schroeder Milton G. 4/27/1962 1/6/1943 12/27/1945
Schroeder Carl J. 12/9/1969 2/5/1918 1/30/1919
Schroeder Carl A. 1/14/1981 8/26/1942 2/12/1945
Schroeder Brian Howard 10/2/1985
Schroeder George O 5/20/1957 7/18/1918 5/16/1919
Schucknecht Walter H. 6/30/1931 7/18/1918 3/28/1919
Voigt Raymond B 12/14/1971 3/29/1918 4/17/1919
Schultz Albert F 1/15/1960 06/15/1898
Schulz Joseph H. 2/28/1965 5/25/1918 4/3/1919
Schulz Harold F 5/14/1954 9/30/1918 12/20/1918
Schulze Willard R. 12/3/2002 5/14/1945 8/15/1945
Schwandt Gustave C 6/7/1936 04/28/1898 11/10/1898
Rice Otis 12/17/2015 11/13/1942 1/11/1946
Schwingle Eugene 9/10/1992 9/29/1953 9/13/1956
Semler Richard A 8/30/1959 9/28/1917 4/23/1919
Sengstock Victor M 8/8/1997 4/19/1943 12/7/1944
Selig Edward F. 11/30/1951 7/18/1918 2/7/1919
Schutte Frederick 12/16/2015
Sherman Irvin C. 12/16/1973 5/31/1917 7/15/1919
Sherry Carl A 9/24/1997 2/27/1918 2/4/1919
Shimek Benjamin Charles 3/7/1983 6/28/1918 6/23/1919
Sindahl Armond C 7/13/1995 12/28/1943 6/8/1944
Slattery Kenneth Lt. T 6/18/1944 11/10/1944 6/17/1977
Smith Leslie C. 9/11/1976 6/14/1918 6/12/1919
Smith Lloyd W. 3/22/1968 7/30/1917 8/31/1920
Smith Paul 9/6/1999 5/26/1944 9/13/1944
Smith Corwin L. 1/21/1995 7/27/1949 11/25/1952
Smith Carl W. 11/27/2000 3/24/1943 5/8/1945
Smith Fredrick 2/23/1998 8/10/1948 8/15/1952
Smith Douglas D. 10/23/1989 7/31/1972 7/30/1976
Vaughn Russell A. 7/11/2002 4/5/1941 4/5/1946
Sonnleitner Joseph John 11/20/1996 1/5/1943 12/4/1945
Sorenson LeRoy J. 2/15/1988 4/11/1951 4/1/1953
Speel Francis L. 3/26/2005
Spencer Lyle 8/21/1968 1/14/1943 12/11/1945
Spencer Frank S 4/24/1921
Stadler Marvin W. 4/27/2003 12/10/1958 3/6/1962



Stake Sylvester V. 1/14/1991 9/24/1940 7/1/1945
Stammer William 8/15/1924 08/14/1862 07/05/1865
Stammer Sheldon 2/17/1953 9/18/1917 8/6/1919
Johnson Stanley 12/9/2015
Stammer Clarence 10/10/1923 7/22/1918 2/20/1919
Standiford Justin H. 2/1/2000 10/2/1946 4/1/1948
Stark Ernest 11/22/1973 7/26/1918 12/11/1918
Steenis Wilbur H 12/7/1974 1/23/1945 2/18/1946
Hameister William C 2/25/2006
Steinert William F 7/14/1932 04/21/1862 03/10/1863
Steinert George H 3/9/1956 2/20/1918 6/21/1919
Stelzer George 7/15/2001 1/6/1954 12/24/1955
Sternagel Otto P 10/20/1977 9/18/1917 7/2/1919
Steward James G 9/18/1995
Stillman Richard Lester 5/9/1984 9/14/1951 10/31/1951
Stillman Ellicott 1/12/1985 5/29/1918 12/24/1918
Storch Carl August 8/16/1950 2/14/1908
Storm William 5/30/1921 4/25/1918 3/11/1919
Streck Viola M 1/27/1996 11/7/1943 11/2/1945
Strobl Howard G 3/18/1979 2/25/1953 2/15/1955
Kielgas Allan E 5/7/2013
Strover Glendale James 3/16/1989 1/18/1945 1/21/1945
Wick Raymond M. 12/24/2015
Swamer Bernard 3/14/1972 6/13/1942 3/21/1946
Swamp George N 7/7/1968 9/26/1942 8/1/1945
Swanson Robert L. 8/15/2002 11/26/1957 11/16/1961
Swiekatowski John A. 8/7/1990 7/7/1955 12/15/1967
Thalke Charles W 11/20/1948 8/2/1917 7/16/1920
Thiel Robert L 9/5/1988 6/10/1943 10/31/1962
Thompson Merrel W 3/28/1920 9/18/1917 8/4/1919
Thompson Charles M. 1/17/1959 11/12/1917 3/8/1919
Voeltz Wayland R 8/19/1975
Tierney Gerald E. 2/1/1971 2/15/1955 9/10/1958
Timmel Alfred R. 2/11/1988 1/23/1946 9/20/1947
Voge John F. 8/2/1957 7/15/1917 6/6/1919
Tobin James Lee 3/8/1995 6/5/1969 7/29/1973
Tock Raymond Otto 4/19/1985 12/18/1943 10/30/1945
Totzke Elmer F 5/6/1987
Tornow Raymond W 9/28/1987
Voigt Martin W. 7/29/1960 8/14/1918 1/11/1919
Uebel Moritz E. 11/1/1951 04/28/1898 11/14/1898
VanBuskirk William L 5/30/1970 12/9/1942 6/18/1946
Kuschel Omar H 9/10/2015
Reynebeau Richard P 1/30/2016



Verity William Corp 01/27/1899 09/03/1864 06/20/1865
Reinke Rob John 10/7/2015
Landmann Ted 10/21/2015
Wolff Lyle E 9/8/2015
Verstegen Michael H. 6/10/1931 9/18/1917 4/17/1919
Verwey George 2/15/1971 7/3/1917 5/16/1919
Thao Yeng Pao 2/25/2016
Schmelzer Eugene R. 3/14/2016
Volpe Geno 12/25/1991 7/24/1952 7/17/1954
McCrory Robert G. 3/21/2016
Vaughan James J. 3/24/2016
von Allmen Joseph R 6/13/2013
Lee Donald L. 5/28/2013
Watkins Robert 6/27/1980 9/20/1917 6/7/1919
Kamphuis Jerome 4/13/2016
Gothe Donald Louis 5/17/1927 1/1/1950 1/1/1952
Weisshahn Clifford F 11/17/2001 5/31/1951 5/24/1955
Hidde Roland "Jack" 2/11/2010
Porlier George 1/27/2017
Weiland Gary 12/1/2013
Lindloff William K. 6/3/2017
Marcinek Robert 10/25/2017
Lemke Howard K 12/6/2017
Zuehlke Maryln 2/28/2018 10/4/1958
Lenz William C. 12/4/2017
Walter Robert 5/29/2018
Schroeder Robert D 6/4/2018
Rohan Benjamin J 5/23/1994
Sanger Herbert J. 11/30/2017
Tracanna Peter N. 5/20/2018
Wolff Glen W 5/2/2019
Meltz Ramona J 1/7/2019
Hoppe Leo Mike 6/11/2019
Felzer Theodore "Ted" C 12/25/2018
Endlich James H. 9/19/2019
Perry Norman R 8/27/2019
Vanden Boomen Arnold 12/11/2019
Svetlauskas James 2/11/2020
Waldron Jonathon G 4/6/1974 9/15/1942 10/12/1945
Wojahn Henry O 3/1/1947 7/8/1918 3/13/1919
Zilske Robert G 12/6/1954
Herrling Dennis W 6/25/1983 8/22/1954 8/21/1956
Miller Robert E 5/22/2006
Borden Keith F 5/22/2006



Doire George Victor 6/3/2006 10/27/1972 6/8/1976
Lorenz Kenneth W 7/27/1984
Parish Harold F. 5/13/1979
Crapeau Philip Gui 3/27/2006 2/10/1943 3/9/1946
Wunderlich Michael 1/4/2006
Yost Donald E 1/12/2000
Gmeiner Russell L 7/12/2006
Pasch Reinhold A 12/25/1957 5/25/1918 5/30/1919
Reetz Walter Julius 5/31/1944 6/5/1918 1/3/1919
Helm Oscar W 12/18/1947 6/15/1918 6/14/1919
Krause Arthur R. 12/12/2006
Wilmsen Fredrich B 12/26/1991
McSorley Jeffrey J. 1/22/2007 5/13/1969 5/1/1971
Neuman Albert E 1/8/1985
Nagan Robert F 2/18/2007
Timm Earl J. 8/19/1999 2/21/1941 10/3/1945
Wiegand Clara M. 6/11/2002 12/28/1942 3/31/1946
Wiegand Robert John 10/19/1988 8/10/1942 11/7/1945
Ziemer Albert A 12/28/1991
Heise Kenneth K 10/27/1950 4/28/1950
Lyman Gerald H. 2/27/2007 2/2/1950 2/2/1953
Hertel John 10/25/1931
Kuenzli Quentin D. 3/5/2007
Wenzlaff Walter H 12/4/1962 10/22/1918 12/17/1918
Koch Frank C. 7/19/1991 9/18/1917 8/12/1919
Johnston Fremont Faville 12/27/1992 9/30/1918 12/20/1918
Scheil Oscar G 10/18/1977 12/14/1917 7/15/1919
Sheridan Neil P. 5/3/2007 3/24/1951 3/25/1952
Ritchie Garrett B. 5/8/2007 12/12/1941 9/27/1945
Hoffman Willis C 8/3/1962 11/11/1918 11/11/1918
Paul William L 5/13/2007
Lesselyong Thomas W 6/30/2007
Whitcomb Robert T. 1/13/2003
Sairs George T. Sr. 7/24/1976 3/28/1942 12/11/1945
Schleis Edward L 8/5/2007
Losselyong Donald F. 8/19/2007
Brandt David L. 5/7/2007 1/18/1952 1/17/1956
Moore Ralph D. 12/4/1964 5/29/1917 5/13/1919
Hollenback Jerome N. 8/24/2007 9/4/1946 12/9/1947
Kuban Walter 1/18/1989 8/19/1942 12/28/1943
Kimball Thomas E 8/3/2004 4/9/1945 4/11/1949
Kolosso Sr. Jerome E. 4/11/2009
Schlegel Harry A 12/11/1954 5/24/1918 6/21/1919
Rehbein George R. 1/5/2008 6/5/1959 6/7/1960



Hand Norman LeRoy 8/30/2004 9/10/1954 8/30/1956
Barlow Raymond C. 2/2/2008 9/14/1961 3/30/1962
Koletzke Dean R. 3/18/2008
Wichman Kenneth E. 5/2/2008 7/15/1960 7/13/1962
Cook Jr. Lawrence S. 5/22/2008 6/23/1952 6/22/1955
Knauf Charles F. Dr. 6/3/2008
Hartel John F. 2/19/2001 10/2/1940 12/3/1945
VanderZanden Scott D. 2/26/1992 8/7/1986 5/23/1989
Fischer Donald C. 9/12/2008
Goman Helen B 10/15/2008 4/26/1943 1/14/1946
Vinci Harold 1/25/2006 3/22/1944 7/9/1946
Kamasky Edmund J. 12/10/2008 3/22/1944 7/9/1946
Brown James E. 2/10/2009 3/30/1959 3/29/1962
Vandenhoy Richard J 3/13/2009
Larsen LaVerne Roy 6/14/2009
Stricker Nicholas H. 10/22/2009 4/9/1964 10/17/1966
Brannan William 10/27/2009
Keddell Kenneth R. 11/1/2009
King Ronald L 11/23/2009
Boettcher Adelbert L. 12/2/2009
Frazier Drew C. 12/19/2009 4/2/1945 7/16/1946
Lingelbach Charles J. 2/27/2010 3/8/1942 3/3/1946
Wiegand Frank H. 2/27/2010
Hoffman Kenneth B. 3/8/2010
Roesken Juergen H. 3/11/2010
Wallis Donald C. 3/21/2010
Wilber Marion Bernard 4/20/2010
Falk Regina V. 3/25/2010 5/18/1944 2/18/1946
Claypool Blaine W. 6/20/2010
Deltour Richard M. 6/25/2010 8/13/1968 8/12/1970
Goodman Solomon 6/26/2010
Bartelt James A. 8/9/2010
Cotter James C. 9/11/2010
Reinke Richard W. 12/23/2010 1/11/1952 1/12/1954
Hardy Norbert H 5/22/2011
Zimmerman Robert 3/26/2011
Clark Dean E. 5/3/2001 9/12/1960 9/11/1962
Langdon Duane C. 8/2/2011
Duvernay Ronald W. 10/13/2011
Baumler John L. 10/8/2011 6/27/1946 5/4/1948
Manske Clifford R 10/25/2011
Warren Dwight D 12/4/2011
Martell Michael 12/3/2011 5/28/1986
Balch Robert 10/13/1989



Busch Edward J. 1/28/2012
Brown Gordon A. 4/13/2012
Craven Daniel H. 12/7/2009
Ruwoldt John L 6/26/2012
Bruchs Ira 7/12/2012
Goman Robert L 5/19/2012
Keane Keith M 10/13/2011
Keane Elizabeth C 4/26/2005
Peterson Eugene C 11/21/2012
Schaefer Donald 12/27/2012
Hauert Robert 3/8/2013
Retzlaff Gerald 3/20/2013
Dalke Ronald 4/22/2013
Bishop Glenn 3/10/2013
Wood Carolyn M 5/13/2013
Torres Jesus 5/21/2013
Johnson Fredrick 5/26/2013
Miller William T 6/2/2013
Herzog Bruce C 11/13/2012
Gosz Richard 6/12/2013
Loveall Thomas R. 6/7/2013
Johnson Kenneth 7/8/2013
Prink James A 7/30/2013
Braeger Marvin Frank 8/13/2013
Skeens Michael Anthony 9/2/2013
Brennecke Richard 9/4/2013
Lundt Warner O. 10/14/2013
Smith Philip 3/4/2014
Hill Charles W 10/15/2013
Burton Francis 11/26/2013
Haas Francis F 12/26/2013
Harper Glenn D 3/9/2014
Mueller Bruce E 5/10/2014 1/1/1965 1/1/1972
DeFord Joshua T. A. 6/10/2014
Hartel Margaret 12/29/2013
Scheig Henry 2/3/2014
Maynard William L 2/5/2007
Walker Gordon 8/14/2014
Klemp Clyde 6/13/2014
Managan Thomas 9/8/2014
Barry John C 9/10/2014
Hastings Fredrick 10/6/2013
Porter David L 12/17/2014
Glass Roy 9/18/1988 1/11/1952 10/10/1953



Stark James J. 12/20/2014
Hurst Harry 1/2/2015
Tralongo Salvatore 1/6/2015
Mueller Lloyd J 1/14/2015
Bunkert Ronald R 2/26/2015 1/1/1962 1/1/1965
Elgin June Muriel 3/7/2015
Skeens Lowell F 3/16/2015
Jury Donald L 3/14/2015
Miller George 11/15/2014
Errington William F 6/6/2015
Feavel Robert 6/13/2015
Ultang James 7/25/2016
Hulsey Fred 8/13/2016
Spencer Frank Sibley 9/16/2016 9/22/1942 12/15/1945
Miller James 10/28/2016
Radtke John 10/28/2016
Brueggemann Richard 11/30/2016
Jewell Clifford W 3/10/2017
Gabrielson Floyd 11/30/2016
Kunstman Richard 3/12/1998
Kottke Jack E 12/30/2016
Kowald Roger B 4/1/2017 3/1/1951 8/1/1952
Reetz Wayne 12/29/2016
Schoen William 4/14/2016
Schroeder Arthur 7/24/2017
Olson Alton Arthur 8/28/2017
Kohl Charles E 9/12/2017
Sawyers Robert 10/23/2015
Allinger Don 9/23/2017
Van Zeeland Larry 10/16/2017
Griffin Gary 4/6/2017
Koestner Robert 11/8/2017 5/29/1943 1/26/1946
DeFord Rodney R 12/1/2017
Sweetalla Delvin J. 11/21/1992 9/7/1951 6/17/1953
Nygaard Erick Dan 12/11/2017
Hansen Allen J. 12/21/2017
Conn Timmy Alan 2/13/2018
Schultz Donald O 4/4/2018
Sabater-Tirado Frank 5/16/2018 3/30/1988 2/14/2001
Burton Norman John 4/14/2018
Jorstad Jerome L. 6/13/2018
Groth Norman C. 12/4/2017 5/28/1965 12/10/1968
Sigler Samuel Y. 11/3/1995 9/20/1959 3/13/1960
Zimmerman Arnold D 12/9/2017



Latzko Robert 6/6/2018
Towner Thomas J. 8/25/2018
Gurnee Franklin S. 2/11/2005
Godschalx Maria 8/8/2018
De Bruin Mark L 9/10/2018
Remley Samuel G. 10/4/2018
Jakl Dennis A. 12/6/2018
Steiner Chester E 2/18/2019
Garvey Daniel Lee 2/26/2019
DeFord Marquito L 3/27/2019
Trams Curtis D. 1/1/2019
Parker John M. 6/26/2017
Keller Charles E 4/20/2019
Mossholder David M. 5/13/2019
Lamers Stephen E. 5/25/2019
Wood Grayson B 6/3/2019
Guyon William J. 6/11/2019
Carroll Bret C. 7/11/2019 6/20/1987 6/30/2007
Fahrenkrug Carl F. 9/15/1998
Koleske James 2/3/2020
Cook Allen 5/8/2018
Walters Erie H. 11/25/1962 5/27/1918 7/21/1919
Kuebler james 8/14/2015
Johnson Robert W. 2/16/2012
Buss Rick Thomas 1/20/2020
Abendroth Frederick C 11/11/1980 5/31/1918 12/30/1918
Anderson Cyrus 2/8/1920 5/25/1918 6/3/1919
Anderson Carl A. 8/20/1986
Appleton John W 12/19/1882 11/27/1863 04/01/1865
Arenz Donald E. 3/29/2000 11/25/1941 3/5/1943
Baer John M 1/25/1936
Baer Albert W 2/26/1990 10/15/1940 6/11/1945
Baetz Sheldon P. 4/6/1980 11/20/1917 3/13/1919
Ballard Jesse Earl 7/2/1986 7/3/1917 5/18/1919
Banker John A 2/3/1922 08/29/1864 06/27/1865
Barnard Allan L. 1/15/1999 8/4/1955 8/1/1958
Barnhart Samuel H. 3/21/1926 08/16/1864 07/03/1865
Barth Clifford W 12/23/1983 4/26/1943 4/13/1946
Bartmann John Fred. 4/15/1983 6/24/1917 7/2/1919
Bauer Clifford A. 3/19/2002
Campbell Howard 7/7/1995 2/5/1943 7/31/1945
Carlson Harold P. 7/17/2002 4/3/1942 10/12/1945
Behling Charles H 1/27/1978 5/27/1942 3/27/1943
Bellis Merlin Sr 2/15/1986 12/16/1941 9/22/1945



Benishek Carl F. 5/13/2000 7/31/1964 9/29/1965
Benjamin Louis V 4/15/1967 7/3/1917 5/10/1919
Bergan Robert L. 4/8/2003 12/7/1951 12/4/1955
Bergner Robert B. 1/8/2000 9/24/1969 5/2/1971
Berholtz John A 10/13/1984 2/15/1944 2/27/1946
Bessett Roger J 5/26/1992 11/4/1942 11/4/1948
Bessey Millard A 12/11/1948 3/30/1918 6/27/1919
Bethe Everett Wilson 9/1/1930 04/28/1898 11/11/1908
Beula Richard J 8/30/1992 5/24/1944 6/4/1946
Scheibe Harold 6/22/2015
Bilter Benjamin 3/19/1921 4/10/1917 5/18/1919
Blaese Roger C 2/20/1995 4/16/1952 4/15/1955
Bloom Donald A 11/11/1981 1/25/1945 2/22/1946
Bloomer John F. 10/25/1965 1/8/1918 4/9/1919
Boettcher Herbert A. 10/14/1953 2/20/1919
Bolton Ernest Leroy 10/17/1961 6/4/1918 12/30/1918
Bongers Robert (Bert) 4/29/1958 4/2/1918 4/24/1918
Boon Richard Henry 10/24/1959 6/28/1944 11/3/1945
Bradford Sr. Alfred S. 12/29/1973 9/18/1967 9/5/1969
Bradley Greg 7/16/1995 11/30/1993 7/16/1995
Braeger Walter 7/23/1939 4/26/1918 4/15/1919
Braeger George 10/14/1954 5/25/1918 1/21/1919
Bragg Wallace J. 1/17/1961 2/28/1942 9/23/1945
Brandt Chester F. 2/1/1988 10/29/1942 11/5/1945
Brehmer Leroy E. 4/1/1999 1/19/1943 12/30/1945
Bremer Charles B. 5/16/1995 3/29/1951 3/20/1953
Brennecke Henry H 1/9/1957 8/14/1918 6/17/1919
Brewer James W 1/21/1943
Brown Benj. F. 6/13/1925 10/23/1864 06/12/1865
Bruehl William C. 8/19/1994 5/22/1943 8/23/1945
Bucklew John J 4/1/1974 3/19/1943 11/9/1945
Budrick Robert Paul 3/12/1987 12/31/1974 12/7/1981
Budrick John K. 4/17/1993
Buesing Melvin 7/28/1989 3/10/1941 3/26/1946
Burby Donald L. 5/6/1993
Burgess Jack Ray 8/7/1987 10/25/1960 10/23/1964
Burhans Donald E. 8/20/1994 12/28/1942 1/9/1946
Burmeister Roy 5/16/1993
Buske William 3/4/1939 12/16/1896 12/23/1899
Buss George J. 6/22/2002 1/23/1951 5/3/1974
Butch Amel 12/3/1990 6/13/1944 1/30/1946
Everson Harold 1/13/1999
Faas Bob Adrian 9/22/1990 2/10/1953 2/5/1957
Fairbanks Sylvester Arista 10/26/1889 09/30/1864 07/08/1865



Feavel Leland 4/30/1971 4/23/1943 3/30/1945
Carpenter Howard F. 8/14/1945 2/20/1918 9/4/1919
Chamberlain John Hopkins 1/1/1924 08/24/1864 06/20/1865
Chandler James C. 4/3/1961 9/24/1942 11/30/1945
Clark John B. 12/27/1962
Claspill John H. Sr. 06/24/1885
Cole Frank L. 5/3/1933 08/12/1898 02/28/1899
Comella Frank P. 8/18/1986 1/14/1946 3/22/1947
Corbett Kenneth H 11/3/1964 10/14/1918 12/21/1918
Cumber Charles S 9/25/2005
Cumber Frank J 3/2/1958
Daily Tom J. 3/22/1995
Damrow Eugene Edward 10/15/1943 5/18/1942 10/15/1943
Daniels Sr. Charles D. 3/29/1952 06/06/1898 03/31/1899
Danielsen Ralph W 7/6/1989 2/23/1944 11/10/1945
Darling Joseph Willis 6/5/1983 2/17/1958 7/15/1958
Davis Thomas Pearson 8/29/1930 06/17/1899 07/08/1899
De Bruin Harold F. 3/20/1999 7/6/1945 8/17/1945
De Leest Robert F. 6/27/1993
De Shaney June E. 8/8/1999 9/26/1942 11/27/1945
DeLong Donald V. 9/30/2002 3/26/1951 3/3/1953
DeShaney Walter M. 6/3/1998 3/14/1945 10/30/1946
Dessel Joseph 10/17/1955 5/10/1917 5/30/1919
DeZemler Charles 10/27/1987 4/25/1942 11/20/1945
Dhein Neil Edward 5/11/2005 8/31/1942 10/26/1945
Dietrich John C. 5/12/1971 12/14/1898 12/14/1899
Doerfler Mathias 4/21/1930 06/15/1898 11/10/1898
Downey Howard A. Dr. 6/8/1958 1/5/1918 12/14/1918
Downey Herbert F. 3/30/2005 3/2/1943 2/4/1946
Hedberg Oscar W 12/22/1929 7/3/1917 6/1/1919
Eastman Jan 9/14/1991 3/12/1969 1/19/1973
Eggert Francis R. 10/16/2002 6/14/1945 12/11/1945
Ehlert Dennis A. 10/5/1974 10/12/1970 4/19/1972
Elm Lemuel Nelson 2/25/1989 6/13/1945 7/28/1949
Elseth Jeanette Eunice 8/8/1998 4/20/1944 2/20/1946
Glander Carl A 2/5/1969 7/8/1918 5/17/1919
Fink Robert H. 5/27/1998 2/18/1957 1/29/1960
Fiscella Ben J. 8/17/1989 9/26/1942 10/27/1945
Fredricks Marvin L. 10/27/1944 3/31/1943
Freeman Hiram Guernsey 12/3/1926 09/12/1861 05/10/1865
Friedwald George B. 3/5/2005 2/20/1942 9/5/1945
Fritz Sydney 1/26/1987
Fulcer George H. 6/19/1931 9/3/1918 12/4/1918
Gabathuler Roland L. 12/20/1990



Gass Frederick 7/13/1924 11/25/1863 10/23/1865
Gatz Max F. 4/22/1940
Gaulke Edward A. 10/28/1965
Gebheim Alfred A. 6/9/1959 6/29/1942 1/17/1945
Getsfried Leo P. 2/21/2005 12/30/1941 2/16/1945
Gibson Wm. (Bill) A 6/13/1998 10/29/1959 9/30/1960
Giebisch Herbert 8/12/1998 1/19/1942 10/12/1945
Gilbertson Gordon W 9/13/1999 1/13/1942 11/30/1945
Giles Albert Edward 6/7/1982 3/28/1944 11/7/1944
Ginnow Walter L. 4/28/1926 4/25/1918 5/20/1919
Gloff John S 3/18/1977 11/24/1942 3/9/1943
Godschalx Raymond J. 8/4/1997 1/27/1942 10/17/1945
Goehler Robert L 7/2/1990 1/31/1946 6/8/1948
Goldbeck Beck H 3/4/1992 11/18/1942 7/12/1945
Goodrich George Robert 6/30/1950
Gottschalk Donald L 7/19/1999 7/29/1964 9/19/1967
Grapengieser Earl H. 12/27/1969 6/24/1942 2/13/1943
Green John T. 4/7/2001 9/9/1942 10/14/1945
Gregory Harvey G 7/17/1986 10/27/1941 9/20/1945
Greselin Geno J 3/3/1998 7/13/1942 5/25/1945
Grobe James M 9/2/1977 1/5/1953 12/25/1954
Grogan Jerome J. 3/9/1999 9/25/1951 6/4/1953
Grootemont John M. 11/22/2002
Grube Fred 9/20/1926
Gruenstern Reinhold A 7/8/1972 4/11/1941 9/6/1945
Haase Roy Reynold 8/28/2000 7/29/1941 5/20/1945
Hageman William 7/17/1918 4/6/1918 7/17/1918
Hameister Herman E 12/19/1959 4/20/1918 12/27/1918
Hamilton Col. H. L. 9/30/1958 3/1/1941 4/30/1956
Hanchett James D 1/26/1929 07/30/1863 07/03/1865
Hancock Johnson 2/4/1931 01/28/1864 07/12/1865
Hartsworn Gerald L 1/13/1975 6/13/1941 10/19/1945
Hartwig Earl W 1/12/1982 7/13/1917 5/17/1919
Hartwig Albert C 3/14/1966 7/3/1918 12/23/1918
Hauert Alvin 9/29/1945 7/14/1917 5/18/2006
Hausher Meta A. 12/29/1950
Haworth Edgar 6/30/1931
Hecht Albert O 5/18/1951 04/28/1898 11/09/1898
Hedberg David N 7/3/1943 6/4/1917
Hehne Mildred L. 2/27/2000 11/9/1918 11/5/1920
Heinritz Jay R 12/7/1994 11/4/1948 5/28/1952
Heins John T 3/9/1955 4/24/1918 8/13/1919
Herrmann Rudolph C 7/6/1966 4/3/1917 5/13/1919
Herzberg Albert 10/2/1981 3/29/1918 5/30/1919



Hoeppner Fred Jr 7/17/1971 5/25/1918 7/22/1919
Hoffman Harry K. Sr. 9/5/2003 8/10/1948 8/12/1952
Hoh Orrin W 8/8/1962 9/16/1942 4/16/1943
Holub Sylvester G. 7/20/2002 7/20/1942 11/30/1945
Hoppe Eugene O. 3/14/1986 3/7/1946 8/1/1947
Hurd Henry Harrison 2/3/1921 02/24/1864 06/02/1865
Humphries Sr. James W 7/3/1959 10/30/1943 11/12/1945
Immel Victor H 2/10/1971 6/17/1941 10/4/1941
Ingenthron Richard J. 6/22/2003 10/25/1946 4/1/1948
Ingold Arthur J. Jr. 1/9/1922 10/7/1918 12/21/1918
Jabas Richard L 10/17/1970 6/20/1946 4/23/1948
Jesser Eugene A. 7/17/1998
Johnson Jack 8/4/1997 9/15/1942 9/8/1945
Johnson William Kendall 12/2/1934 5/6/1916 12/20/1920
Johnson Sigvard L. 8/19/1976 7/24/1942 8/29/1945
Johnson Arlin E. 10/17/1992 1/9/1956 1/8/1958
Johnson Donald D. 10/1/1998 1/26/1956 11/22/1957
Johnston Everett Oney 7/29/1918 7/29/1918
Johnston Alden M. 10/21/1967 8/13/1917 5/10/1919
Jones Newland P. 4/1/1962 6/2/1941 4/11/1946
Jorstad Vernon L 6/24/1996 3/16/1945 12/8/1945
Juhnke John 9/2/1921
Jury Lewis E 10/1/1970
Koehnke Henry F. Jr. 8/14/1926
La Pine Lewis James 1/22/1968 5/1/1918 6/30/1919
Laabs Marguerite E 8/26/2000 11/22/1944 9/27/1945
LaChappelle William Joseph 6/3/1987
Kamasky Mary M. 8/3/2004 3/15/1945 1/11/1946
Karrow Herbert H. 8/15/2002 2/4/1942 2/28/1945
Kasten Ervin E 5/4/1981 12/28/1943 3/2/1944
Kasten Herman 9/1/1971
Keats Fenton G. 12/2/1933 4/14/1917 6/3/1919
Keller Raymond Fred 11/3/1996
Kellner Roger 3/14/1980 9/18/1969 3/19/1972
Kerrigan Earl J. 1/21/1999 1/19/1942 12/4/1945
Kessler Floyd R. 7/27/1965 7/15/1917 5/16/1919
Kibbie Fred William 4/7/1938 5/15/1918 1/15/1919
King James Edward 12/11/1923 01/01/1861
Klarner Ervin W. 5/27/2004 10/14/1943 11/8/1945
Klause Oscar P 7/21/1944 10/22/1942 7/21/1944
Kleinhans Theodore J. Rev 2/27/2002
Knuijt Jeffery J 2/20/2003
Knutson Douglas Dean 6/19/1990 2/24/1943 2/26/1946
Koehnke Walter H. 9/8/1960 5/24/1918 5/24/1919



Koerner Elmer E 4/5/1961
Koletzke Max, Sr. 4/28/1958 4/3/1918 12/19/1918
Kranz Douglas A 5/24/1998 3/24/1943 12/1/1945
Kranzusch Melvin H 1/3/1988 3/27/1942 11/19/1945
Krause Leo H. 1/1/1943 5/25/1918 8/5/1919
Kretzschmar Hanns O. 5/15/2000 2/15/1955 10/31/1978
Krolow Fred P 12/29/1956 5/25/1918 2/24/1919
Krueger John W. 2/5/1937
Krueger John H. 7/15/2002 2/10/1966 1/21/1968
Kruse Henry Karl 10/22/1960 2/27/1918 3/14/1918
Kruse Henry R. 11/1/1986 7/27/1944 7/29/1946
Kuehnl John 4/23/2000 6/17/1969 12/22/1971
Kuester Donald R 11/10/1948 11/7/1945 8/15/1946
Laemmrich Robet P. 12/19/1999 10/13/1958 10/12/1962
Lahn Gerald 7/4/1980 1/4/1943 12/24/1945
Lake John R. 7/12/1923 08/13/1862 06/12/1865
Lambie Del 8/1/1985 4/2/1918 3/29/1919
Lamers Richard H. 10/16/1981 10/1/1942 11/22/1945
Landis Ralph V. Dr. 12/26/1978 6/8/1942 11/13/1945
Langstadt Godfried 5/15/1931 01/25/1862 11/15/1865
Lappen Cliffird C 5/19/1980 12/28/1942 11/17/1945
Lappen Daniel E. 6/15/1997 2/23/1982 7/25/1982
Malott Gregory 3/31/1990 9/13/1973 9/8/1976
Mandel Raymond A 12/31/1988 7/9/1942 11/23/1945
Learman Anthony E. 3/29/2004
LeGault Douglas A. 4/8/1978 10/15/1940 9/8/1945
Lehr Klaus W 2/1/1992
Leman Angelo L 4/20/1933 12/9/1913 7/7/1919
Lemke Edward C. 1/5/1983 7/23/1918 7/9/1919
Lichterman Gerald A 10/9/1997 11/25/1983 2/24/1988
Lillge Norman E 7/2/1952
Longworth Thomas T 11/7/1955 6/3/1918 9/30/1921
Losse Howard H. 6/28/2005 5/28/1941 6/3/1945
Lowery Jaime M. 10/5/2005
Lyons Joseph 5/9/1987
Magnus James C. 11/23/1992 11/14/1951 11/13/1954
Marston Joseph Hilton 12/16/1938
McMahon LaMoine L 9/3/1986
Meidam Dennis Sr. 12/21/1928 10/07/1864 07/16/1865
Becker Deane Severe 2/17/1941
Merkle Chester A. 12/26/1987 8/13/1918 1/28/1919
Meyer Raymond 4/23/1997 3/5/1947 5/20/1947
Meyer Otto F 9/17/1972 7/22/1918 12/24/1918
Miller Willis H 2/4/1992 10/2/1944 2/21/1946



Miller David Ervin Capt. 7/1/1985 7/15/1979 7/1/1985
Mitchell William Dean 7/1/1963 4/21/1917 5/29/1919
Mitchell Robert Sanford 5/17/1926
Moll Otto C 10/27/1934 6/4/1917 1/11/1919
Molling Joseph J. 6/27/1999 3/14/1941 10/30/1945
Morgan Bernard R. 5/28/2001 4/3/1945 7/30/1946
Mory Harry E. 6/21/1942 2/25/1918 7/29/1919
Much Richard J. 8/20/2000 10/18/1972 10/12/1974
Muenster Lester E. 12/30/1999 9/26/1942 12/4/1943
Murray Kenneth L 7/19/2000 1/29/1940 11/2/1945
Muttart Raymond Joseph 7/20/1982 8/13/1918 3/14/1919
Neville Almond 4/4/1990 5/17/1949 1/5/1953
Niemuth Samuel P. 5/24/1985 9/12/1942 2/6/1945
Nitzbond Eugene J. 4/4/1999 11/15/1943 3/28/1946
Noffke Ralph F 3/18/1994 2/2/1943 1/10/1946
Notaras Paul A 7/16/1957
Owen James B. 8/2/1994 11/2/1955 10/31/1958
Panfield Victor 3/22/1974 7/14/1917 5/24/1919
Patterson Wilson S 10/4/1993
Peterson Allen O. 11/19/1962
Pederson Peter C. 7/31/1979 5/7/1918 7/5/1919
Peot Arthur 3/3/1992 6/5/1942 1/20/1946
Peotter Franklin Ens H 5/13/1945 1/13/1943
Peterson Raymond A. 6/17/1971 7/27/1918 2/10/1919
Petraske Glenn R 10/26/2003
Pettegrew Percy Draper 6/22/1991 10/1/1918 12/12/1918
Phillips Carl Roy 1/22/1997 10/4/1951 10/2/1953
Philipsen Wayne C 9/24/1979 2/1/1950 11/24/1953
Pierre Harvey V. 7/15/1918 4/11/1917 7/15/1918
Piette Robert J. 4/7/1988
Pingel Ernest C 4/14/1957 5/25/1918 7/19/1919
Pleckman Frank 8/27/1939 7/8/1918 3/22/1919
Pohlman Peter Henry 8/4/1929 5/25/1918 6/6/1919
Pompa Harold G 11/3/2000 1/4/1943 1/8/1946
Popp Conrad 2/16/1923 08/15/1862
Poppe Frederick W. 2/28/1957 7/22/1918 12/10/1918
Porlier Warner A. 6/16/1982 4/4/1944 12/22/1945
Potter Thomas J. Sr. 3/13/1964 1/24/1949 5/13/1949
Pozolinski Joseph H. 7/2/2001 3/6/1946 3/25/1947
Priebe Thomas G. 12/28/1994 10/6/1952 10/2/1956
Prink Verne E 11/29/1999 5/27/1942 2/18/1946
Prust Henry 5/28/1966 5/25/1918 6/17/1919
Radtke Norman A. 3/17/1997 2/4/1942 12/31/1945
Radtke Richard T. 5/30/1997 9/14/1953 9/13/1955



Radtke Arthur F 6/11/1926 9/30/1918 12/20/1918
Radtke Ferdinand 2/24/1942 04/08/1898 11/09/1898
Radtke Clarence W 8/4/2000 1/29/1945 10/24/1946
Reese David Evan 7/13/1995
Reffke Forrest G 12/8/1946 7/27/1944 6/23/1946
Regenfuss Robert M. 12/22/1958 3/20/1917 5/18/1919
Rehlender Herman F. 8/22/1977 7/22/1918 12/16/1918
Rehmer Charles F 3/24/1927 7/15/1917 5/16/1919
Reinke Roy William 5/14/1973 2/17/1942 1/1/1945
Richter Gustave O 12/20/1971 10/17/1942 3/10/1943
Ricker Arthur P. 12/8/1973 7/22/1918 9/4/1918
Rippel Wiliam 4/13/1919 11/10/1862 01/29/1865
Risse Adolph C 2/26/1943 7/22/1918 2/20/1919
Robbins Dale Walder 8/5/1983 8/16/1967 6/3/1969
Rondou Clifford J. 1/6/1984 2/15/1943 10/4/1945
Roocks Erwin F. 11/2/1977
Root Elmer Wallace 2/17/1983 9/30/1918 12/20/1918
Rosebush John McNaughton 11/5/1978 4/1/1942 1/6/1946
Sykes Richard 10/26/1963 04/28/1898 11/09/1898
Ross William August 10/22/1963 04/28/1898 11/09/1898
Rusch Alvin E. 12/26/1982 11/26/1943 12/16/1945
Sachs William H. 12/23/1964 7/27/1918 2/7/1919
Sager Arthur E. 8/22/1981 8/13/1918 1/24/1919
Sagert Charles Wm. 9/12/1997 10/26/1961 5/1/1964
Sample Charles 5/15/2001 1/4/1943 11/1/1945
Santkyul Henry H. 9/5/1952 8/14/1918 12/12/1918
Schaefer Charles F. 3/11/1930 3/5/1900 3/4/1903
Schafelke Henry A. 11/6/1959 5/15/1918 1/20/1919
Schatzman Frank B 8/31/1931 5/25/1918 5/22/1919
Schiller LaVern E 7/15/1996 2/25/1953 9/8/1959
Schinderle Arthur J. 2/11/1999 10/8/1942 11/24/1945
Schinke Robert J. 7/9/1968 4/13/1945 7/25/1946
Schneider Elmer Alvin 9/7/1968 2/19/1915 2/5/1918
Schneider Frank 8/14/1951 5/1/1918 6/21/1919
Schnetzer Robert G. 10/16/1987 7/9/1952 4/25/1954
Schroeder Clifford A. 3/4/2004 3/18/1960 3/24/1961
Schuck Pearl 1/12/2001 6/29/1945 7/10/1946
Schultz Junior H. 10/13/2003 12/12/1942 10/13/1946
Schultz Walter J. 4/12/1971 4/2/1918 3/8/1919
Schulz Samuel 3/28/1958 12/12/1918 8/30/1919
Schulze John W. 12/23/1987 2/18/1942 12/8/1945
Schwerbel Ralph Lt. C 12/25/1944 10/1/1940 12/25/1944
Scott Bruce Robt. 9/2/2002 8/2/1943 5/15/1946
Steudel John D 8/3/2002 9/9/1942 11/30/1945



Steward Rodger E. 11/12/2001 10/15/1961 8/1/1962
Sitterson Cephas B. Jr. 10/19/1963 3/5/1941
Slomski Mark D 6/1/1993
Smith Dean Allen 3/4/1980 3/4/1946
Smith Edward A. 7/3/1988 7/28/1944 11/7/1945
Smyrneos Charles 2/2/1997 10/10/1942 12/16/1945
Sonsthagen Allen D. 4/4/1990
Spaulding George H 3/22/1977
Spencer Frank E. 4/7/1930 4/7/1919 3/8/1919
Spencer Dorothy 3/24/2005
Spychalla Frank Charles 11/1/1984 4/21/1917 5/15/1919
Stark John J. 4/8/1965 1/2/1943 10/31/1945
Steffen Clement Henry 11/16/1956
Stilp Albert J. 1/29/1967 7/29/1942 11/30/1945
Stoeger Charles F. 9/11/1975 12/7/1942 10/10/1945
Stolzman James R. 9/15/1987 2/10/1959 2/7/1964
Storm Ernest 3/8/1926 7/8/1918 1/17/1919
Streck Otto A 10/30/1968
Tradewell Jean 2/18/2005 10/9/1944 2/8/1946
Treiber David A. 12/23/2002 7/14/1956 12/20/1956
Swiertz Walter V. Jr 6/2/1961 11/9/1948 6/30/1950
Talbot Marvyn A. 7/7/2003 1/13/1943 1/24/1946
Tawter Joseph T 4/11/1998
Tedford Clinton S. 3/18/2003 10/21/1958 7/21/1961
Thies John 7/1/1974 2/22/1944 4/18/1946
Thomas Earl 5/1/1955 2/26/1918 5/7/1919
Thompson William E. 3/1/1939
Thompson Wilber 11/1/1922
Tidwell Charles E. 4/9/1999 2/22/1945 11/30/1946
Timmins Thomas J. 7/30/1997 8/8/1974 8/5/1977
Tippet Earl J 4/20/1975
Tobin Ernest James 3/17/1987 8/11/1942 12/29/1945
Waltman Frank L 7/12/1933 5/25/1918 7/18/1919
Wing James Corp 3/7/1923 02/27/1864 06/02/1865
Pommerenke Walter J 8/21/2006
Tubbs Byron B. 8/4/1924 09/07/1864 05/26/1865
Turkow Martin 10/15/1969 8/1/1918 12/16/1918
Uckerman Herman O 4/20/1956 4/29/1918 5/14/1919
Underhill Robert A. 9/24/1983
VanderLois Russell F. 2/27/1979 2/17/1944 4/6/1947
Washechek Geo. J. 1/11/1989 3/12/1944 10/23/1945
Watters Dale 5/9/1987 2/27/1946 4/19/1947
Weber Norbert Arthur 4/23/1995 7/29/1953 7/11/1955
Wege Roger 12/7/2001 1/30/1952 1/6/1954



Wegner Reinhardt A. 7/1/1925 4/3/1917 4/25/1919
Wegner Albert F 5/12/1926 2/8/1918 7/28/1919
Weiss John H. 8/6/1967 6/19/1916 5/16/1919
Wells Day E 11/15/1993 3/18/1949 4/6/1951
Wenzlaff Richard G. 11/24/1929 8/10/1942 2/24/1944
Wenzlaff Richard W. 2/24/1944 8/10/1942 2/24/1944
Werner Rudolph N 1/30/1974 5/25/1918 5/28/1919
Werner Frank L. 12/24/1964
Werth Robert L. 3/18/1998
Wheeler Richard A. 9/28/1980 6/19/1916 5/16/1919
Wheeler Clifford A. 4/21/1996 9/13/1949 11/30/1952
Whirry Harvey W. 12/13/1951 5/25/1918 7/21/1919
Whitefoot Robert J. 12/1/1960
Whitman Cecil E. 5/8/1994 5/11/1945 8/22/1946
Wiegand John W. 7/20/1996 3/3/1943 1/7/1946
Wienandt Kenneth 7/11/1991 1/11/1943 12/20/1945
Wiese George 9/12/1946 5/25/1918 2/9/1919
Wilbur Wayne W. 7/3/1973 6/24/1916 6/10/1919
Wilcox Russell L. 11/22/1963 2/11/1943 12/8/1945
Wilke Paul C. 11/18/1963 9/15/1914 5/16/1919
Wilken DuWayne E. 6/15/1982 5/31/1944 6/5/1946
Will Herbert 4/27/1922 4/25/1918 3/11/1919
Willer Harvey E. 12/19/1994 2/23/1949 2/21/1950
Williams Kenneth O 3/31/1972 1/6/1944 8/30/1945
Williams Richard G. 11/8/2001 1/13/1949 12/1/1952
Williams David L 12/2/1986 7/25/1985 12/2/1986
Wilpolt Louis E 5/1/1941
Wilson Lewis 4/30/1931 11/24/1863 09/11/1865
Wilson William 12/17/1928 03/04/1861 08/03/1865
Wilson George F 11/4/1929 1/15/1918 12/28/1918
Woldt Gilbert W. 9/19/2004 10/26/1942 10/13/1945
Wolf Frank 10/20/1924 10/21/1861 07/16/1865
Wolf Edward C 11/5/1950 5/16/1918 1/10/1919
Wolfe Leigh S 4/7/1986 2/1/1918 12/17/1918
Wolff Helmuth O. 3/27/1963 4/25/1918 9/15/1919
Wolff Edwin 11/27/1918 5/25/1918 11/27/1918
Wolt Darold D 2/12/1981 6/4/1944 7/5/1946
Wood George Gerry 4/16/1949 10/29/1918 1/14/1919
Wood Emmett C. 8/25/1964 7/18/1918 1/11/1919
Woosnam Jane 11/25/1993 12/16/1943 1/3/1945
Worcester John Bigelow 12/4/1985 12/14/1942 10/23/1945
Wunderlich Lyle W. 8/1/2004 9/24/1942 3/11/1946
Wundrow Wilbert Len 5/6/2002 6/26/1944 7/28/1944
Wurm Emil C. 2/26/1996 4/25/1942 8/21/1945



Wutt Delmar A. 6/26/1980
Yaeger Harold G.C. 5/25/1994 12/28/1944 7/6/1947
Younger Frank B. 10/16/1943 8/23/1943 10/16/1943
Youtz Merrill A. Dr. 9/21/1964 9/18/1917 2/28/1919
Zeh Edward 7/21/1952
Zerbel Aaron 6/23/1950 04/28/1898 11/11/1898
Ziemer William F 10/31/1986 9/4/1918 1/6/1919
Zilske Charles H. 12/13/1945 9/18/1917 1/13/1919
Zilske William A 7/10/1963 11/21/1917 1/10/1919
Zimmerman Karel Kenneth 8/30/1997 9/9/1942 6/19/1944
Zimmerman John D. 1/10/1922 10/03/1864 07/18/1865
Zschaechner Robt. H. 2/8/1989 1/5/1943 12/8/1945
Zuhlke Rudolph H. H 10/3/1953 10/1/1942 10/27/1945
Zuehlke William H 2/1/1969 04/28/1898 10/18/1898
Zumach Irvin W. 1/7/1975 7/1/1918 12/12/1918
Zwack James Bertae 12/23/1995
Driessen Leo A. 12/9/2004 2/22/1945 12/14/1946
McGuire Howard R. 9/25/2007
Ducklow William 6/23/1985
Jones Billie 11/25/2004
Ester Leland 4/13/2006
Wegenke George Drager 4/26/2006 5/22/1942 11/12/1945
Ohler Richard E 4/16/2006
Bishop Arthur J. 8/21/1974 7/22/1918 2/20/1919
Noffke Harold L. 9/21/1986 10/10/1945 6/23/1947
Selingo Robert J. 10/7/1984 3/3/1943 12/22/1945
Whirry Earl C. 2/8/1966 2/18/1918 5/27/1919
Schabo Earl W. 6/24/2006
Bertrand Steven R. 7/14/2006 9/30/1971 8/8/1978
Wilbur Russell W. 10/15/2005 8/30/1951 8/20/1955
Dutton Arthur H. 9/21/2006 2/7/1943 11/1/1948
Waugus Clyde W. 12/13/2006 10/15/1940 3/23/1946
Heiges Howard M. 1/2/2007
Estergaard Jack 7/23/1967
Hill Floyd August 2/6/1948 3/27/1944 1/8/1947
Johnson Amos A. 10/10/1927
Lillge Gordon O 4/18/1970 2/22/1944 5/8/1946
Reick Clarence A. 8/7/1979 4/9/1941 1/7/1942
Ray David A. 2/15/2007 7/8/1952 1/14/1955
Schultz Elton L 12/17/2006
Zibolsky Bernhart C. 5/11/2007 9/29/1944 7/13/1946
Sabee Agnes E 1/8/1979 5/25/1944 4/6/1945
Wiersema Jimmy A 5/20/2007
Hoffmann Rudolph H 8/30/1975 5/14/1917 10/10/1919



Rahn Carl D 5/29/2007
Klahorst Jr. Edward A 6/12/2007
Crowe Pat M. 3/12/2007 10/26/1965 10/31/1985
Niemuth Karl P. 7/25/2007 7/10/1958 7/9/1962
Kaphingst Louis J. 10/18/1983 6/15/1918 12/12/1918
LaBorde Eugene F. 7/18/2000 5/21/1942 12/20/1945
Reinke Clifford 1/14/1973 11/20/1942 11/18/1945
Dercks John Leonard 5/11/1987 3/3/1943 11/13/1945
Gibbs Charles 1/23/2014
Ehlert Elroy 7/19/2013
Pooler Larry 8/3/2014
Fischer Cyril J. 12/24/2004 9/10/1958 8/9/1961
Vanden Berg Elmer J. 1/27/2008
Gundlach Audrey R. 2/22/2008 5/24/1944 4/7/1950
Rydell Edward A 4/14/2008
Peotter Gilbert E. 3/17/2008 7/28/1944 8/21/1946
Wakeland George 6/3/2008 8/27/1962 8/26/1964
Spychalla Leonard J. 6/7/2008 1/5/1944 5/18/1946
Mitchler Sr. Gerald Geo. 11/4/2007 10/23/1969 6/30/1972
Maloney Francis D. 6/25/2008 1/9/1951 12/27/1954
Hough Shannon L. 7/5/2008 6/14/1994 6/24/2005
Dorschner Roger F. 11/12/2008 4/6/1955 4/5/1957
Recker David R. 12/2/2008 7/12/1965 4/30/1969
Meltz Lawrence L. 11/17/2008
Hrdlick Richard Joseph 1/20/2009
Lillge Melvin R. 6/2/2009
Stapel Carl A. 2/5/2009
Sannes Kenneth E. 5/25/2009
Strehmel John D 6/30/2009 8/25/1954 8/24/1956
Chavlovich Stephen 7/16/2009
Quigg Edward C 1/14/1999 3/8/1943 10/18/1945
Vanden Boogaard Elmer J. 10/2/2009
Wagner Ellde I 12/8/2009
Gabert Stanley R. 2/1/2010
Clarke James A. 2/13/2010
Goldgar Bertrand A. 10/14/2009
Hansen Wayne F. 7/19/2010
Gasper Raymond 10/5/1987 1/30/1951 1/29/1954
Lange Eugene F. 8/19/2009
Holeton Joseph R. 8/30/2010
DeBruin Henry P. 10/14/2010
Hoppe Earl 10/27/2010
Dresang David L. 8/7/2006
Behl Gerald H. 4/29/2011 6/26/1944 7/5/1946



Clanton John 10/19/2011
Zarins Gunars 11/24/2011 1/1/1954 1/1/1956
Coakley Robert 12/7/2011
Cooper David A 12/21/2011
DuVall Jr. Kenneth K. 8/23/2011
Thatcher Stanley 6/4/2012
Tischer Kenneth W. 7/1/2011
Belling John 11/11/2012
Plainse Ross 1/17/2013 2/28/1944 4/22/1946
Meisenhelder Daniel Edward 4/3/2013
Bodway Norbert M. 4/20/2013
Lichterman Lynn J 8/25/2013
Nielsen Arthur 10/27/2013
Taubel Raymond Robert 10/27/2013
Harn Mark 1/18/2014
Kallio Robert W. 2/14/2014
Isenberg William H
Voigt Steven 8/26/2014
Waters Emery 11/9/2014
Filen James H 12/22/2014
Newhouse Eugene H 3/11/2015
Graham Michael 3/27/2015
Asmus John R 7/13/1994 12/30/1942 12/11/1945
Huven James W 12/27/2014
Bauer Billy A. 4/1/1993
Belling Richard E. 11/6/1997 2/25/1942 1/27/1945
Calahan John F. 1/17/1999 12/17/1943 5/3/1946
Calto George Wm. 6/5/2002 5/29/1943 3/3/1946
Ernst Alvina D. 5/15/1992
Hammond Benjamin D 7/23/1996 11/24/1982 7/22/1996
Hammond James Gordong 3/7/1991
Heeter Charles 1/2/1997 6/29/1942 11/7/1945
Horn Henry H. Jr. 4/3/2002 11/10/1941 10/21/1945
Immel Norman W. 7/24/2001 7/18/1952 7/16/1954
Noffke Roy O. 3/21/1999 9/9/1942 9/30/1945
Onkels Melvin K. 10/30/2000
Powell Duane L. 5/31/2005 7/21/1965 7/20/1967
Reifsnyder S. Boyd 8/4/1996
Ryan Francis D. 1/10/2000
Stein John D. 9/29/1998
Tesch Lester E. 9/30/1998
Timm Jane A. 10/16/2002
Wiedemann Daniel 6/15/1994 6/8/1961 5/25/1965
Wilfer Michael J. 2/28/2004 7/1/1969 5/4/1973



Wilson James A. 4/27/2000
Yach Jerome S. 5/22/1996 4/18/1941 4/24/1943
Azzi Frank 6/10/2007
Annen Sr. Harold W. 12/5/2007
Springer Kenneth W. 12/17/2001 6/20/1946 4/16/1948
Melzer Willilam G. 10/13/2008
Field Walter F. 9/2/2009 6/1/1953 6/1/1955
Kuebler John I 11/3/2009
Timm Jr. Marvin W. 5/2/2010
Ernst Delbert 6/25/2010
Dyer John D. 11/25/2010
Sheldon Willard R. 4/14/2011
Vail John 9/26/2011
Britton Gene E. 11/10/2011
Decleene Bernard J. 3/27/2012
Mitala Joseph 5/18/2012
Wolff Delbert 1/28/2013 10/23/1942 11/1/1945
Mach Robert L. 3/30/2013
Staedt Thomas 12/9/2011
Timm Sr. Marvin 9/4/2013
Haas Louis A. 7/10/2014
Alsbury Charles R. 9/22/2014
Janssen James 1/5/2015
Wingert Eugene 1/1/2015
Stephan John J. 9/14/2017
Lee O. Richard 9/2/2017
O'Brien George, Jr. 6/6/2018 5/11/1945
Bourassa Michael J. 7/16/2020
Blom Dennis P. 8/13/2020
LaCount Bruce R 8/10/2020
Heil Stephen J. 3/12/2020
Bennett Michael J. 6/25/2018
Skeens Sharon K 8/29/2020
Prentice Eldon Nathaniel (Jr.) 9/2/2020
Sparks Dan 9/4/2020
Sell David A. 4/16/2020
Streufert Gerhardt E 8/8/1985 8/31/1944 7/9/1946
Plank David 9/30/2020
Kuusisto Ronald, Sr. 8/27/2016
Dahms Michael C. 10/22/2020
Ogilvie Andrew G 11/8/1918 7/22/1918 11/8/1918
Carr Charles H 1/30/2013
Hebbring William Andrew 11/19/1949
Chapman Clyde K. (Jr.) 12/12/2020



Boughton Robert 2/7/2021
Wrege Marvin 2/22/2021
Bullock Alonzo M 1/14/1913 08/08/1862 06/23/1865
Lewis Valerie M. 4/11/2020
McGrath Morris D. 12/27/1887 12/30/1861 02/22/1864
Taylor Kenneth D. 5/2/2021
Humphrey John 9/19/1901
Boldt Oscar C. 6/9/2020
Ossian William Franklin "Frank" 8/24/2018
Xiong Neng 12/11/2020
Schafelke Gerald B 1/19/2021 7/30/1953 7/29/1955
Boyden Edward 5/28/2021 11/20/1950
Walker Thomas L. 2/28/2017
Yingling Francis H 2/12/2002
Bittorf Fred 11/6/2016
Pomplun Harold C 6/27/2021 10/15/1961 8/10/1962
Conkey Julian H. 7/7/2021
Bitter William E. 8/6/2020
Wofford Noble A. 8/9/2021
Zempurs Indulis G. 2/19/2021
Costello Philip A. 5/24/2010
Kenney Dr. Robert A. 9/11/2020
Bishop Douglas Steven 9/9/2021
Mentzel Thomas E. 8/10/2021
Schultz Theodore B. 2/26/1963
Hermanson Matthew D. 4/28/2011
Hurley Terrance H 9/21/2021 3/15/1965 3/17/1967
Stierman Paul T. 1/24/2008 2/19/1970 9/24/1971
Stratton Dale 2/24/2013
Rouman John 2/16/2013
Kent David 11/1/2021
Mentzel Donald "Don" D. 11/11/2021
Lauer James R. 12/28/2021
Salentine Edward A. 9/9/2021
Whitman Lyle E. 11/12/2021
Gostas Michael Charles 1/15/2022 3/2/1964 3/1/1966
Nichols William R. 1/11/2022
McCarthy Leo A 1/20/2022
Reff Charles R. 3/3/2022 5/31/1963 3/6/1966
**Everts A. B. 10/25/1873
Fraser William 06/28/1861 08/14/1862
Gallagher Francis F 11/14/1898 11/21/1863 07/17/1891
Gehring Gottlieb 4/26/1902 09/03/1864 06/20/1865
Gilson Samuel H. 04/17/1881 10/09/1861 07/05/1862



Green William 06/30/1894 09/03/1861 11/03/1864
Hayden Dr. Franklin L. 07/17/1895 01/15/1864 09/04/1865
Heckert Herman Sr 1/4/1923 10/04/1864 08/09/1865
Huckins George
Hyde Capt. Welcome 11/2/1902 02/28/1862 05/21/1862
Johnston George C. 6/23/1906
Kearn John 6/8/1933 6/8/1933
**Kesting Charles 01/01/1898 02/24/1865 10/31/1865
Acker Ralph L. 4/10/2022
McComber Dennis G 10/16/2020
Babcock Tyrone 9/6/2021
Fietzer Douglas E. 6/11/2021
Lundgren Richard 1/15/1992
Bravick, MD Donald D. 12/13/2021
Miller Carlton H. 9/28/2003
Tock Edward H 2/14/2014
Johnson Dennis Clark 6/1/2022
Fyfe Donald McGregor 11/7/2021
Jurgensen Leonard R. 8/4/1979 6/27/1944 6/1/1946
Watry Robert P. 7/31/2020
Slomski Alvin T. 8/19/2001 9/23/1940 8/18/1945
Hayford Donald 5/15/2017
Sanchez Arturo 7/12/2013
Hert William Keith 4/12/2022
Derks Jerome R 4/8/1999
Jones Mark L. 6/24/2021
Thiel Robert Bruce 11/10/1990 9/26/1966 9/18/1969
Heiden Dean Merle 1/24/2023
Flaherty Kevin P 3/23/2023
Drootsan Thomas 12/28/2022 9/1/1955 8/31/1959
Consolo Thomas P 3/4/2023 12/5/1961 12/4/1963
Consolo Suzanne M 3/15/2019 12/27/1961 8/13/1963
Mentzel Richard 2/7/2023 8/15/1952 8/14/1954
Wendt Wilburn E. 3/23/2007
Glass John J. 12/9/2006 12/3/1952 12/2/1954
Chapman Charles D. 5/7/2007 9/3/1942 11/3/1945
Spielmann Siegfried 9/15/2009
Krentz Jr. Joseph M 3/22/2021
Schleitwiler Frank J. 10/6/2016
Kirchner Robert D. 9/1/2021
Walbrun David J 7/21/2012 3/17/1958 3/14/1960
Meacham G. Richard 7/14/2022
Scheinpflug John 9/23/2021 10/28/1974
Purdy Thomas Lee 7/27/2022



Marston Joseph Hilton 8/15/2021
Slomski Patrick A 10/3/2012
Dorn David L 6/14/2022
Lemke Richard W. 10/3/2022
Young James 10/9/2022
Strobel Alex 9/5/2022
Boettcher Richard 12/1/2021
Lamers Denny 10/29/2022
Dodd Brooks 1/10/2023
Martienssen Adolph J 7/31/1916 01/01/1850 01/01/1856
Rethlesberger John 09/21/1898 10/14/1864 07/14/1864
Kuehn Joseph 09/09/1899 01/11/1862 01/24/1865
Rohrbach Ludwig 04/02/1899
Joos Rudolph 07/03/1885 01/15/1864
Parker Ronald A. 6/18/2017
Hansen Jens 5/5/1904 11/27/1863 07/18/1865
Holmes Burton H 3/24/1944
**Puffer John I 12/12/1864
Bullock Lovell 03/26/1895 11/12/1861 01/01/1863
Bixby Charles Howard 3/28/1943
Patton Zoroaster 07/16/1861 01/20/1862
Redmond Helen 9/13/1992
Apel John W 09/20/1873
**Brietung Henry L 04/30/1864
McKendree William 07/02/1863 01/11/1862 07/02/1863
Wolfram Christian 12/01/1894 10/01/1864 06/19/1865
McGowan John F 7/4/2016
Swamp Gordon L. 11/23/2007
Fiebelkorn William G. 10/29/1946 10/15/1940 7/15/1945
Baer Charles O. 08/18/1898 04/28/1898
Marston Joseph Hilton 10/6/1920
Adsit Franklin Elias 02/11/1891 10/10/1861 08/25/1862
Alexander George A 5/2/1938
Ames William D 11/07/1898 06/16/1864 09/24/1864
Anderson John H. A. 3/10/1925 6/5/1917 8/19/1925
Babcock D. C. 02/04/1888
Baer John Jacob 12/07/1872
Baker John S 8/15/1901 08/13/1862 06/08/1865
Ballard Jesse 11/09/1894 08/23/1864 06/23/1865
Beach S. E.
Benoit Louis N 11/09/1881 05/13/1864 09/16/1864
Blackwood Josiah Eaton 8/16/1911 01/23/1863 10/01/1865
Bogan Cylus 2/28/1918 1/18/1918
Borchardt Clarence G 12/20/1952 7/30/1943 11/30/1945



Borchers Fred J.F. 07/28/1881 01/24/1862 02/17/1865
Bradley Everett J 1/3/2001 10/16/1942 12/9/1945
Mason William A 02/21/1885 02/29/1864 09/29/1865
Brettschneider Elmer Joseph 4/16/1926 4/13/1917 4/3/1919
Brown Charles F. 11/11/1938 05/02/1863 05/29/1865
Buchanan William E 2/13/1993
Mather Willard G. 12/6/1918 10/2/1918 12/6/1918
Neff Christen Johann 08/10/1899 11/21/1862 01/01/1863
Chern Diomed M. 5/1/1999 7/3/1943 2/23/1946
Cleggett William S 5/20/1916
Cole Charles M 12/9/1908
Cooley T. F. 1/14/1901 01/04/1864 10/01/1865
Dallas Laughlin D. 01/01/1894 12/24/1864 08/28/1865
Davis Evan Albert 07/18/1880 10/25/1863 07/12/1865
Decker Elmer Ford 1/1/1911
Diener Henry 1/24/1918 09/28/1864 06/30/1865
Dite Ferdinand 4/17/1917 01/18/1864 07/10/1866
Dwy Wilson 02/16/1878
Edwards Nathaniel M. 7/20/1908 04/17/1861 06/05/1865
Eggleston George D. 06/06/1882 06/28/1861 06/09/1865
Ellmore Joseph Miles 6/20/1913
Enos Truman 7/28/1900
Fenno Miles H. 06/10/1866 08/15/1862 12/30/1862
Fernandez Albert S. 10/31/1933
Reams Olin M. 12/15/1986
Fransway Charles 7/24/1912 02/17/1865 02/19/1866
Friedrick August C. 9/15/1919 02/27/1865 06/12/1866
Fries John M. 2/25/1998 10/31/1962 10/28/1966
Gillespie Ivon Alexander 10/21/1943 3/2/1942
Gosha Charles 1/17/1941 12/28/1863 08/23/1865
Crouch Jesse 02/14/1894
Hall Albert A 8/6/1913 05/17/1861 08/21/1861
Herrman Nicholas 6/14/1912 10/13/1864
Hoefer Fred William 2/28/1913 01/18/1864 10/27/1865
Hoffman Emil C 4/17/1946 04/28/1898 11/09/1898
Holmes Ira J. S. 7/22/1916 07/31/1862 01/18/1863
Horn Rueben R 11/24/1943 8/12/1942 11/24/1943
Johnston William Col. 09/02/1881
Joyce Thomas 1/1/1913 03/01/1865 05/26/1865
Kirchner George 03/03/1896 03/01/1864 06/27/1865
Kluess Raymond 12/1/1918 7/24/1918
Korte Arnold H. 11/8/1918
Kretschmann Alfred E. 8/24/1924 12/15/1917 6/27/1919
Krueger Carl F. 12/13/1900 10/01/1864 06/12/1865



Kutler Fred W. 1/1/2000 08/01/1862 07/02/1865
Lahee Capt. Horace R. 08/14/1899 05/07/1861 05/24/1863
Lansing Abraham 08/23/1888 08/25/1864 05/17/1865
Law Ransom 2/17/1904
Learned Lawrence C 10/27/1966
Leimer Charles 01/27/1879 08/14/1862 06/08/1865
Lewis Chester J. 11/26/1995
Loope Russel A 04/30/1891 10/18/1861 10/19/1864
Matschke Fred 9/8/1907 02/24/1865 07/03/1865
Matthes John 10/13/1910 12/20/1864 08/26/1865
McCrary Sidney 6/2/1918
McCoy Alexander 12/08/1893
Van Heukelom George 09/24/1897 10/10/1861 10/09/1865
McIntire William A. W. 10/15/1958
Merrill William Wallace 08/17/1895 01/28/1865 09/27/1865
Merrill Willard (Pvt) J 03/25/1899 04/28/1898 11/09/1898
Ming Samual P 01/10/1896 03/24/1862 07/25/1863
Myers George H. 08/01/1891 02/18/1865 08/14/1865
Noble George W 11/11/1899 08/11/1862 06/25/1865
Nutting Harry E. 11/7/1987
O'Donnell William J. 6/30/1946 06/24/1898 11/05/1898
Olmstead Lamar 3/5/1917 09/07/1861 03/21/1865
Packard Strong C. 6/21/1903 08/27/1864 06/20/1865
Paddock Oscar 7/13/1911 09/02/1864 06/23/1865
Pasch Robert 01/01/1899 04/28/1898 11/10/1898
Phillips Charles Theo. 3/30/1925 6/22/1916 5/16/1919
Pomeroy Henry, Lt. Col. 02/29/1876 11/01/1861 02/11/1864
Priest James E. 12/28/1861 09/13/1861 12/28/1861
Randall Levi 2/7/1911 07/16/1861 09/27/1861
Randall Rier H. 1/11/1907 07/11/1861 09/27/1861
Reckard J. Marion 10/01/1868 01/06/1863 10/06/1863
Reese Thomas 4/22/1902 08/21/1862 05/15/1865
Reeve James Theodore 11/3/1906 09/18/1861 06/08/1865
Richards James E. 05/20/1863 10/01/1863
Ricker Andrew 4/19/1919 12/01/1864 10/09/1865
Robinson Edmund 02/23/1894 08/13/1862 03/15/1864
Rochon Lawrence M 9/6/1979 3/3/1943 10/31/1945
Gennigen Paul William 1/14/2016
Rule Russell 12/24/1926 5/25/1918 9/6/1919
Ryan Samuel Sr. 04/12/1876
Ryan David J. 1/30/1917 08/05/1862 03/21/1863
Sandborn Monroe 09/01/1876
Schmelling Theo. 11/20/1887 12/30/1863 12/30/1864
Schmidt John F. 3/23/1912 09/20/1864 07/02/1865



Schneider Andrew S. 6/9/1946 8/15/1917 5/27/1919
Scholz Gottlieb 05/25/1899 10/04/1864 07/18/1865
VanWyk Paul 10/30/1921 4/15/1915 5/26/1919
Schultz William Ludwig 6/11/1914
VanWyk Frank 8/16/1992
Schultz Ferdinand 08/20/1899 02/22/1865 06/12/1866
Scott Ira C. 6/11/1909 10/10/1864 07/19/1865
Sheldon George S 8/14/1917 08/12/1862 01/25/1863
Shepherd Sewell 9/26/1909 08/31/1864 06/26/1865
Sherriff Robert 1/1/1912 08/28/1864 06/20/1865
Simpson Albert C. 9/9/1926 09/03/1864 06/09/1865
Snell George
Snider Egbert L. 1/1/1918
Soper Amasa B 02/12/1883 10/26/1861 09/30/1862
Spencer William E. 09/26/1862 10/01/1862
Sproat William 08/20/1867 06/28/1861 03/15/1864
Stabe Allen 9/12/1986 4/8/1942 11/10/1945
Stansbury Emory 04/02/1899 08/20/1861 09/01/1864
Steenis Peter 03/25/1885 06/28/1861 01/23/1864
Stegman William L. 12/23/1901 04/28/1898 11/09/1898
Stevens Charles A 1/1/1911 04/13/1865 04/22/1865
Stewart Issac N. 12/6/1915 09/23/1864 06/26/1865
Stroebe Reinhold 08/06/1899 03/11/1865 08/22/1865
Strong Henry F. 09/20/1896 10/03/1861 04/08/1865
Town Ephram P. 10/20/1890 08/25/1864 06/20/1865
Turner Henry 01/01/1879 08/07/1862 03/19/1865
Wallace Robert 12/29/1885
Walters Walter J. 6/4/1900
Wagg Fred E.G. 8/18/1900 04/28/1898 11/09/1898
Warner Charles H 4/22/1917 08/15/1862 06/08/1865
Doire George Louis 10/3/2015
Winslow Kenelm 5/29/1969 8/30/1918 12/10/1918
Doering Ronald 6/7/2013 1/22/1969 11/8/1970
Derks Larry R. 8/8/2019 11/20/1956 11/15/1958
Waldo L.H. 04/06/1895 08/06/1862 06/30/1865
Zilske Frank 3/6/1944
Metko Ronald R 9/3/2018
Burmeister Fredrick C. 1/1/1902 12/28/1864 10/19/1865
Kanouse Ralph Elijah 8/29/1911 04/28/1898 11/09/1898
Wolcott James A 8/15/1920
Lee Rufus V. 1/1/1910 10/21/1861 07/23/1862
Ashman John 01/26/1892
Newling Maurice 12/22/2006 11/23/1942 2/7/1946
Monroe James 12/24/1899



Johnson Robert E 6/17/2007
Schroeder Carlton J. 2/29/2008
Dane Peter E. 08/09/1880 08/11/1862 06/30/1865
Zuhlke Raymond J. 8/17/2008
Newell Braton O. 11/19/1962 08/12/1862 11/19/1862
Davis Clyde R. 1/22/2010 2/7/1964 2/5/1967
Schuck Kenneth J. 6/10/2011
Miller Wilbur 8/4/2011
Sherry William C 1/10/2012
Clark John T. 12/8/2013
Schubbe Burnell 1/9/2015
Moder Luke 2/3/2015
Thompson John "Jack" 12/11/2015
Ramsay William Blaine 4/1/2016
Cerbolles Rudolfo "Rudy" 5/26/2019
Acher Aaron J. 09/08/1894 09/08/1864 06/26/1865
Allan Dr. Newlin W 6/30/1961 4/7/1917 5/24/1919
Arnold Fredrich 3/9/1903 10/01/1864 06/02/1865
Artis Horace 6/11/1910
Aspinall Alfred 7/8/1902 01/03/1862 10/07/1862
Attwood Andrew J 12/11/1903 09/28/1864 07/03/1865
Bartel Edward 12/24/1930
Kowald Margaret R 11/18/2014 8/28/1950 11/1/1972
Carey James B. 4/17/1900 11/19/1863 10/27/1865
Blood E.J. 09/27/1885 01/02/1862 12/10/1863
Boettcher Herbert J. 6/17/1977 9/4/1918 2/6/1919
Bomier Godrey Vet. 4/6/1915 05/27/1864 09/23/1864
Brainard A. K. 1/9/1901 08/15/1864 10/17/1864
Breitung Albert A. 3/26/1918 10/27/1863 05/11/1865
Brockmann Friederick U 7/21/1904 03/09/1865 06/12/1865
Brown Jonas G 12/27/1893 12/31/1861 01/07/1865
Brownell Tellinghast 4/20/1914 07/30/1862 05/30/1865
Buchanan William 5/14/1920
Bullock Loring B. 3/25/1914 11/23/1863 05/19/1865
Burkett Robt. Geo. 7/11/1937 5/22/1918 9/30/1921
Burley Lawrence A 2/16/1980 6/13/1944 1/30/1946
Bushey George P. 2/1/1917 11/12/1863 07/20/1865
Busse John 02/25/1897 03/23/1865 07/28/1865
Everetts A. B. 01/01/1873
Cate Alden G. 1/1/1906 12/28/1861 08/09/1865
Cavert Charles 1/1/1904 02/20/1864 05/27/1865
Chilson William Henry 4/28/1909
Clark Norman B. 7/14/1906 12/24/1864 08/22/1865
Conkey Theodore 03/17/1880 01/16/1862 10/27/1865



Conner James Gilbert 2/8/1906
Dort Oscar L.. 1/9/1918
Dunn Thomas C. 1/1/1918
Eick Ernest C 3/1/1906 06/16/1898 11/09/1898
Engel Earl E 6/3/1967 3/1/1916 5/21/1919
Hanson George W 11/23/1946 7/22/1918 2/7/1919
Franklin Edward R. 08/22/1898 02/27/1864 06/06/1865
Gehring John L. 10/24/1924 08/21/1862 06/12/1865
Gillespie William J. 10/22/1918 2/7/1918 10/22/1918
Godfrey James W. 5/31/1911
Goodland Clark 7/22/1929 1/9/1918 6/18/1919
Grupe Ferdinand G 03/25/1889 09/30/1864 06/14/1865
Heinemann Capt. Fred 6/10/1929 09/06/1861 12/04/1864
Hilfert Charles H 6/21/1916 05/29/1862 01/31/1863
Jahnke Herman O 10/11/1918 12/15/1914 10/11/1918
Jewett John D. 11/21/1862 08/26/1862 11/21/1862
Jones Henry Minor 03/18/1888 01/01/1862 10/07/1865
Kenyon Wallace B. 09/25/1890 02/14/1862 04/02/1863
Kenyon William 1/31/1908 03/23/1865 07/28/1865
Kimball Nelson W. 4/8/1901 10/21/1864 07/22/1865
Kipp Malcolm B 5/13/1924
Knapp Luke 08/18/1864 10/26/1865
Kruschke Herman 1/1/1903
Lester Richard 01/08/1882
Logan Anthony 11/27/1900 01/09/1862 07/14/1865
Lohrenz Wm. 3/6/1907 10/01/1864 07/18/1865
Parker George J. 8/22/1940 5/9/1917 12/28/1918
Maas Ernest 8/5/1917 03/18/1864 07/01/1865
Merrill Wilber F. 2/24/1900 02/03/1865 10/02/1865
Miller Roland Norton 4/15/1953 9/3/1918 2/10/1919
Miller George F. 1/15/1917 1/15/1917
Millheiser Frank J. 07/13/1886 08/15/1862 06/10/1865
Mitchell Thomas H. 4/29/1919 05/02/1864 09/23/1864
Morgan Nathan Evan 10/10/1916 04/28/1898 11/15/1898
Mory Arthur E. 9/5/1938 2/12/1917 5/5/1919
Neunfeldt Raymond 10/13/1918 9/4/1918 10/13/1918
Neumann Fredrich J 9/23/1910 08/14/1862 06/13/1865
Ochsner Friedrich 12/15/1909 03/04/1865 08/29/1865
Patten Lyman Beecher 1/18/1907
Patton Worthington 12/22/1909 06/28/1861 07/15/1864
Pearson Silas D 9/7/1909 08/04/1862 01/01/1863
Pomeroy Capt. Hugh 10/25/1940 04/28/1898 11/10/1898
Purdy Roy H. 8/9/1971 6/14/1918 1/24/1919
Reese Jessie D. 07/16/1896 12/29/1863



Reichelt George C. 6/16/1994 11/18/1942 1/2/1946
Reynolds Charles C. 8/9/1920 01/05/1864 01/21/1866
Risse Rudolph A. 10/21/1969 9/4/1918 3/13/1919
Robinson G. L. Prt.
Robinson Andrew N 01/01/1890 09/18/1861 06/26/1862
Rohrig William 07/05/1897 03/03/1862 04/06/1863
Rule Clinton B 1/11/1977 5/25/1918 9/6/1919
Rusch Emery R 2/20/1946 7/8/1918 3/14/1919
Russell Abraham 10/14/1891
Russell Charles 04/09/1877
Ryan Sam L. Jr. 3/28/1907 02/18/1862 12/29/1862
Saecker Austin H 11/26/1974 5/15/1918 9/30/1921
Sanborn Loran L. 1/29/1922 05/19/1864 09/16/1864
Saiberlich Henry 7/25/1910 09/28/1864 07/19/1865
Saxton W. J. 12/20/1894 08/21/1862 02/26/1865
Schafelke William G 7/15/1918 6/22/1916 7/15/1918
Sheldon Sanford S 03/04/1891 04/10/1862 04/10/1865
Steinert William 6/4/1918
Smith William Corp. H 02/04/1894
Spaude Louis 9/3/1918
Stiener John B. 12/06/1893 03/20/1865 07/11/1865
Stillman David B. 3/17/1910 08/30/1864 06/20/1865
Stowe Dennis Gilbert 6/23/1917 08/31/1864 07/06/1865
Tischer Fredrick 07/08/1893 02/22/1865 08/01/1865
Trettien Fredrich 03/19/1891
Wing Ebenezer 8/20/1910 08/27/1864 06/02/1865
Wirth John 7/23/1916
Witthuhn Elmer 10/17/1918 9/3/1918
Weimar Fredrick K 1/11/1910 12/31/1861 12/04/1863
Weimar Edmund G. Ed 4/1/1902 10/14/1861 08/20/1863
Weller William 07/10/1899 01/01/1864 07/18/1865
Wettengel Frederick William 04/24/1882 08/16/1861 08/21/1861
Wheeler Samuel S. 1/5/1903 09/17/1861 05/25/1864
White Lyman L. 03/17/1873 06/28/1861 07/15/1864
White Edwin R. 5/9/1901 02/12/1864 10/27/1865
Whitman John George 09/28/1877 04/22/1861 04/14/1863
Wiegand William 1/21/1914 03/27/1864 07/26/1865
Willer Gene D 1/13/1977 1/7/1953 1/6/1956
Wilson Francis G. 05/14/1864 09/16/1864
**Fuller Charles A. 12/16/1890
Zuehlke Julius 3/4/1918 09/23/1864 01/03/1864
Bedell John W 11/15/1907 01/08/1862 03/17/1863
**Brown Martin 5/19/1918 01/05/1862 08/28/1865
Brown William M. 7/15/1918



**Knapp Lonrig Corp B 01/01/1862 04/20/1861
Christensen Carlyen H. 6/3/2000 7/22/1942 11/2/1943
Holmes Wesley 10/18/1913 10/23/1861 06/14/1865
Waedel Friedrich 2/25/1914 08/14/1862 01/10/1865
LaRocco John T 12/11/1999 4/1/1943 2/26/1946
Armstrong Thomas M. 6/14/2005 8/31/1962 8/30/1965
Jahnke Floyd 5/15/1993
Lemke Fred 12/12/1905 12/18/1861 01/09/1865
Jones William H 8/24/1915 03/08/1864 07/18/1865
Palmer Samuel 10/08/1863 09/07/1861 10/08/1863
Carnes F. Clark 6/25/2008 5/1/1943 1/19/1945
Herrmann Donald Martin 1/17/2008
Weller John F. 4/3/2009
Dryer Joseph 11/25/1917
Dorchester Daniel E 3/19/2010
Sloane Henry C. 1/14/1915 03/18/1865 02/19/1866
Schmelzling Hans 10/11/2013
Bruss Llyod 1/29/2010
Haroski John 11/18/2003
Brophy James R. 10/22/2006
Porter James Mathias 7/3/2010
Henschel Rodney A. 7/29/2021



Branch Rank War Space ID

United States Army sp4 (E-4) (T) Unknown 21_22_X_1
United States Air Force A1C Unknown U_2_X_17
United States Army SP 3 (T) Unknown COL GAR_300_6_P
United States Army Unknown F_50_X_6
United States Air Force Master Sergeant Unknown S_28_X_8
United States Marine Corps Unknown V_20_X_6
United States Army Korean War 22_78_S_6
United States Army Unknown MAUS_101_5_J
United States Army SP4 E4 (T) Unknown COL GAR_300_5_L
United States Marine Corps Unknown 32_32_X_4
United States Navy Unknown P_40_X_3
United States Army Unknown S_64_X_5
United States Army Korean War and VietNam War L_35_X_8
United States Army Unknown 24_20_X_12
United States Army Unknown COL GAR_300_2_G
United States Army Unknown S_22_X_8
United States Army Korean War M_57_X_142
United States Marine Corps Korean War F_9_S_11
United States Navy Unknown N_24_X_10
United States Army Unknown 16_49_X_6

Unknown 6_24_X_9
United States Marine Corps Unknown MAUS_103_5_A
United States Army sp5 VietNam War 9_35_X_5
United States Marine Corps Unknown D_10_X_1
United States Army World War I 9_52_X_5
United States Army Unknown 27_44_X_7
United States Army Civil War T_59_X_2
United States Air Force VietNam War 25_22_X_9
United States Navy Korean War 29_5_X_5
United States Army Civil War D_31_X_9
United States Army World War II 6_36_S_6
United States Army Civil War 19_35_X_1
United States Navy World War II 3_37_X_9
United States Army ST. SGT, World War II 23_35_N_2
United States Air Force SSGT World War II and Korean War 23_8_X_2
United States Navy VietNam War M_79_X_22A
United States Army Unknown 27_46_X_2
United States Army Private War of 1812 K_46_S_1
United States Army Unknown 22_17_X_3

VietNam War S_32_X_11
Army Reserves Unknown N_91_X_2
United States Army VietNam War 31_20_X_9



US Army and Air Force World War II N_7_X_10
World War I and World War II N_7_X_9

United States Air Force Unknown 29_37_X_9
United States Army Unknown K_2_X_17
United States Army Unknown COL N2_500_4_L
United States Army Unknown U_3_X_20
United States Air Force Unknown 29_65_W_3
United States Air Force mst sgt e-7 Unknown 33_10_X_2
United States Air Force Unknown S_39_X_6
United States Army tec 4 World War II 7_3_N_3
United States Army Private 1st class Korean War K_20_X_11
United States Army Unknown M_49_X_136
United States Navy World War II 23_47_N_1
United States Navy S1C World War II 11_4_X_7
United States Army 1st Srgt World War I K_72_X_4
United States Army VietNam War M_65_X_150
United States Air Force sgt Unknown D_10_X_4
United States Navy Master Chief VietNam War M_81_X_172
United States Navy private Civil War E_70_X_24
United States Army 1st Luet World War II O_62_X_5

World War II P_60_X_3
United States Air Force World War II O_73_S_3
United States Army Spanish American War O_77_S_2
United States Army Korean War 2_24_E_5
United States Navy World War II and Korean War K_109_X_9

World War II O_14_X_1
United States Navy World War II 23_21_X_12
United States Army Civil War D_1_X_7
US Army and Air Force Unknown 28_44_X_6
United States Army Civil War M_72_X_13
United States Army Spanish American War 6_14_W_4
United States Navy Unknown 3_5_X_11
United States Army Unknown 32_8_X_9
United States Army World War II L_76_X_8
United States Army Unknown T_39 & 40_X_14
United States Army World War II 29_33_X_5
United States Army World War II M_56_X_5
United States Army VietNam War L_74_X_12
United States Army World War II F_66_S_6
United States Navy World War II P_8_X_21
United States Army Private Civil War M_72_X_15

Unknown 25_41_S_6
United States Navy World War II K_124_S_2
United States Army World War II M_46_X_97



United States Army Officer World War II 6_64_N_4
United States Army Unknown M_57_X_143
United States Army World War I 25_6_N_5
United States Navy World War II M_56_X_7

World War II and Korean War 19_3_E_6
Peace Time O_72_X_7

United States Marine Corps Peace Time 6_32_X_6
United States Army World War I 23_43_X_5
United States Army World War II 9_16_X_9
United States Army World War II L_21_S_2
United States Army World War II V_28_X_7
United States Navy World War II 4_37_X_10
United States Army World War II O_94_X_5
United States Army World War I 26_7_X_6
United States Army World War II 14_13_X_3
United States Army World War II M_46_X_49
United States Army World War I 17_37_N_1
United States Army World War II 22_59_X_7
United States Army World War II 17_71_X_10
United States Navy World War II V_31_X_1
United States Marine Corps World War II 4_2_X_6
United States Marine Corps Srgt Korean War M_76_X_12
United States Air Force Capt. World War II 22_75_N_3
United States Army Civil War 17_102_X_2
United States Army World War II S_65_X_3
United States Navy World War II 3_2_X_12
United States Army World War I 16_50_X_4
United States Marine Corps VietNam War M_78_X_81
United States Marine Corps World War I P_35_X_10
United States Army World War II 33_18_X_1

Unknown 33_18_X_1
United States Army Korean War 3_15_S_3
United States Navy Peace Time G_66_X_10
United States Navy World War II 4_20_X_5
United States Army World War I 14_84_X_9
United States Army Spanish American War 17_48_X_7
United States Army Peace Time 3_36_X_6
United States Army World War II 26_6_X_4
United States Army World War II 26_6_X_6
United States Army Korean War O_99_N_4
United States Army World War II 32_22_X_1
United States Army Spanish American War 12_67_X_7
United States Navy World War II 25_18_N_6
United States Army World War II D_1_X_27



United States Army Peace Time M_64_X_69
United States Army Civil War K_93_X_4
United States Army World War II M_54_X_94

World War II 23_35_S_7
United States Army World War II and Korean War M_56_X_8
United States Air Force Korean War 27_32_X_4
United States Air Force Unknown 12_69_X_5
United States Army World War I 27_49_X_10
United States Army World War I S_13_E_1
United States Army World War II L_73_N_5
United States Navy World War II 15_22_X_11
United States Navy World War II 6_36_S_4
United States Army World War I 26_10_S_3
United States Army World War I S_21_X_4
United States Army Civil War 7_29_S_1
United States Army World War I 5_81_E_1
United States Army World War II V_33_X_10
US Army and Air Force World War II 17_11_N_3
United States Air Force World War II G_26_N_4

World War I G_26_N_2
United States Army World War I G_26_N_1
United States Army Civil War 16_38_X_11
United States Army World War II 29_9_N_4
United States Army World War II U_3_X_9
United States Army Pvt. Civil War M_80_X_20
United States Coast Guard Korean War 3_10_X_6
United States Army T/SGT World War II 16_2_X_8
United States Army Civil War D_81_X_5
United States Army World War I 10_33_X_5
United States Army World War I 22_47_X_3

Civil War N_95_X_6
United States Marine Corps World War II 2_42_X_9
United States Army World War II T_58A_X_1
United States Navy World War I 19_27_W_1
United States Army World War II E_7_X_12
United States Army World War II P_15_X_10
United States Navy VietNam War 17_62_S_6
United States Army World War II 19_5_W_5
United States Army Civil War U_10_X_11
United States Army World War II 17_61_X_4
United States Army World War II 27_30_X_6
United States Army World War II and Korean War 6_62_X_6
United States Army Peace Time 33_46_X_10
United States Army CPL World War I 26_43_X_7



United States Army World War II N_94_E_3
United States Army World War II and Korean War 11_41_N_6
United States Army World War II 22_48_X_11
United States Army World War II M_78_X_29
United States Navy World War II 2_6_X_10

World War II 29_20_X_12
United States Navy World War II 33_25_X_6
United States Navy World War II I_31_X_3
United States Army World War I 1_12_X_8
National Guard Peace Time 29_35_S_4
United States Army World War II 28_13_X_12
United States Navy World War II and Korean War 3_14_S_2
United States Army World War II 3_14_S_3

Unknown O_67_X_4
Unknown D_4_X_5

United States Army Spanish American War N_87_W_4
United States Army Korean War and VietNam War 16_24_S_6
United States Army World War I M_70_X_35
United States Army World War II S_7_X_9
United States Army World War II 26_42_X_7
United States Army World War I 12_15_X_6
United States Army World War II M_48_X_63
United States Army World War II 4_41_X_4
United States Army World War II 6_47_X_3
United States Air Force Unknown 23_50_X_5
United States Air Force Korean War M_70_X_88
United States Army VietNam War L_29_N_7
United States Navy World War I 33_43_S_4
United States Army Korean War D_81_X_9
United States Army World War II and Korean War 23_51_X_4
United States Army Korean War 3_7_X_5
United States Army Civil War F_11_X_6

Unknown 4_38_X_10
United States Army World War II 32_15_X_1
United States Army World War II P_32_X_11

World War II S_16_X_1
United States Navy World War I 3_22_X_1
United States Air Force VietNam War 22_48_X_3A

World War II 25_38_S_4
United States Navy World War I 11_35_X_6
United States Air Force Peace Time 28_16_N_8
United States Army Peace Time T_35_X_11
United States Army World War I 6_41_SE_4

World War II 17_32_X_14



United States Army World War II 6_20_N_2
United States Army World War I 34_4_S_6
National Guard World War II 25_1_N_6

World War II 7_25_E_6
World War II R_27_X_12

United States Army World War II 19_40_S_16
United States Army World War II 3_37_X_5

World War II 29_10_N_6
United States Air Force World War II O_67_X_7
United States Army World War II 29_49_X_8
United States Army Spanish American War G_47_X_6
United States Army World War I 17_76_X_8
United States Army Korean War 26_33_X_11
United States Army World War I 10_66_W_6
United States Army World War I 28_28_S_3
United States Army Peace Time S_53_X_13
United States Navy World War I 29_60_X_3
United States Army World War II 25_8_X_3
United States Army VietNam War P_60_X_7
United States Navy World War I 11_47_X_6
United States Army World War II 6_65_N_2
United States Navy World War II K_7_X_5
United States Navy World War II 22_56_N_4
United States Army World War II L_51_X_6

Unknown R_44_X_10
United States Air Force Unknown 27_32_X_8
United States Army World War I O_79_X_1
United States Army Pvt Civil War M_64_X_12
United States Navy World War I 16_17_X_3
United States Army World War I 9_9_E_1
United States Navy World War II M_46_X_99
United States Army World War II 33_50_X_1
United States Army World War II 5_65_W_2
United States Army Spanish American War 11_9_N_3
United States Army Civil War 10_37_X_1A
United States Army World War I 25_33_X_10
United States Army VietNam War 19_36_X_4
United States Army World War I 14_10_X_4
United States Army World War II 18_2_S_5
United States Army World War I 23_23_S_3

Unknown E_47_X_3
United States Army Civil War E_47_X_5
United States Army Civil War E_47_X_9
United States Army Spanish American War 11_41_N_5



United States Army Spanish American War 11_41_N_7
United States Army Peace Time L_8_X_7
United States Army Cpl. World War II 32_27_X_2
United States Army Korean War 22_35_X_11
United States Army VietNam War S_48_X_7
United States Army World War I 14_51_X_5
United States Army World War II 7_26_X_5
United States Army World War I P_2_X_11
United States Army Spanish American War L_47_X_4
United States Air Force VietNam War 19_40_S_11
United States Marine Corps Korean War 19_2_E_6
United States Army World War I 19_2_E_4
United States Air Force World War II 1_29_E_10
United States Army World War I M_70_X_37
United States Army World War I 22_21_X_7
United States Army World War I 22_36_X_9
United States Army World War II 11_21_X_10
United States Army World War I K_86_X_2
United States Army Peace Time 24_31_X_1
United States Army World War II G_80_X_11
United States Army Spanish American War R_8_X_1
United States Army World War II 15_33_X_8
United States Navy World War II 28_13_X_7
United States Army World War II L_12_X_7
United States Army VietNam War M_47_X_51
United States Army World War I 6_49_S_1
United States Army World War I R_34_X_9
United States Army World War II 6_61_S_2
United States Army World War II D_1_X_41

World War II 23_31_S_6
United States Army World War II and Korean War 18_12_X_5
United States Army World War I 33_20_X_4
United States Army World War II 22_20_X_1
United States Air Force World War II 22_84_X_3
United States Army World War II M_48_X_61
United States Army World War I 27_10_X_1
United States Air Force Peace Time 22_41_X_3
United States Navy World War II R_36_X_12
United States Army World War I 6_61_N_2
United States Army World War I 12_15_X_9
United States Army World War II D_71_X_13
United States Navy World War II 29_42_SW_5
United States Army World War I 23_23_S_1
United States Navy World War II T_39 & 40_X_13



United States Army World War I C_41_X_7A
United States Army World War II and Korean War 33_50_X_3
United States Army World War I N_63_X_7
United States Army PVT. World War II 11_20_W_4
United States Army World War I 19_6_SE_3
United States Army World War II 7_2_N_10
United States Army World War I 23_49_E_5
United States Army World War I 17_58_S_6
United States Coast Guard World War II 15_32_X_4
United States Army World War II M_47_X_54
United States Army World War II P_8_X_23

World War I G_83_X_5
United States Army World War II 22_45_X_1
United States Army World War I R_30_W_6
United States Army World War II 4_2_X_1
United States Army World War I 11_4_X_1
United States Navy World War II 23_27_S_4
United States Army World War I 8_3_X_10
United States Army World War II O_45_X_8
United States Navy World War II 17_26_X_5
United States Army World War II 25_9_X_9
United States Army World War I 14_83_X_9
United States Army World War I I_9_W_3
United States Army World War I N_55_X_12
United States Army World War I L_54_X_1
United States Army World War I 23_32_X_10
United States Army World War I 14_49_E_1
United States Navy Spanish American War P_2_X_7
United States Marine Corps Korean War D_4_X_8
United States Navy Peace Time 4_41_X_15
United States Army World War II 22_40_X_5
United States Army World War I 14_24_X_1
United States Army World War I 26_12_N_3
United States Navy World War II P_45_X_1
United States Army Civil War 19_28_E_2
United States Army World War I 11_33_SE_1
United States Army World War I 18_5_N_4
United States Army Korean War 29_18_X_8
United States Army World War I 14_56_W_3
United States Army Korean War O_87_E_5
United States Navy World War I 33_48_X_1
United States Army Korean War 12_70_E_3
United States Army World War II 17_43_S_4
United States Army World War II and Korean War M_78_X_83



United States Coast Guard World War II 34_5_S_4
United States Marine Corps Korean War L_29_N_8
United States Army World War II 25_15_N_6
United States Army World War II 33_10_X_8
United States Army Peace Time 22_59_X_12
United States Army World War II 3_1_X_6
United States Army World War II 22_86_S_1
United States Navy World War II 3_26_N_6
United States Navy World War I 6_56_X_3
United States Army World War I 29_65_W_1
United States Army World War II 29_24_X_10
United States Army VietNam War 19_47_X_5
United States Army Unknown K_39_X_1B
United States Air Force World War II and Korean War M_64_X_70
United States Army World War II 18_20_S_4

Unknown 17_74_W_3
United States Army World War II 33_11_E_3
United States Army World War II 17_2_S_9
United States Army Civil War O_43_S_1
United States Navy World War I P_63_N_1

Unknown S_65_X_5
United States Army World War II 27_35_N_3
United States Army World War II M_80_X_77
United States Army Civil War N_41_W_3
United States Navy World War I 29_23_S_6
United States Army World War I 23_5_X_9
United States Army World War II M_48_X_59
United States Army World War I 26_19_S_3
United States Army World War II 14_6_E_3
United States Army World War I 14_6_E_4

World War II 28_27_S_2
United States Army World War I 29_40_X_1
United States Navy World War I 18_46_N_6
United States Army Korean War 6_4_X_8
United States Army Spanish American War 11_30_X_7
United States Army World War I 10_26_W_4
United States Army World War I 23_20_S_4
United States Marine Corps World War II M_2_N_7
United States Army World War I 17_17_X_12
United States Army World War II P_52_X_6
United States Army World War I 4_31_X_1

Unknown M_45_X_4
United States Air Force Korean War 3_13_X_2
United States Army World War I E_29_X_5



United States Army World War I 18_38_S_4
United States Marine Corps Peace Time 3_3_X_4
United States Army World War I 4_7_S_1
United States Army World War I 28_25_X_1
United States Navy World War II D_46A_X_1
United States Army World War I 34_2_X_3
United States Army World War II I_16_X_11
United States Army World War I 15_31_X_3
United States Army World War II M_79_X_27
United States Army Peace Time 25_6_N_4
United States Army VietNam War M_66_X_12
United States Navy World War I and World War II P_5_X_17
United States Army World War II 33_53_X_3
United States Army World War II D_27_X_14
United States Air Force Korean War 2_23_X_3
United States Army PVT World War I N_72_X_4
United States Navy World War II 7_5_X_12
United States Army World War I N_8_X_9
United States Army World War I 16_35_S_10
United States Army World War I 19_39_N_3
United States Army World War I O_34_X_6
United States Army World War I O_34_X_4
United States Air Force Korean War K_75_X_2
United States Army World War I K_75_X_5

World War I 27_48_X_3
United States Navy QM12/C World War I and World War II 26_2_X_3
United States Army World War II M_78_X_32
United States Navy FIREMN2C World War I 19_24_W_2

World War II 34_8_N_3
United States Navy Boatswain Mate 2nd ClassPeace Time M_79_X_24
United States Coast Guard Peace Time M_44_X_1
United States Navy World War II 29_66_X_8
United States Army Peace Time M_68_X_9
United States Army World War II M_70_X_34
United States Army World War II M_78_X_31

World War I 9_2_X_1
United States Army Peace Time 23_31_N_5
United States Army World War I 23_31_N_1
United States Marine Corps World War I S_61_X_11
United States Army World War II 6_1_X_5
United States Air Force World War II 17_1_X_7

Unknown 28_8_S_3
United States Army World War II 29_63_X_8
United States Army World War I 28_28_S_5



United States Marine Corps World War II 25_11_X_11
United States Army World War II 26_17_X_8
United States Army World War I 2_32_X_4
United States Army World War I 16_36_X_1
United States Army World War II P_44_X_5
United States Army Civil War D_53_X_2
United States Army World War II R_31_X_8
United States Army pfc World War II 15_12_S_3
United States Army World War II T_56_X_6
United States Army World War II L_76_X_2
United States Navy World War I L_76_X_9
United States Navy Korean War P_40_X_6
United States Army World War I 22_21_X_3
United States Marine Corps World War II T_57_X_1
United States Navy World War I 25_5_S_3
United States Navy World War II 29_13_X_12
United States Army Civil War 26_3_N_1
United States Navy World War II 14_28_X_10
United States Air Force World War II 33_53_X_2

World War II O_88_X_3
United States Army World War I 22_20_X_7
United States Marine Corps World War II M_48_X_62
United States Army World War II 4_39_X_16
United States Navy World War I C_44.5_X_1
United States Navy World War I and World War II L_16_X_3
United States Air Force Korean War 19_44_X_5
United States Army World War II 18_34_N_4
United States Marine Corps Peace Time 19_44_X_4
United States Army World War II 12_28_X_4
United States Army World War I 27_37_X_4
United States Marine Corps World War II V_41_X_4
United States Air Force VietNam War M_62_X_89
United States Marine Corps World War II L_74_X_2
United States Navy VietNam War 23_36_W_11
United States Army Peace Time 33_52_N_14
United States Navy World War II 32_18_N_4
United States Army World War I 10_5_W_4
United States Army Peace Time V_24_X_11
United States Army World War I 14_78_E_3
United States Army World War II 7_25_W_4
United States Marine Corps World War I 16_53_S_7
United States Navy World War II and Korean War 18_4_N_3
United States Army PVT World War I 22_36_X_1
United States Army World War I P_3_X_1



United States Army World War II 15_10_X_5
United States Navy World War II 33_14_X_8
United States Navy Korean War S_9_X_7
United States Army Korean War E_61_N_8
United States Air Force World War II P_32_X_10
United States Army World War I 28_17_X_1
United States Army World War I 22_86_N_1
United States Army World War I D_69_X_C
United States Army World War I D_69_X_A
United States Army World War II D_69_X_D
United States Army World War II 23_39_X_6

World War II 27_50_X_9
United States Army World War I T_55_X_3
United States Army World War I P_8_X_19
United States Army World War I 9_43_X_3
United States Army World War I 9_24_X_9
United States Marine Corps World War II 14_79_X_2
United States Army World War I 14_53_E_6
United States Army World War I O_68_W_6
United States Army World War I 34_17_X_5
United States Army Peace Time D_81_X_11
United States Army World War II M_76_X_8
United States Army World War II T_39 & 40_X_20
United States Army World War II V_35_W_2
United States Army World War I 11_19_X_3
United States Army World War I 22_21_X_1
United States Navy World War II L_11_X_5
United States Army VietNam War F_55_X_14
United States Army World War I 14_45_X_12
United States Army World War I 7_10_X_2
United States Navy World War II 27_31_X_1
United States Army World War I C_39_X_4
United States Army World War I 32_4_X_1
United States Army World War I 4_40_S_5
United States Army Spanish American War E_31_X_3
United States Army Peace Time L_53_N_1
United States Army Civil War 14_66_X_1
United States Army World War II 14_41_E_4
United States Army World War I 16_24_N_1
United States Army Civil War 1_20_W_4
United States Army World War II P_54_X_1
United States Navy Peace Time 2_38_X_8
United States Army World War II K_20_X_3
United States Army Civil War M_77_N_3



United States Army World War I 33_49_N_8
United States Army World War II P_58_S_4
United States Army World War II 4_39_X_1
United States Navy World War II 11_2_X_8
United States Army World War I 7_16_X_5
United States Army World War I 25_13_S_1
United States Army World War I 9_72_X_10
United States Army World War II 25_10_X_13
United States Army World War I P_5_X_15
United States Army World War II 16_6_X_5
United States Army World War II 25_2_X_7
United States Army World War II 16_4_X_3

Unknown 34_26_S_8
United States Navy World War II 33_26_X_3
United States Navy World War I 16_37_X_3
United States Army World War II R_34_X_11
United States Army World War II R_34_X_12
United States Army World War II S_8_X_7
United States Army Civil War O_41_X_3
United States Army World War I G_92_S_5
United States Army World War II 2_33_X_1
United States Air Force Korean War O_55_X_5
United States Navy World War II R_39_W_17
United States Army SGT World War I 15_8_X_3
United States Army World War I 23_32_X_3

World War I S_26_X_11
United States Army World War II 32_24_X_6
United States Army World War II 22_34_X_9

Unknown S_62_X_6
United States Navy World War II 15_16_X_7
United States Navy Korean War M_72_X_74
United States Army VietNam War M_78_X_109
United States Army World War I 16_44_X_3
United States Army World War II L_30_X_5
United States Army World War II L_30_X_12
United States Army World War I N_64_W_3
United States Navy World War II O_57_X_4
United States Air Force World War II and Korean War 19_1_E_12
United States Navy World War I 18_17_X_9
United States Army World War I 17_4_N_6
United States Army World War I 17_21_X_12
United States Marine Corps VietNam War 16_3_X_5
United States Army VietNam War 27_37_X_10
United States Army World War II 8_12_E_10



United States Navy World War II 6_15_E_4
United States Navy World War II P_39_X_10
United States Army World War I M_54_X_42
United States Army World War II P_58_N_6
United States Army Peace Time M_79_X_26
United States Air Force Unknown S_8_X_12
United States Army World War I 15_24_S_3
United States Army World War II 25_45_S_3
United States Navy World War I S_41_E_1
United States Army World War I 27_37_X_7

Unknown 22_73_S_5
United States Army World War I 25_28_S_1
United States Army World War I 33_42_X_1
United States Army World War I 2_35_E_3
United States Army Spanish American War 25_15_S_1
United States Army World War I G_86_X_8
United States Army World War I 12_34_X_8
United States Marine Corps World War II 22_65_S_4
United States Army Spanish American War 17_47_X_1
United States Army World War II V_7_X_5
United States Army Korean War and VietNam War P_8_X_24
United States Army World War I 9_24_X_10
United States Army World War II L_70_X_1
United States Army World War I H_17_X_13
United States Army Unknown K_45_N_3
United States Army Civil War 6_43_N_1
United States Army World War I N_35_E_5
United States Navy World War I 26_11_X_10
United States Army World War II 22_57_N_1
United States Army World War II 6_61_N_4
United States Navy World War I O_89_X_6
United States Army World War I P_53_S_6
United States Army World War II D_46_X_4
United States Army Korean War M_67_X_3
United States Army World War II 10_63_E_6
United States Army Korean War 22_31_X_12
United States Navy VietNam War P_36_X_12
United States Coast Guard World War II S_7_X_1
United States Army World War II M_54_X_95
United States Army Korean War U_3_X_13
United States Army World War II 27_44_X_11
United States Army World War II U_13_X_2

Unknown E_49_X_5
United States Army World War II P_21_X_1



United States Army S/STG World War II 22_49_X_10
United States Army Civil War 26_40_S_1
United States Army World War I 29_18_X_4
United States Navy Unknown K_80_X_7
United States Army World War I 29_18_X_1
United States Army World War II 27_33_X_4
United States Army World War I 22_47_X_6
United States Army World War II 16_39_N_1
United States Army Korean War 15_20_X_5
United States Army Peace Time 14_20_E_4
United States Army World War I 14_20_E_8
United States Army Korean War P_35_X_8
United States Army World War I 18_4_S_4
United States Army World War II 12_43_X_5
United States Navy Korean War 9_53_SW_4
United States Navy VietNam War 33_21_X_4
United States Navy World War I 29_61_X_4
United States Army PVT World War I 15_16_X_2
United States Army World War II 11_26_S_6
United States Army Korean War H_12_X_3
United States Army Peace Time 28_12_X_2
United States Coast Guard World War II 22_45_X_12
United States Air Force Captain World War II 25_32_N_4
United States Army World War II 22_53_X_4
United States Army World War II H_33_N_3
United States Navy Peace Time V_34_X_4
United States Air Force VietNam War 3_40_N_1
United States Army World War I N_75_W_5
United States Army World War II and Korean War 18_20_S_3
United States Army World War I 18_51_X_7
United States Army World War I N_70_X_7
United States Air Force Korean War 18_11_X_9
United States Navy Peace Time M_62_X_41
United States Army World War II E_65_X_8
United States Army World War I O_12_X_5
United States Air Force VietNam War M_44_X_6
United States Army World War II 17_52_X_12

Unknown 27_49_X_5
World War II 12_57_X_9

United States Army World War I P_8_X_20
United States Army Peace Time 33_24_S_1
United States Army World War II 11_53_X_11
United States Army Peace Time 17_53_X_8
United States Army Peace Time 22_4_X_4



United States Army corp Civil War K_3_X_1
Unknown 28_42_X_10

United States Air Force Unknown 28_41_X_1
United States Coast Guard World War II 11_54_X_5
United States Army World War I I_9_E_1
United States Army World War I 14_54_E_3

Unknown 7_23_X_5
United States Navy Unknown 33_9_X_4
United States Army Korean War M_80_X_21-A
United States Army World War II 27_21_X_7
United States Navy Korean War S_51_X_8
United States Army World War II D_1_X_45
United States Navy Unknown 28_21_X_1

World War I O_92_X_2
United States Army Peace Time 2_16_X_8
United States Army Korean War 14_13_X_6
United States Navy Korean War P_26_W_2

Korean War V_22_X_5
United States Navy Chief Petty Officer VietNam and Desert Storm 28_11_E_6
United States Navy VietNam War V_16_X_10
United States Navy World War II D_18_X_9
United States Army Korean War 33_47_X_11
United States Army Unknown 33_41_X_4
National Guard Unknown 25_25_N_7
United States Coast Guard Unknown S_4_X_7
United States Air Force Unknown S_58_X_12
United States Air Force Korean War and VietNam War 3_3_X_7
US Army and Air Force 2nd Lieutenant World War II O_49_X_9
United States Marine Corps Unknown M_81_X_173
United States Marine Corps Unknown S_33_X_1
United States Army World War II 11_54_X_3
United States Army MSGT Korean War and VietNam War 12_1_X_8
United States Marine Corps Korean War 9_56_X_6
United States Coast Guard World War II 9_9_E_5
National Guard Unknown 17_33_X_3
United States Navy Korean War 15_6_X_8
US Army and Air Force Unknown V_22_X_7
United States Air Force VietNam War 32_34_X_12
United States Army World War II O_89_X_13
United States Army World War I 29_68_X_6

World War II 6_60_S_6
United States Army Korean War V_27_X_1
United States Army Peace Time M_41_W_12
United States Navy Korean War 5_83A_X_2



United States Air Force VietNam War 33_18_X_3
United States Air Force Korean War 9_37_X_10
United States Army World War I 25_32_S_1
United States Air Force 1st Lt. World War II and Korean War 28_41_X_4

Unknown M_78_X_111
United States Navy World War II 28_19_X_4

Peace Time 16_54_N_6
United States Army World War I 10_12_X_2
United States Navy World War I L_31_X_3
United States Army World War I 19_42_S_3
United States Navy World War II P_32_X_3
United States Marine Corps World War II 2_6_X_23
United States Army VietNam War V_25_X_14
United States Army World War II 19_15_W_6

World War II 33_14_X_10
United States Army World War II 22_20_X_12
United States Army World War II 22_43_S_4
United States Army World War II 22_43_S_6

World War I 22_54_S_1
United States Army Korean War 22_74_N_3
United States Army Korean War D_46_X_1

World War I 23_49_W_5
World War II S_19_X_3

United States Army World War I 29_52_S_4
United States Army World War I 34_12_N_3
United States Army World War I and World War II G_2-4-5_X_13B
United States Army World War I G_17_N_9
United States Marine Corps Korean War 19_46_X_13
United States Army World War II 33_19_X_9
United States Army World War I L_23_S_6
United States Army Peace Time 34_26_S_3
United States Marine Corps Korean War 19_29_X_4

World War II P_35_X_12A
United States Army World War II V_34_X_7

World War II I_9_W_4
United States Marine Corps Korean War 32_13_X_11
United States Air Force Korean War M_47_X_105
United States Army VietNam War 25_13_S_4
United States Army World War II M_47_X_106
United States Army World War II 14_54_W_6
United States Navy World War II and Korean War 17_19_X_6
United States Army Unknown C_31_X_15
United States Army World War I G_90_S_4
United States Air Force Korean War 19_38_S_11



United States Army Korean War 32_1_X_5
United States Air Force VietNam War V_20_X_9
United States Army World War II 28_2_N_3
United States Army SP4 VietNam War 25_27_N_9
United States Army CPL Korean War 4_41_X_1
United States Army World War II S_52_X_1
United States Army TSGT World War II M_79_X_115
United States Army Peace Time M_47_X_57.5
United States Air Force World War II 10_65_X_6
United States Navy PM2C World War II 9_80_X_3
United States Navy World War II M_72_X_75
United States Navy World War II M_72_X_72
United States Navy Peace Time 5_21_X_2
United States Army Peace Time 3_17_X_7
United States Air Force Korean War and VietNam War 22_24_X_5
United States Army PFC VietNam and Desert Storm M_41_W_6
United States Navy SM 1st. Class World War II S_13_W_6
National Guard Unknown 18_3_X_4
United States Coast Guard VietNam War 3_7_X_11
United States Army World War II 32_28_X_5
United States Army TEC5 World War II M_80_X_120
United States Air Force Lt. Col World War II V_31_X_7
United States Army World War II 22_43_S_3
United States Navy World War II 34_12_N_5
United States Navy quatermaster VietNam War N_97_X_4
United States Marine Corps World War II 3_10_X_3
United States Army Korean War 5_53_X_3
United States Navy PR3C World War II L_51_X_5
United States Army World War II 4_27_X_12
United States Army SP4 VietNam War 22_47_X_12
United States Army World War II M_78_X_110
United States Army Korean War 33_3_X_11

Unknown 33_6_X_3
United States Army Pvt. 1st. CLass Korean War 25_2_X_8

World War II 12_70_W_7
United States Navy VietNam War N_42_W_4
United States Army Peace Time V_27_X_4
United States Army MSGT World War II 22_33_X_9
United States Navy VietNam War P_39_X_1
United States Navy World War II 6_63_N_12
United States Air Force World War II 7_7_X_4
United States Army World War II and Korean War 7_11_X_4
United States Army Unknown 32_14_X_6
United States Army Unknown S_18_X_6



United States Army Korean War 15_36_X_8
United States Army World War II 25_21_S_2
United States Air Force VietNam War M_80_X_78
United States Army VietNam War 29_27_X_7
United States Army Unknown 18_25_X_12

World War II and Korean War 9_80_X_3
United States Army Unknown 16_16_S_7
United States Air Force Peace Time 16_16_S_7
United States Air Force VietNam War 22_16_X_7

Unknown 32_8_X_1
United States Navy VietNam War 11_1_X_9
United States Army Unknown P_48_X_4

World War II and Korean War M_80_X_121
United States Air Force Unknown O_75_X_6
United States Air Force World War II L_9_X_6
United States Army Unknown U_6_X_5
United States Air Force Unknown 28_6_X_5
United States Army Korean War 14_46_X_10
United States Army Peace Time 25_9_X_6
United States Army VietNam War L_12_X_11
United States Army Unknown M_42_X_6
United States Army VietNam War 29_17_N_3
United States Navy Peace Time 9_18_X_8
United States Navy World War II G_26_N_3
United States Army Unknown 32_31_X_8
United States Army Unknown 27_32_X_1
United States Navy World War II P_42_X_11
United States Army VietNam War P_40_X_2
United States Army Peace Time 11_41_S_11
United States Navy Unknown V_14_X_6
United States Army Korean War 27_32_X_9

Peace Time 33_47_X_7
United States Army VietNam War 8_9_E_8
United States Army Peace Time 17_104_X_9
United States Navy Unknown M_80_X_122

World War II V_33_X_16
United States Air Force World War II 17_79_X_4
United States Marine Corps Aviator Captain World War II K_86_X_1
United States Navy Unknown 22_84_X_7
United States Navy World War II 22_60_X_7
United States Navy Peace Time 15_26_S_6
United States Army VietNam War 28_1_X_10
United States Army Peace Time 33_5_X_5
United States Army Korean War 22_18_X_8



United States Army Unknown D_55_S_6
United States Army World War II 29_60_X_8
United States Coast Guard World War II 28_22_X_5
United States Army World War II 7_26_X_9
United States Army Peace Time 18_13_X_7

Unknown 3_40_N_5
United States Navy Unknown 32_31_X_2
United States Navy World War II 18_20_S_5
United States Marine Corps VietNam War M_48_X_58
United States Army World War II 16_34_X_10
National Guard Unknown O_79_X_10
United States Air Force Unknown P_59_X_9
United States Army Korean War 4_39_X_9
United States Navy Radioman Second Class, USNRWorld War II H_6_X_5
US Army and Air Force World War II S_31_X_9
United States Army Unknown 25_22_X_11
United States Navy Unknown 19_40_NW_3
US Army and Air Force World War II 22_59_X_10
United States Army SGT World War II and Korean War M_79_X_117
United States Navy Peace Time 10_57_X_5

Unknown 18_26_X_6
United States Air Force S/SGT Korean War D_12_X_1
United States Army Unknown 33_51_X_11
United States Air Force Korean War and VietNam War D_1_X_19
United States Army World War II 23_48_S_4
United States Army Peace Time 28_6_X_12
United States Army Unknown 25_30_N_6
United States Marine Corps Unknown P_37_X_8
United States Army World War II 7_28_X_3
United States Army Unknown S_20_X_7
United States Navy Unknown S_33_X_7
US Army and Air Force World War II 27_32_X_7
United States Army VietNam War 31_28_X_6
United States Army Korean War 3_36_X_2
United States Navy Unknown M_49_X_135
United States Army Master Sergeant Korean War 33_53_X_8
United States Air Force Unknown 21_39_X_6
United States Marine Corps World War II and Korean War 29_11_X_3
United States Army SGT Unknown 31_18_X_3
United States Marine Corps Peace Time 16_44_X_9
United States Army Unknown 19_47_X_8
United States Air Force SSGT VietNam War O_6_E_10
United States Army Peace Time 4_37_X_17
United States Army Peace Time L_67_S_4



United States Navy Unknown S_5_X_8
United States Army Unknown 17_87_X_8
United States Navy Unknown D_72_X_9
United States Army World War II M_81_X_174
United States Army Peace Time L_65_S_7
United States Army World War II 2_17_X_5
United States Navy Unknown U_17_X_6
United States Marine Corps World War II 14_26_X_9
United States Army VietNam War 4_16_X_4

VietNam War 31_28_X_3
United States Air Force Korean War M_81_X_181
United States Navy World War II S_26_X_10
United States Navy World War II 10_62_E_5

Unknown 22_85_X_7
United States Army VietNam War S_20_X_5

World War II L_9_X_6
United States Army Unknown S_19_X_5
United States Navy LCDR Unknown M_81_X_180
United States Army Korean War S_34_X_3
United States Army Unknown E_2-4-5_X_16
United States Navy Unknown M_81_X_184
United States Army World War I 22_46_X_12

Korean War E_30_X_9
United States Navy Lt. Jr. Grade World War II R_26_X_10
United States Army Unknown S_28_X_11
United States Navy World War I 16_29_X_6
United States Army World War I 15_13_S_3

World War II 11_49_X_8
United States Army Civil War 19_36_X_2
United States Army World War II 32_26_X_1
United States Army Civil War 1_11_X_1
United States Army World War II I_42_X_6
United States Army World War I and World War II P_8_X_22
United States Army World War I T_39 & 40_X_17
United States Army Civil War 29_20_X_1
United States Army Peace Time M_56_X_67
United States Army Civil War M_25_S_3
United States Army World War II 19_34_W_4
United States Army World War I N_87_E_5
United States Air Force World War II 17_48_X_8
United States Army World War II 14_53_W_4
United States Navy World War II S_9_X_5
United States Army World War II 10_52_X_10
United States Navy World War II 26_7_X_12



United States Army VietNam War 27_33_X_7
United States Army World War I 29_38_S_3
United States Air Force Korean War 32_15_X_6
United States Army VietNam War M_2_N_4
United States Army World War II 19_43_X_8
United States Navy World War II 22_18_X_2
United States Army World War I 19_45_N_2
United States Army Spanish American War L_65_N_1
United States Navy World War II P_18_X_5
United States Army Korean War 23_12_S_6
United States Army World War I O_49_X_7
United States Army Korean War M_48_X_60
United States Army World War II 26_9_S_4
United States Navy World War I 33_56_X_10
United States Navy World War I M_33_S_5
United States Army World War I 6_21_X_1
United States Army World War I 15_22_X_6
United States Army World War II V_37_W_4
United States Army VietNam War U_7_X_7
United States Army Unknown M_54_X_96
United States Army World War I 22_55_N_1
United States Army World War I 14_2_W_6
United States Army World War II 15_1_X_4
United States Navy World War II U_19_X_12
United States Army World War II 27_44_X_2
United States Army Korean War V_33_X_4
United States Army World War I 28_25_X_7
United States Army S/SGT World War II 16_2_X_4
United States Army Civil War 17_20_X_1
United States Navy World War II 33_48_X_12
United States Army World War II 27_21_X_1
United States Marine Corps VietNam War 7_27_X_4
United States Army VietNam War 7_27_X_5
United States Army World War II 6_62_X_4
United States Army World War II 19_24_NE_4
United States Air Force VietNam War 28_20_X_2
United States Army World War II 12_22_X_8
United States Navy World War II S_37_X_7
United States Army Pvt. Spanish American War M_46_X_47
US Army and Air Force Korean War and VietNam War S_28_X_9
United States Navy World War II S_62_X_12
United States Air Force World War II 15_23_N_5
United States Navy Korean War 6_38_X_6
United States Army Civil War D_26_X_1



United States Navy World War II O_79_X_12
United States Army World War I 17_9_X_1
United States Army Civil War 1_12_X_1
United States Army World War II 6_56_X_8

World War I 34_15_X_7
United States Army Civil War E_60_X_1
United States Army Spanish American War U_19_X_6
United States Army World War II L_22_S_6
United States Army PVT World War I 5_87_E_2

World War II 28_40_X_2
World War I 7_17_W_12
World War II 26_19_S_6

United States Army World War II 18_14_N_3
United States Army Spanish American War 23_42_S_4
United States Army World War II D_45_X_1
United States Marine Corps Korean War K_102_N_2
United States Army Spanish American War 23_40_S_5
United States Army World War II O_92_X_9
United States Army World War II T_21_X_7
United States Army World War II 25_38_S_4
United States Army Korean War M_72_X_76
United States Army World War II 25_39_S_3
United States Army World War I 23_32_X_7
United States Army World War II S_39_X_12
United States Air Force World War II 27_12_X_12
United States Army Spanish American War 11_35_X_5
United States Army Spanish American War 34_4_S_1
United States Army World War I 27_11_X_12
United States Marine Corps World War II 26_17_X_12
United States Army World War I 25_20_X_1
United States Navy VietNam War 25_16_S_6
United States Army World War II 19_1_W_8
United States Army VietNam War S_66_X_2
United States Navy World War II 25_11_X_12
United States Navy World War II 23_33_N_3
United States Army World War I 29_2_X_4
United States Army Korean War M_56_X_64
United States Army World War II V_34_X_3
United States Army World War II 25_25_S_4
United States Army Civil War E_67_X_7
United States Army World War II S_5_X_13

World War II S_35_X_2
United States Army World War I 23_5_X_8
United States Army World War II 33_18_X_12



United States Army Civil War D_64_E_3
World War I 22_34_X_6

United States Army World War I 8_13_X_8
United States Navy World War II 26_41_X_10
United States Army World War II 25_31_NW_5
United States Air Force Peace Time 9_47_X_9
United States Army World War II 32_10_S_5
United States Army World War II 15_13_N_2
United States Army World War II 33_32_X_1
United States Army World War I 23_45_S_1
United States Army World War II 19_28_E_6
United States Air Force World War II V_33_X_21
United States Army World War II 11_24_N_6
United States Navy World War II 12_17_X_11
United States Navy World War II R_8_X_7
United States Army VietNam War P_19_X_11
United States Army World War II M_34_X_9
United States Army World War II 22_39_X_3
United States Army World War II 23_31_S_5
United States Army World War II 27_48_X_11
United States Army Korean War V_33_X_6
United States Army Korean War 33_46_X_3
United States Air Force World War II P_22_X_11

Civil War I_7_X_2
United States Army Pvt 1st Class World War II N_92_X_12
United States Army World War II 22_20_X_10
United States Army World War I 26_19_N_1
United States Army World War I 15_20_X_3
United States Army World War II and Korean War R_34_X_3
United States Army Civil War K_97_X_2
United States Army Civil War 26_24_S_1
United States Army World War II 17_1_X_8
United States Army World War I M_62_X_38
United States Navy World War I M_62_X_39
United States Army World War I 2_23_X_7
United States Marine Corps World War II 19_6_N_2
United States Army World War I 23_17_X_9
United States Army Spanish American War I_34_X_11
United States Army World War I 25_20_X_6
United States Army World War I F_20_W_6
United States Army Korean War 26_43_X_9
United States Army World War I 10_65_X_10
United States Army World War I 16_19_N_3
United States Army World War I 25_37_N_6



United States Army World War I L_54_X_4
United States Air Force Korean War M_78_X_108
United States Army World War II 6_57_X_2
United States Army World War II S_3_X_2
United States Army World War II 7_5_X_1
United States Army Civil War M_72_X_16
United States Navy World War II D_71_X_9
United States Army World War II 22_81_S_4
United States Army World War II 7_5_X_3
United States Army World War I 2_32_X_1
United States Navy World War II R_14_X_6
United States Army Unknown V_30_X_8
United States Air Force World War II 3_8_X_12
United States Marine Corps World War I 17_66_X_8
United States Navy World War II 22_86_S_3
United States Army Peace Time N_100_E_1
United States Navy Peace Time M_56_X_65
United States Army World War I 11_6_S_1
United States Army World War I N_34_X_3
United States Army World War II L_62_X_5
United States Army World War II 19_47_X_3
United States Army World War I 15_29_X_1

Unknown 18_18_NW_2
United States Army World War I 3_20_X_3
United States Army World War I 7_24_E_7
United States Army World War II I_16_X_12
United States Navy World War II 15_33_X_3
United States Army World War II M_64_X_71
United States Coast Guard World War II 29_42_NW_5
United States Army World War II P_63_N_3

World War I 33_49_S_4
United States Navy World War I 18_14_S_3
United States Air Force World War I 7_25_W_6
United States Army VietNam War 22_62_W_3
United States Army World War II M_62_X_91
United States Army World War I 27_35_N_1
United States Army World War I 16_11_X_7
United States Army PVT Co. A 21st Wis Inf.Civil War 26_9_N_1
United States Army World War II 23_27_S_5
United States Navy World War II 28_9_N_3
United States Air Force Korean War and VietNam War L_9_X_3

Unknown 32_8_X_5
United States Army World War II C_39_X_2
United States Army World War I 3_20_X_5



United States Army World War I 24_47_X_12
United States Army World War I 6_31_X_9
United States Army World War II 17_17_X_9
United States Army World War II 8_10_W_11
United States Army World War I L_27_X_2
United States Navy VietNam War V_20_X_2
United States Army World War I 17_31_X_4
United States Marine Corps Peace Time O_54_W_3
United States Army VietNam War 3_16_S_6
United States Army World War I 18_38_S_5
United States Army World War II O_15_X_2
United States Army Korean War and VietNam War 34_22_X_6
United States Navy World War II 28_32_S_3
United States Navy Peace Time 33_22_X_4
United States Army World War II 25_29_N_1
United States Army Civil War F_50_X_3
United States Army World War II I_8_E_1
United States Marine Corps World War II S_20_X_6
United States Air Force World War I and World War II P_31_X_13
United States Army Civil War O_90_X_1
United States Army World War II 17_85_X_4
United States Marine Corps Peace Time 8_16_X_6
United States Army VietNam War S_30_X_5
United States Army SGT World War II 28_39_X_1
United States Navy VietNam and Desert Storm P_47_X_6
United States Army TEC-5 World War II S_19_X_2
National Guard Unknown 7_18_X_2
United States Army World War I N_72_X_3
United States Army World War I 32_10_N_1
United States Navy Peace Time 5_31_X_18

World War I 23_14_S_1
United States Navy World War I 14_24_X_4
United States Army World War II 33_47_X_15
United States Army Unknown M_48_X_3A
National Guard Unknown 2_5_X_16
United States Marine Corps Korean War 11_14_N_7
United States Army World War II E_70_X_27

World War II 10_48_X_8
United States Army Civil War D_8_X_2
United States Army World War I 1_23_X_3
United States Army World War I M_37_X_4
United States Army Korean War O_14_X_4
United States Army World War I 6_17_X_6
United States Army World War II C_32_X_4



United States Air Force Peace Time M_47_X_55
United States Army World War I 2_10_X_5
United States Army World War I O_88_X_1
United States Army World War I 25_38_N_3
United States Army World War II 29_66_X_6
United States Army PFC World War II 22_57_S_6
United States Army World War I 26_3_S_2
United States Army VietNam War P_59_X_3
United States Air Force World War II 18_22_X_6
United States Army World War II 14_78_E_5
United States Army World War I T_43_X_11
United States Air Force A1C Korean War M_48_X_4
United States Army World War II 28_9_N_6
United States Army World War II 6_52_X_9
United States Army World War II 18_4_N_6

World War I 33_14_X_4
United States Army Peace Time C_36_X_3
United States Army World War I 11_3_X_4
United States Army World War II 14_79_X_8
United States Navy Peace Time 22_46_X_6
United States Army World War I S_53_X_1
United States Army World War II 14_79_X_3
United States Navy World War II 28_34_N_3
United States Army World War I V_35_W_4
United States Army World War II D_62_X_14
United States Army World War II 33_7_X_1
United States Army Korean War 27_33_X_1
United States Navy Korean War 18_1_N_6
United States Army World War I 26_9_S_1
United States Navy Unknown V_31_X_12
United States Army World War I 29_41_X_5
United States Army World War I P_2_X_12
United States Army PVT World War I L_43_X_5
United States Air Force World War II 4_1_X_1
United States Army Civil War 15_7_X_2
United States Army World War I 27_23_X_4
United States Navy World War II 29_47_X_10
United States Army Peace Time 25_11_X_2
United States Army World War II M_70_X_84
United States Navy Korean War 26_39_X_6
United States Air Force World War II 17_36_X_8
United States Army World War I M_54_X_45
United States Coast Guard World War II 33_23_X_2
United States Army Korean War 25_22_X_8



United States Army World War I 11_55_X_8
United States Army Spanish American War 25_22_X_2
United States Army World War II 17_41_X_6
United States Army World War II 12_77_X_8
United States Army World War II 17_97_X_6
United States Army World War I 22_88_NW_6
United States Army World War I 8_7_X_9
United States Army World War I 9_58_X_1
United States Army SGT World War II 16_4_X_5
United States Air Force World War II 11_46_X_11
United States Army World War I 10_58_X_5
United States Army Civil War 11_31_X_2
United States Army World War I 6_64_N_1
United States Marine Corps VietNam War C_31_X_5
United States Army World War II 29_24_X_4
United States Army World War II 26_42_X_4
United States Army World War I 27_23_X_7
United States Marine Corps World War II 2_2_X_A
United States Army Spanish American War M_46_X_46
United States Army Peace Time 32_29_X_1
United States Army World War II 28_45_X_1
United States Army World War I 22_69_S_5
United States Army World War I 16_44_X_6
United States Army Peace Time M_54_X_93
United States Army World War II D_10_X_12
United States Army World War I P_5_X_16
United States Army Spanish American War L_41_X_5
United States Navy World War I P_5_X_18
United States Army World War I 10_18_W_5
United States Army Korean War D_1_X_24
United States Air Force World War II M_64_X_68
United States Army World War II 25_29_S_5
United States Army World War I P_58_N_5
United States Army World War I U_8_X_3
United States Navy Korean War 2_22_X_1
United States Army Peace Time 4_22_X_8
United States Navy World War II 22_73_S_3
United States Navy World War II 29_40_S_5
United States Army World War I H_30_W_6
United States Army World War I O_7_X_7
United States Army World War II 22_62_E_8
United States Army World War II 25_1_N_2
United States Army World War II L_9_X_7
United States Navy World War II 3_27_X_5



United States Army Peace Time 3_33_X_10
United States Army World War II S_61_X_12

VietNam War 7_7_X_2
United States Navy World War II P_40_X_1
United States Army World War II 3_29_X_1
United States Army World War II E_70_X_13

Unknown P_18_X_4
United States Army World War I 17_105_N_3
United States Army World War I H_6_X_1
United States Marine Corps Unknown H_6_X_6
United States Army World War I K_2_X_14
United States Navy World War II D_53_X_10
United States Army World War II 9_75_X_4
United States Army World War II 26_18_X_7
United States Army World War II 32_29_X_5
United States Coast Guard Peace Time 2_19_X_4
United States Army PVT World War I 15_16_X_3
United States Army World War I 10_50_X_3
United States Navy World War II R_36_X_10
United States Army Peace Time M_2_N_6
United States Air Force Korean War 23_2_X_11
United States Army World War II 3_10_X_4
United States Navy World War II 19_15_W_2
United States Army Peace Time P_27_X_11
United States Navy World War II N_71_X_6
United States Army World War I 28_32_S_1
United States Army Spanish American War N_70_X_6
United States Army Civil War 17_12_X_2
United States Army World War II 4_20_X_2
United States Army VietNam War V_20_X_8
United States Army World War I 2_26_X_5
United States Army World War II M_44_X_4
United States Army World War I O_3_X_7
United States Army Civil War G_40_S_2
United States Army World War II 15_36_X_6
United States Army Civil War M_64_X_11
United States Army World War I 29_13_X_2
United States Army World War I 17_39_S_4
United States Navy Unknown D_1_X_17
United States Navy World War II R_14_X_12
United States Army World War II 33_22_X_1
United States Army World War II 4_11_X_5
United States Army Korean War M_46_X_98
United States Army Korean War 7_5_X_7



United States Army World War I 26_12_N_1
United States Army World War I 9_76_X_1
United States Army CPL World War I 22_78_N_1
United States Army Korean War P_27_X_8
United States Army World War II 29_52_N_1
United States Air Force Tssg World War II 29_52_N_3
United States Army World War I 17_69_X_8

Unknown V_31_X_12
United States Navy World War II 5_31_X_12
United States Army World War I 32_3_X_1
United States Army Korean War 33_30_X_3

World War I 9_3_X_10
World War I 25_30_S_2

United States Army World War II 15_26_N_6
United States Army World War II 18_1_S_4
United States Army World War II 3_18_X_12
United States Army World War I 27_36_X_6
United States Army World War I 27_11_X_10
United States Navy World War II 19_41_X_21
United States Army World War I 29_54_N_4
United States Navy World War II 26_11_X_6
United States Army World War I K_100_X_6
United States Navy Korean War 7_23_X_10
United States Army World War II 14_41_E_3
United States Army Korean War M_56_X_66
United States Navy Unknown L_69_X_7
United States Army World War I 22_61_X_12
United States Army Civil War 23_5_X_7
United States Army Civil War N_96_X_3
United States Army World War I N_96_X_1
United States Army World War II L_59_X_12
United States Army Civil War 1_16_X_1
United States Army World War I H_3_X_7
United States Army World War I 1_34-37_X_E
United States Army World War I 29_32_SE_6
United States Army World War I 9_44_X_1
United States Navy World War II 6_59_X_8
United States Army World War I E_68_X_15
United States Army World War I 17_9_X_6
United States Navy World War II 22_81_S_1
United States Marine Corps World War II L_75_X_3
United States Marine Corps World War II R_38_X_3
United States Army World War II 15_10_X_7
United States Army World War II M_31_S_5



United States Navy Korean War M_47_X_52
United States Army World War II 32_15_X_3
United States Navy World War II P_33_N_3
United States Army World War I 6_30_X_5

World War II 6_58_X_4
United States Army Spanish American War 26_4_N_4
United States Army World War I 22_54_S_6
United States Army World War I 10_56_X_4
United States Army World War I 10_56_X_10
United States Army 2nd Luet World War II O_32_X_5
United States Army Civil War O_32_X_3
United States Army TEC 3 World War II O_39_X_4
United States Army pfc World War II 22_51_X_3
United States Army Spanish American War D_3_X_10
United States Army World War I L_52_S_11
United States Air Force World War II V_25_X_5
United States Army World War II 25_40_X_1
United States Navy World War II 25_23_X_2
United States Navy World War II E_31_X_6
United States Navy World War II G_85_X_5
United States Army Korean War 5_32_X_21
United States Air Force World War II N_70_X_4

VietNam War 32_19_N_2
United States Army World War I O_76_S_6
United States Army World War II 18_4_N_4A
United States Army World War II V_30_X_2
United States Army World War I and World War II 23_2_X_8
United States Army World War II 17_106_S_3
United States Army VietNam War M_47_X_101
Royal Air Force Korean War 27_11_X_8
United States Army World War II N_76.5_X_6
United States Army World War II 6_32_X_5
United States Army World War II 33_19_X_11

Peace Time 9_39_X_8
United States Navy World War II 14_34_X_10

Spanish American War 17_67_S_3
United States Navy World War II 23_14_S_4
United States Army World War II 25_17_SE_10
United States Navy World War II and Korean War 19_16_W_5

World War II 2_38_X_5
United States Navy World War II 3_4_X_9
United States Army World War II K_124_S_1
United States Air Force Peace Time 23_10_X_4
United States Army World War I M_26_X_6



World War II 3_27_X_14
United States Army World War II 33_25_X_3
United States Army VietNam War 6_40_X_4
United States Air Force World War II and Korean War 28_33_X_6
United States Army World War I 29_15_X_5
United States Army World War II E_63_X_8
United States Army Cpl World War II 16_4_X_4
United States Navy World War II 17_42_X_10
United States Army VietNam War 33_37_X_10
United States Army World War II S_66_X_3
United States Navy Unknown V_30_X_9
United States Army Korean War 32_15_X_11
United States Navy World War II 29_32_SW_11
United States Navy World War II M_70_X_85

World War II 27_18_X_3
United States Air Force Cpl. World War II 32_29_X_7
United States Army SP4 VietNam War 27_46_X_6
United States Air Force PFC World War II 18_50_X_14
United States Air Force World War II and Korean War M_47_X_107
Royal Air Force SSGT Korean War M_79_X_116
United States Army SPC Unknown M_69_X_9
United States Army SP3 Unknown 17_28_S_6
United States Marine Corps SGT & 1SG VietNam War 19_36_X_11
United States Air Force World War II 22_87_X_7
United States Army World War II O_8_X_4
United States Navy World War II L_60_X_1
United States Navy World War II 33_39_X_9
United States Navy World War II O_64_X_4
United States Army Korean War M_66_X_14
United States Army Korean War 28_44_X_2
United States Army Corpl. World War II 27_37_X_12

Unknown S_15_X_5
United States Army World War II 25_44_S_4
United States Navy Unknown S_32_X_1
United States Navy Unknown V_33_X_13
United States Army Korean War S_31_X_7
United States Marine Corps World War II C_12_X_4
United States Marine Corps Korean War 2_23_X_15
United States Navy World War I 17_89_S_2
United States Air Force Korean War 32_8_X_4
United States Marine Corps Korean War O_92_X_5
United States Army World War II D_34_X_11
United States Air Force Korean War and VietNam War 33_18_X_6
United States Navy PM2C World War II 22_64_X_12



United States Air Force Korean War 3_7_X_9
United States Army Korean War 32_23_X_5
United States Navy Korean War M_78_X_114
United States Army Korean War 6_14_E_5
United States Navy Korean War 3_4_X_2
United States Navy Unknown 28_4_X_1
United States Marine Corps VietNam and Desert Storm 19_4_W_3
United States Army Unknown 34_18_X_4
United States Army World War II S_52_X_4
United States Army VietNam War 22_4_X_5
United States Army Korean War 22_20_X_6
United States Coast Guard Unknown 5_31_X_16

World War II S_24_X_4
United States Navy Korean War 23_36_W_12
United States Army Unknown D_71_X_4
United States Army VietNam War S_50_X_14
United States Air Force Tech Sergeant VietNam War 14_44_S_3
United States Navy VietNam War 33_12_S_4
United States Air Force Unknown M_78_X_80
United States Navy Peace Time 5_65_W_13
United States Air Force Peace Time 33_46_X_7
United States Marine Corps Captain Unknown M_78_X_82
United States Army World War I MAUS_101_6_G
United States Army Peace Time 6_47_X_9
United States Air Force World War II MAUS_201_6_A
United States Army World War II MAUS_104_3_F
United States Navy World War II MAUS_201_8_G
United States Army World War II MAUS_104_6_I
United States Navy World War II MAUS_104_5_G
United States Army VietNam and Desert Storm MAUS_101_3_C
United States Army Unknown MAUS_101_3_C
United States Army World War II MAUS_201_5_G
United States Army World War II MAUS_102_4_H
United States Army Korean War MAUS_104_4_D
United States Army World War I MAUS_202_7_G
United States Army Korean War MAUS_104_3_E
United States Army VietNam War MAUS_103_3_B
United States Air Force World War II MAUS_202_4_A
United States Army Korean War MAUS_201_3_E
United States Air Force World War II MAUS_201_5_F
United States Army World War II MAUS_104_4_C
United States Army VietNam War MAUS_104_6_J
United States Air Force VietNam War MAUS_201_2_A
United States Air Force VietNam War MAUS_102_3_L



Korean War MAUS_102_3_D
United States Air Force World War II MAUS_104_2_G
United States Marine Corps World War II MAUS_201_3_B
United States Air Force Korean War and VietNam War MAUS_103_3_G
United States Navy World War II MAUS_101_3_G
United States Navy Korean War MAUS_104_2_F
United States Navy Korean War MAUS_202_2_A
United States Navy World War II MAUS_103_5_K
United States Army VietNam War MAUS_104_6_J
United States Navy World War II MAUS_104_5_G
United States Army World War II MAUS_201_2_C
United States Navy World War II MAUS_104_3_A
United States Army World War II MAUS_202_2_F
United States Army Korean War MAUS_101_6_B
National Guard Unknown MAUS_102_3_I
United States Navy Unknown MAUS_102_6_E
United States Navy Unknown MAUS_202_6_C
United States Army World War II MAUS_103_3_H
United States Air Force Korean War MAUS_102_1_A
United States Navy World War II MAUS_104_6_K
United States Army Unknown MAUS_101_5_C
United States Army Unknown MAUS_104_1_L
United States Navy Unknown MAUS_101_6_A

World War II MAUS_101_3_L
US Army and Air Force World War II MAUS_202_5_A
National Guard Unknown MAUS_202_3_H
United States Army Unknown MAUS_102_6_L
United States Navy Unknown M_65_X_148
United States Air Force Unknown H_39_X_10
United States Marine Corps Peace Time 12_69_X_3
United States Army Specialist 5 Unknown U_2_X_11
United States Army Unknown M_81_X_185
United States Navy VietNam War 32_31_X_1
United States Air Force Unknown MAUS_202_8_G
United States Army Unknown M_47_X_104
United States Navy Unknown P_38_X_10
United States Army World War II 19_40_S_8F
United States Navy Korean War 15_20_X_10
United States Marine Corps Unknown MAUS_101_1_A
United States Army Peace Time 27_32_X_3
United States Army Corporal World War I 17_87_X_5
United States Marine Corps Korean War 33_30_X_9
United States Army VietNam War O_82_X_8
United States Army VietNam War M_49_X_158



National Guard Unknown 3_17_X_4
United States Navy Unknown M_67_X_7
United States Army Civil War 17_28_N_1
United States Army Unknown M_81_X_183
United States Army Civil War K_92_X_12
United States Army World War II and Korean War M_70_X_87
United States Army Civil War M_47_X_56
US Army and Air Force World War II S_14_W_3
United States Army Unknown 22_66_X_6

Unknown G_87_X_12
United States Marine Corps PFC Peace Time 28_3_X_2
United States Navy lietenant junior gradeKorean War 22_52_X_11
United States Army Unknown 4_20_X_10
United States Marine Corps WW II, Korean & VietNam 32_10_S_3
United States Army Unknown 24_21_X_5
National Guard Unknown 3_40_N_7
United States Army Unknown MAUS_201_2_G

World War II V_29_X_14
United States Army Unknown P_21_X_11
United States Army Unknown 32_9_X_1
United States Army Unknown 3_39_X_9
United States Army Unknown 17_1_X_9
United States Army Unknown 21_35_X_8
United States Navy Unknown 21_35_X_2
United States Army World War I P_71_S_5
United States Army SSG Unknown S_19_X_7
United States Army SGT VietNam War M_65_X_147
United States Army SP4 VietNam War M_49_X_155

Unknown S_50_X_9
World War II P_34_X_2

United States Navy Unknown MAUS_103_6_C
United States Marine Reserve Unknown M_41_W_4
United States Army VietNam War M_49_X_154
United States Army Unknown 19_1_E_12
United States Army World War II 4_29_X_8
United States Army SP4 VietNam War 28_1_X_7
United States Navy Korean War L_13_X_12
United States Marine Corps VietNam War M_49_X_157
United States Army Unknown V_25_X_9

Unknown F_14_S_4
United States Army Sgt. Civil War M_70_X_33
United States Army Civil War D_76_E_9
United States Army Civil War G_59_X_8
United States Army Civil War D_66_X_4



United States Army Civil War G_9_X_4
United States Army Civil War N_79_X_3
United States Army Civil War D_7_X_1
United States Army Civil War M_80_X_18
United States Army Civil War 2_3_X_2
United States Army Civil War G_2-4-5_X_10
United States Army World War I 23_11_X_7
United States Army Civil War G_89_X_10
United States Army Unknown L_70_X_10
United States Army Unknown 33_2_X_10
United States Army SSG VietNam War 21_8_X_6
US Army and Air Force Unknown COL GAR_300_4_F

World War II T_13_X_1
United States Navy Unknown U_6_X_10
United States Army Korean War and VietNam War 15_31_X_6
United States Navy World War II 17_52_X_4
United States Air Force Unknown 33_6_X_11

World War II and Korean War C_6_X_10
United States Army World War II 23_31_S_2
United States Army Korean War 3_23_X_1
United States Army World War II 7_7_X_1

Unknown S_51_X_7
Unknown M_53_X_1

United States Navy Peace Time 27_17_N_2
United States Navy Unknown 22_2_X_7
United States Navy Reserves Unknown O_15_X_4
United States Army VietNam War 18_21_X_9
United States Air Force VietNam War MAUS_201_1_C
United States Marine Corps Unknown 34_22_X_10
United States Air Force Unknown COL GAR_300_3_D
United States Army Unknown COL GAR_300_2_F
United States Army Unknown COL GAR_300_2_E
United States Army Private Unknown 21_35_X_1

World War II S_3_X_6
United States Army Korean War 22_38_X_7
Royal Air Force World War II P_45_X_5
United States Air Force Peace Time 3_33_X_12
United States Army Unknown 6_46_N_5
United States Navy World War II COL N1_400_5_D
United States Navy VietNam War COL GAR_300_5_F
United States Marine Corps LCPL Peace Time 29_16_X_10
United States Air Force AFC E-3 Unknown 21_42_X_11
United States Navy Unknown 21_8_X_12
United States Army Korean War E_8_X_7



United States Air Force World War II E_70_X_15
United States Navy Peace Time 7_7_X_6
United States Navy Unknown 18_46_SE_4
United States Army sergeant Unknown MAUS_104_2_L
US Army and Air Force Unknown 3_5_X_9
United States Army World War II 17_1_X_12
United States Army Unknown 3_39_X_4
United States Army Unknown S_29_X_8
United States Navy Unknown V_23_X_7
United States Army Private Peace Time 10_23_E_1
United States Army Civil War 10_49_X_6
United States Army Civil War M_56_X_6
United States Army Civil War 10_19_X_1
United States Army Private Civil War M_62_X_40
United States Navy Korean War and VietNam War M_81_X_171
United States Army Civil War G_71_X_5
United States Air Force World War II 6_51_S_4
United States Army Civil War K_20_X_8
United States Army Civil War D_98_X_3
United States Navy US Navy Piolet World War II O_62_X_2
United States Army Civil War E_24_X_3
United States Air Force Peace Time 14_77_X_5
United States Army Civil War F_55_X_26

Civil War F_36_X_7
United States Army Civil War F_39_X_2
United States Army Civil War G_53_S_2
United States Army Peace Time 4_13_X_5
United States Air Force World War II H_33_S_5
United States Army World War II 23_35_S_3
United States Army Spanish American War 1_11_X_4
United States Army Civil War E_70_X_7
United States Army Privant Civil War E_39_X_6

Unknown D_54_E_11
United States Army Civil War N_40_W_1
United States Navy World War I E_48_S_5
United States Army 1st. LT. Civil War G_67_X_1
United States Army Mexican 1_11_X_5
United States Army Corporal Civil War 12_33_X_4
United States Army Civil War T_39 & 40_X_19
United States Army Civil War M_79_X_25
United States Army Civil War D_83_X_4
United States Army Civil War O_55_X_1
United States Army World War I D_38_X_6
United States Navy World War II 19_36_X_8



United States Army Civil War K_65_X_3
United States Army World War II 7_13_X_1
United States Army Civil War 12_53_X_2
United States Army Private 1st Class World War I N_25_X_3
United States Army Civil War T_20_X_2
United States Army Unknown E_7_X_6
United States Army Civil War O_75_X_2
United States Army Pvt Civil War G_89_X_3
United States Army World War II 28_13_X_6
United States Army Prvt Civil War O_2_X_3
United States Army Civil War F_34_X_5
United States Army Civil War N_94_W_2
United States Army Civil War D_94_X_2
United States Army Civil War F_11_X_1
United States Army Civil War E_29_X_2
United States Army Civil War O_36_X_6
United States Army Civil War N_57_W_1
United States Army Civil War D_1_X_13
United States Army Civil War D_30_X_2
United States Army Civil War G_47_X_1
United States Army Civil War 17_27_S_1
United States Army Civil War R_14_X_1
United States Army Pvt Civil War M_79_X_28
United States Army World War I U_32_X_4

Korean War and VietNam War G_49_N_5
United States Army Civil War M_79_X_23
United States Army Civil War O_16_S_2
United States Air Force Peace Time M_62_X_92
United States Army World War II G_44_N_3
United States Army Pvt Civil War M_64_X_9
United States Army Civil War M_46_X_48
United States Army Civil War 17_56_S_1
United States Army Civil War R_12_X_4
United States Army Civil War G_54_X_3
United States Army Spanish American War M_36_S_5
United States Army Civil War 9_12_X_2
United States Navy World War II H_25_W_3
United States Army Unknown G_2-4-5_X_1
United States Army Civil War 12_63_X_3
United States Army Civil War F_56_X_1
United States Army World War I L_33_N_1
United States Army World War I 17_24_S_3
United States Army World War I 10_42_X_1
United States Army PVT Civil War M_47_X_53



United States Army Civil War D_74_X_5
United States Army Civil War T_64_X_6
United States Army Civil War I_33_W_3
United States Army Civil War D_36_E_1
United States Army World War I 9_29_X_5
United States Army Civil War F_36_X_5

Unknown P_18_X_7
United States Army Civil War 1_12_X_5
United States Army Civil War E_15_X_1
United States Army Civil War 14_5_X_2

World War I 9_14_N_2
Civil War 6_1_X_1

United States Army Civil War N_24_X_1
Unknown 27_18_X_12

United States Army Sgt Civil War N_76_W_2
United States Army Spanish American War E_35_X_3
United States Army Srgt Civil War E_14_S_2
United States Army Civil War T_33_X_2
United States Army SGT Civil War K_94_S_8

Unknown S_61_X_7
United States Army Spanish American War M_54_X_43
United States Army Civil War 1_22_X_1
United States Army Civil War I_45_X_9
United States Army Civil War M_48_X_1
United States Army Spanish American War R_7_E_1
United States Army World War I P_3_X_3
United States Army Civil War E_31_X_1
United States Army Civil War 1_20_W_1
United States Army Civil War C_16_X_10
United States Army Civil War 8_5_X_2
United States Army Civil War T_53_X_1
United States Army Civil War 1_13_X_1
United States Army Civil War C_26_X_2
United States Army Pvt. Civil War M_79_X_22
United States Army Civil War 10_58_X_1
United States Army Civil War 12_41_X_4
United States Army World War II N_81_X_5
United States Marine Corps Korean War K_9_X_3
United States Army World War I I_3_S_1
United States Army Unknown E_17_X_6
United States Army CPL Civil War E_17_X_3

Private Civil War F_73_X_3
United States Army Civil War M_64_X_10
United States Army Civil War 17_70_W_1



United States Army World War I T_44_X_8
United States Army Civil War I_13_W_3
United States Army World War I R_28_X_10
United States Army Civil War N_93_E_1
United States Army World War II R_28_X_15
United States Army Civil War R_5_W_2
United States Army Civil War N_35_W_1
United States Army Civil War 14_30_W_2
United States Army Civil War R_4_W_3A
United States Army Civil War K_95_X_2
United States Army Civil War T_31_X_4
United States Army Civil War D_1_X_11
United States Army Civil War L_20_S_1
United States Army Civil War F_22_X_4
United States Army Civil War T_38_X_6
United States Army Civil War D_52_X_3
United States Navy World War II M_47_X_50
United States Army Civil War T_52_X_2
United States Army Civil War K_84_X_2
United States Army Spanish American War D_59_X_4
United States Army Civil War E_1_X_8
United States Army Civil War U_36_X_1
United States Army Civil War N_41_E_1
United States Army Civil War F_63_E_8
United States Army Civil War K_26_X_3
United States Army Captin Civil War D_62_X_8
United States Army Civil War T_63_X_7
United States Army Spanish American War R_4_W_1
United States Army Spanish American War R_15_X_1
United States Army Civil War 17_56_N_3
United States Army World War II and Korean War 33_18_X_9
United States Army World War I C_29_X_C
United States Army VietNam War M_49_X_140
United States Army SP4 Unknown U_2_X_21
United States Army Civil War D_29_X_1
United States Army World War I 10_56_X_2
United States Army Peace Time 21_21_X_3
United States Army Civil War R_7_W_2
United States Army Spanish American War O_43_S_5

Civil War D_58_W_1
United States Army Civil War H_9_N_2

Unknown F_28_X_1A
United States Army World War II M_47_X_103
United States Army Civil War D_97_X_4



United States Army World War II 29_65_E_3
United States Navy Korean War 22_73_S_1
United States Army Civil War U_1_X_5
United States Marine Corps VietNam War 22_50_S_6

Civil War U_22_X_5
United States Navy VietNam War 4_38_X_10
United States Air Force World War II 22_73_S_2
United States Army World War II 14_73_X_6
United States Army World War I N_35_E_6
United States Air Force Unknown 34_15_X_10
United States Navy Korean War S_32_X_8
United States Army Unknown P_68_X_8
United States Navy World War II and Korean War P_24_X_9
United States Army Unknown 4_2_X_10
United States Army Unknown M_57_X_146
United States Army Civil War N_84_X_2
United States Army World War I 11_43_N_5
United States Army Civil War 10_24_X_1
United States Army Civil War 14_34_X_1
United States Army Civil War 9_12_X_7
United States Army private Civil War M_80_X_19

World War I 16_50_X_3
United States Air Force Master Sergeant Peace Time D_12_X_2
United States Army Civil War F_31_X_2
United States Army Civil War E_10_X_3
United States Army World War I 27_18_X_6
United States Army Civil War 14_63_W_1
United States Army Spanish American War H_22_E_3
United States Army Civil War F_36_X_9
United States Army Civil War N_95_X_2
United States Army Quarter Master Sgt Civil War N_87_E_1
United States Army Civil War M_80_X_21
United States Army Civil War E_7_X_1
United States Army Civil War L_28_S_2
United States Navy World War I 22_89_S_3
United States Navy World War II G_77_N_2
United States Army Civil War G_77_N_2
United States Army Civil War K_68_S_3
United States Army Civil War G_63_X_1
United States Army 1st Sgt Civil War N_70_X_1
United States Army Civil War K_79_X_1
National Guard Civil War 2_16_X_3
United States Army Civil War E_65_X_3
United States Army Civil War C_3_X_5



United States Army Civil War E_60_X_9
United States Army Civil War 14_72_W_2
United States Army Civil War F_18_N_3
United States Army Spanish American War L_40_X_2
United States Army World War I and World War II 17_103_X_4
United States Army World War I G_71_X_12
United States Army Civil War H_36_X_6
United States Army Civil War G_59_X_3
United States Navy World War I 19_2_W_3
United States Army Civil War D_1_X_5
United States Army World War I E_56_X_11
United States Army Civil War 11_34_N_2
United States Army Civil War 3_24_X_2
United States Army Civil War 6_9_X_1
United States Army World War I 9_33_X_6
United States Army Captain Civil War M_78_X_30
United States Army Civil War D_75_X_7
United States Army Civil War 17_75_X_1
United States Army Civil War 16_55_X_1
United States Army Civil War M_41_E_1
United States Army World War I 11_14_S_3
United States Army Cpl. Civil War M_72_X_14

Unknown N_73_W_1
Unknown D_28_X_1

United States Army Civil War T_26_X_5
United States Army Civil War M_48_X_3
United States Army World War I P_5_X_14
United States Army Civil War 18_20_S_1
United States Army Civil War E_35_X_4
United States Army prvt 1st class World War I E_31_X_9
United States Army Civil War O_11_X_11
United States Army Civil War I_30_X_1
United States Army Civil War U_6_X_1
United States Army Spanish American War 14_65_X_1
United States Army World War I N_7_X_3
United States Army World War I 18_10_N_4
United States Army Civil War K_111_S_1
United States Army Civil War K_59_X_2
United States Army Civil War 1_10_X_1
United States Army Civil War D_6_X_6
United States Army Civil War F_53_X_2
United States Army Spanish American War E_31_X_4
United States Army World War I E_8_X_5
United States Army Civil War N_1_X_1



United States Navy World War II I_37_X_3
United States Army Civil War N_113_X_2
United States Army World War I 7_13_X_1
United States Army Pvt. Civil War M_47_X_50
United States Army Quarter Master SGT.Civil War F_19_X_5
United States Army Civil War 10_6_W_1
United States Army World War I I_3_S_4
United States Army World War I 15_38_S_6
United States Army Civil War I_3_N_1
United States Army Civil War E_36_X_1
United States Army Civil War E_17_X_9
United States Navy World War I 1_34-37_X_C
United States Army Civil War 6_13_X_4
United States Army Civil War N_57_E_2
United States Army Pvt. Civil War M_48_X_2
United States Army World War I 14_9_X_5
United States Army Corporal Civil War 11_38_N_2
United States Navy Civil War 14_20_E_2
United States Army Civil War D_66_X_7
United States Army Spanish American War 15_28_S_2
United States Army Civil War M_72_X_17
United States Army Civil War 10_32_X_2
United States Army Civil War O_56_X_1
United States Army Civil War T_54_X_1
United States Army Civil War K_21_X_1
United States Army Civil War 14_8_E_1

Unknown N_53_S_2
United States Army World War I O_35_X_3
United States Army Civil War 14_33_E_1
United States Army Civil War R_37_X_1
United States Army PVT Civil War M_54_X_44
United States Army Civil War F_56_X_4
United States Army Civil War 11_9_S_1
United States Army Civil War D_49_X_11
United States Army Civil War T_59_X_3
United States Army Civil War U_38_X_1A
United States Army Spanish American War M_29_S_3
United States Marine Corps Korean War 7_23_X_11
United States Army Sgt. Civil War M_70_X_36
United States Army Civil War U_26_X_6
United States Army Civil War N_74_X_1
United States Army Civil War 10_29_W_11
United States Army Civil War F_43_S_2
United States Army World War I P_3_X_2



United States Army Civil War G_37_X_12
United States Army World War II M_78_X_112
United States Army Civil War 17_55_S_6
United States Army Civil War N_65_W_5
United States Army World War II 3_6_X_10
United States Army VietNam War 14_13_X_4
United States Army World War II and Korean War 22_74_S_3
United States Army Civil War N_53_N_1
United States Army Civil War K_67_X_3
United States Army Pvt. Civil War K_110_N_10
United States Navy PT Boat Captain World War II 2_6_X_21
United States Air Force VietNam War 16_19_S_3
United States Army World War II P_45_X_10
United States Army Civil War 14_11_E_2

Unknown 33_31_X_1
United States Army LT. Civil War T_15_X_8
National Guard Unknown 22_79_SW_5
United States Coast Guard Unknown MAUS_101_6_E

Unknown 33_49_S_2
United States Navy Korean War C_7_X_6
United States Navy World War II D_49_X_8
United States Army VietNam War 33_6_X_10



VETERANS JULY 2022 - JUNE 2023 

 

 

 

                      NAME                                BLOCK            LOT                      GRAVE                            BURIAL DATE  

   

1. Richard McConnell  S  64  5-B   July 1, 2023 

2. Shleby J Smith   D  10  1-A   July 11, 2023 

3. Lynn Timmins    V  20  6   July 13, 2023 

4. Michael C. Phinney  6  24  9-B   July 15, 2023 

5. Daniel A Gowey  L  35  8-A   July 21, 2023 

6. Owen Sonsthagen  22  78 S1/2 6   August 3, 2023 

7. Ivan Young   24  20  12   August 11, 2023 

8. Robert E Schmitz  Maus N    101  5-J   August 14, 2023 

9. William P Vanden Boom GAR  300  2-G   August 25, 2023 

10. Stanley E Troy   S  22  8-A   August 31, 2023 

11. Paul Harwood   N  24  10   September 6, 2023 

12.  Charles Chastain III  N2  500  4-L   September 13, 2023 

13. Stephen Lemmers  M GAR  57  142-B   September 18, 2023 

14. Jerome I Rosewitz  Maus S  103  5-A   October 6, 2023 

15. Donald J Weir   P  40  3-B   November 20, 2023 

16. Milton Oettinger  27  44  7-A   February 20, 2024 

17. James Hickinbotham  29  5  5-B   March 19, 2024 

18. Marlin H Reeck  N  91  2   April 2, 2024 

19. Thomas R Steinfeldt Sr 31  20  9   April 6, 2024 

20. John B. Person   2  24 E  5   April 10, 2024 

21. Jerome H Laubenstein U  3  20   April 24, 2024 

22. Lynn Deeg   29  37  9   May 15, 2024 

23. William Friede   29  65W  3-C   May 16, 2024 

24. Albert Shellard  D  10  4-A   June 5, 2024 

25.  Mark Jensen   33  10  2-A   June 6, 2024 

26. Dominic Carini   K  2  17   June 8, 2024 

27. Robert Rector   S  39  6-B   June 13, 2024 

28. Steven V Dahms  M GAR  81  172-A   June 24, 2024 



Department of Parks & Recreation 
1819 East Witzke Blvd. 

Appleton, WI 54911  
p: 920-832-3919 
f: 920-993-3103 

www.appleton.org 

 
 
 
 
 
 
TO:  Finance Committee 
 
FROM:  Dean R. Gazza 
 
DATE:  July 22, 2024 
 
RE: Action:  Reject bid from Neumann Pools Inc. for the Mead Pool Plastering 

Project. 
 

The 2024 Capital Improvement Plan includes $350,000 to coat Mead Pool with plaster. Mead 
pool is currently 32 years old. In 2021 we completed a condition analysis for the entire Mead 
Pool facility. The condition analysis indicated that the pool and all ancillary equiptment was in 
overall good condition, except for the existing pool coating. Only one bid was received for 
plastering of the pool and it was overbudget. 

The bid received was as follows: 

Neumann Pools, Inc.   $817,199  

The bid exceeded our allocated project budget for the Mead Pool Plastering Project. After 
conferring with our consulting engineer (McMahon), the Parks and Recreation Department is 
recommending rejecting the bid, reviewing the current project bidding documents for items that 
can be deferred to a future year, and re-bidding with a reduction in the project scope.  

 

Please contact me at 832-5572 or at dean.gazza@appleton.org with any questions. 

 

http://www.appleton.org/departmentname


 

 

 

MEMORANDUM  

Date:  07/16/2024 

To:  Finance Committee  

From:  Pete Neuberger, Deputy Director of Public Works  

Subject: Request to approve Change Order No. 2 to contract 21-24 for H-23 Lightning Drive 

Extension Phase 1 for added drain tile and earthwork, in the amount of $72,830.00 

resulting in a decrease in contingency from $92,934.82 to $20,104.82. Overall 

contract increases from $1,622,361.12 to $1,695,191.12. 

 

The Department of Public Works is requesting approval of Change Order #2 as a contract 

amendment for contract 21-24, H-23 Lightning Drive Extension Phase 1, for drain tile, for 

removing unsuitable soil and importing additional clay fill, in the amount of $72,830.00 resulting 

in a decrease in contingency from $92,934.82 to $20,104.82. Overall contract increases from 

$1,622,361.12 to $1,695,191.12.  

Frequent rainfall has continued to impact the moisture-sensitive soils on the H-23 Lightning Drive 

Phase 1 project.  The soils encountered in the initial excavation efforts of the stormwater pond 

are both wet and too sandy to be left in place as a clay liner for the pond or used as fill on the 

project.  As a result, all the clay liner for the pond as well as additional clay material for road fill 

will need to be imported to the project site and additional unsuitable material will need to be 

removed from the site.   

Additionally, to aid in keeping the road subgrade dry enough to support construction traffic and 

continue construction, DPW plans to add drain tile to the storm sewer system beneath the road.   

As identified on the attached Change Order Form, the proposed additional work would be funded 

from account 5230.6809.4 (stormwater). The total available project budget under that account is 

sufficient for the identified contract expenditures and new contract contingency. After adding the 

proposed $72,830.00 to the contract value under the 5230.6809.4 account, the new total contract 

value under that account will be $1,092,532.54.  

The other accounts within the H-23 contract and contingency would be unchanged. 



Change Order No. 2

Date 07/16/24

Contract No. 21-24  for the following public work :

between

      and the City of Appleton dated: is hereby changed in the following particular wit:

Current

Item Contract Current C.O. Amount Contingency New Contract New Contingency

No. Account No. Amount Contingency (+/-) (+/-) Total Total

1 5371 $129,501.00 $10,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $129,501.00 $10,000.00

2 5431 $101,223.40 $6,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $101,223.40 $6,000.00

3 5230 $1,019,704.54 $75,000.00 $72,830.00 -$72,830.00 $1,092,534.54 $2,170.00

4 4240 $371,932.18 $1,934.82 $0.00 $0.00 $371,932.18 $1,934.82

5 $0.00 $0.00

6 $0.00 $0.00

7 $0.00 $0.00

8 $0.00 $0.00

9 $0.00 $0.00

10 $0.00 $0.00

Total $1,622,361.12 $92,934.82 $72,830.00 -$72,830.00 $1,695,191.12 $20,104.82

 Reason for Change:

 

The Contract Time will be increased by this Change Order: (see complettion date below) Days

The Date of Completion as of the date of this Change Order therefore is: November 15, 2024

Finance Committee Agenda Date: 07/23/24

Date approved by Council:

Unit H-23 Lightning Drive Extension Phase 1

CONTRACT CHANGE ORDER

Continued rain and wet conditions, unsuitable material found in pond excavation requiring additional material to be removed from site and imported to the site, and 

addition of drain tiile to the storm sewer sytem

(Contractor Name) (Contractor Address)

Peters Concrete Company 1516 Atkinson Drive, Green Bay, WI 54303

January 19, 2024

7/18/2024



 

Department of Parks & Recreation 
1819 East Witzke Blvd. 

Appleton, WI 54911  
p: 920-832-5905 
f: 920-993-3103 

www.appletonparkandrec.org 

 
 
 
 
 
TO:  Finance Committee 
 
FROM:  Dean R. Gazza 
 
DATE:  7-22-2024 
 
RE: Action:  Award the “2024 Police Station Gun Range Door Project” to IEI general contractor in the 

amount of $44,838 with a contingency of 10% not to exceed $49,322. 
 

Action:  Approve balance transfer of $3,502 from the “2024 Fire Station Fire Alarm upgrade 
project” to “2024 Police Station Gun Range Door Project.” 

 
 
The 2024 Capital Improvement Plan includes $162,000 to make upgrades to the firing range at the Police 
Station.  Of the $162,000, $109,475 is allocated for Target upgrades and $52,525 is allocated to adding a double 
door to allow large items including a vehicle in the range for training.  The engineering and design for the door 
replacement cost $6,705 and the lowest bid is $44,838 leaving only $982 for contingency.  This action item 
requests transferring a positive balance of $3,502 from the Fire Station Fire Alarm upgrades to allow for a 
responsible contingency of 10% to be used only if required. 
 
The proposals for the flooring were received as follows: 
IEI General Contractors   $44,838 
RJM Construction   $58,282 
 
10 % contingency   $4,484   
 
Total:     $49,322 
 
 
Please contact me at 832-5572 or at dean.gazza@appleton.org with any questions. 

 

mailto:dean.gazza@appleton.org


Department of Utilities 

Wastewater Treatment Plant 

2006 East Newberry Street 

Appleton, WI 54915 

p: 920-832-5945 

f: 920-832-5949 

www.appleton.org/government/utilities 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Date: July 16, 2024 

To: Chairperson Vered Meltzer 

CC: Ryan Rice, Utilities Deputy Director  

From: Chris Stempa, Utilities Director 

Subject:   Action: Reject base bid from August Winter & Sons in the amount of $2,617,900 
for the Appleton Wastewater Treatment Plant Primary Clarifier #1-#4 
Rehabilitation Project  

 

BACKGROUND: 

There are six primary clarifiers at the Appleton Wastewater Treatment Plant (AWWTP).  Primary 
Clarifiers #1 and #2 were originally constructed in 1936 with Primary Clarifiers #3 and #4 later 
constructed as part of a 1961 expansion project.  The last major maintenance or CIP project 
completed on Primary Clarifiers #1 through #4 was in 2001.  As part of that project, all four primary 
clarifiers were modified to raise the bridge elevations and install new drive mechanisms. 

A rehabilitation project was formulated based on the findings of a conditions assessment.  The 
project that was to be carried forward would restore the original concrete grout layer which has 
deteriorated over the 60 plus years of continuous use and address steel coating system 
deterioration of major clarifier operating components.   

BIDS: 

On Wednesday, June 24, 2024, the City opened and reviewed the bids from two contractors which 
are summarized in Table 1 below.  Each bid met the submittal requirements.   

 Table 1: Bid Tab Summary 

Item August Winter and Sons, Inc Rohde Brothers 

Base Bid $2,617,900 $3,325,000 
 

August Winter and Sons, Inc provided the least cost base bid but their base bid exceeded the 
available budget by over $1,000,000.  There were two primary factors that contributed to the 
higher bid costs.  First and foremost was the expanded base bid scope which included new 
stainless steel scum baffles and scum beaches/troughs, cure-in-place pipe lining of the Primary 
#1 and #2 sludge suction pipe, and replacement primary sludge pump. These additional scope 
items were added late in the preliminary design process knowing there was available unused 
funding from other construction projects that could be recaptured.  Unfortunately, the preliminary 
cost estimates fell well short of what bidding process revealed.  Second, was the timing of the bid 
processes.  The late June bid date was not advantageous from a contractors perspective because 
of a compressed schedule that would have been required subsequent to contract execution to 
complete core scope tasks (e.g. coating and grouting) within a limited warm weather window.  The 
substantial completion date was extended into mid-2025 to account for this but it did not provide 
the level of bid cost relief that would have been needed to advance this contract. 

http://www.appleton.org/government/utilities


Finance Committee Memo 
Reject base bid from August Winter & Sons, Inc 
Page 2 of 2 

 
After conferring internally and with our consulting engineer, the Utilities Department is 
recommending rejecting the bid.  All the current project bidding documents will deferred to a future 
year.  That delay will not jeopardize existing clarifier operations or treatment efficiencies.  The 
intent would be to rebudget accordingly based on the expanded scope of work that will address 
all long-term needs within this area of treatment. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

I am recommending the rejection of the base bid from August Winter and Sons in the in the 
amount of $2,617,900 for the Appleton Wastewater Treatment Plant Primary Clarifier #1-#4 
Rehabilitation Project. 

If you have any questions or require additional information regarding this project, please contact 
Chris Stempa at 920-832-5945.   



Department of Utilities 

Wastewater Treatment Plant 

2006 East Newberry Street 

Appleton, WI 54915 

p: 920-832-5945 

f: 920-832-5949 

www.appleton.org/government/utilities 

 

MEMORANDUM 

Date: July 19, 2024 

To: Chairperson Brad Firkus and Members of the Finance Committee 

From: Chris Stempa, Utilities Director 

CC: Ryan Rice, Utilities Deputy Director 
 Kelli Rindt, Enterprise Fund Accounting Manager  

Subject: Action: Approve Change Order #1 to Sabel Mechanical as part of the AWWTP 
Final Clarifier Tank Underdrain and Tank Drain Rehabilitation Contract 
Project totaling $8,837 resulting in a decrease in contingency from $6,662 to 
$0 with the balance of $2,175 covered by available project funds. 

 

 

BACKGROUND: 

On February 7, 2024, Common Council approved a contract for the Appleton Wastewater 
Treatment Plant (AWWTP) Final Clarifier Tank Underdrain and Tank Drain Rehabilitation 
Contract Project to Sabel Mechanical as part of the AWWTP Final Clarifier Tank Underdrain 
and Tank Drain Rehabilitation Contract Project totaling $44,411 with 15% contingency of 
$6,662 for a project total not to exceed $51,073.  The change order task summarized below 
represents work added to the original contract scope of work (per Section IV P of the 
Procurement and Contract Management Policy) or deleted from, which alters the original 
contract amount. 

CHANGE ORDER #1   

Change Order #1 reflects the labor, material, and equipment costs for safety grate installation 
at two wetwell openings.  The current wetwells are located adjacent to one another.  Neither 
wetwell has integral fall protection features which has become a Utilities Department standard 
for any project involving existing or new infrastructure.    

RECOMMENDATION: 

I am requesting approval of Change Order #1 to Sabel Mechanical for fall protection 
equipment totaling $8,837.  The remaining Change Order balance of $2,175 would be funded 
with available project funds. 

If you have any questions or require additional information regarding this project, please 
contact Chris Stempa at 920-832-5945.   

http://www.appleton.org/government/utilities


Resolution #8-R-24 
Resolution to Require a Super Majority Vote on Wheel Tax or Wheel 

Tax Related Fee Increases 
 
 

Date: Wednesday July 17th, 2024  
Submitted By: Alderperson Christopher Croatt – District 14 
Referred To: Finance Committee 
 
 
 

 
RESOLUTION SUMMARY 

 
Require a super majority vote (2/3) of the Common Council on any change to the City of 
Appleton wheel tax or wheel tax related fees proposed by the city or part of a resolution 
submitted by an Alderperson or Alderpersons. 
 

 
 
 

FULL RESOLUTION 
 
Whereas tax and fee increases can have a direct financial impact on the citizens of 
Appleton, and; 
 
And Whereas tax and fee changes can have an impact on departmental budgets, capital 
projects, borrowing obligations, service levels, and operations, and; 
 
And Whereas certain transactions such as transfer of funds, special use permits, and 
some other important financial impact votes require a super majority vote of the Common 
Council, and; 
 
And Whereas important votes on tax and fee increases should be held to the same higher 
threshold for approval as other finance-based matters with the potential for direct financial 
implications to taxpaying citizens, now; 
 
Therefore, Be It Resolved the City of Appleton requires a super majority vote defined as a 
2/3 vote of the members of the Common Council on all wheel tax and wheel tax related fee 
changes, including increases and decreases.   



 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                                   “… meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 

Department of Utilities  
Wastewater Treatment Plant 

2006 E Newberry Street 
Appleton, WI  54915-3128 

920-832-5945 tel. 
920-832-5949 fax 

 

To: Chairperson Brad Firkus and Members of the Finance Committee 
 

From: Chris Stempa, Utilities Director 
 

CC: Kelli Rindt, Enterprise Fund Accounting Manager 
 

Date: July 17, 2024  
 

Re: Information: Change Orders #1 and #2 to August Winter and Sons, Inc. 
contract as part of the AWWTP Grit System & Raw Sludge Pump 
Replacement Project totaling $18,959 resulting in a decrease in 
contingency from $57,336 to $38,377 

 

 
 

BACKGROUND: 

On September 6, 2023 Common Council approved a contract for the Appleton 
Wastewater Treatment Plant (AWWTP) Grit System & Raw Sludge Pump 
Replacement Project. in the amount of $573,355 with 10% contingency of $57,336 
for a project total not to exceed $630,691.  The change order tasks described below 
represent work added to the original contract scope of work (per Section IV P of the 
Procurement and Contract Management Policy) or deleted from, which alters the 
original contract amount.   

CHANGE ORDER #1   

Change Order #1 reflects labor, material, and equipment costs to replace 75 feet of 
3-inch diameter reclaimed final effluent (RFE) ductile iron pipe with 316 stainless 
steel.  This RFE line supports the preliminary treatment fine screen wash press 
operation and was showing signs of corrosion. Total cost was $13,961 

CHANGE ORDER #2   

Change Order #2 reflects the labor and material to abandon formerly utilized air lines 
and remove unused sections of RFE piping within each grit vortex chamber.  These 
lines are no longer required with the new equipment installation.  Total cost was 
$4,998. 

 

Please contact me at 920-832-5945 if you have any questions or require additional 
information regarding this project. 



 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                                   “… meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 

Department of Utilities  
Wastewater Treatment Plant 

2006 E Newberry Street 
Appleton, WI  54915-3128 

920-832-5945 tel. 
920-832-5949 fax 

 

To: Chairperson Brad Firkus and Members of the Finance Committee 
 

From: Chris Stempa, Utilities Director 
 

CC: Kelli Rindt, Enterprise Fund Accounting Manager 
 

Date: July 17, 2024  
 

Re: Information: Change Orders #1 to Rohde Brothers, Inc. contract as part 
of the AWWTP Sludge Piping and Digester Heat Exchanger 
Replacement Project totaling $9,730 resulting in a decrease in 
contingency from $241,800 to $ 232,070 

 

 
 

BACKGROUND: 

On September 6, 2023 Common Council approved a contract for the Appleton 
Wastewater Treatment Plant (AWWTP) Sludge Piping and Digester Heat Exchanger 
Replacement Base Bid with Alternate Bid to Rohde Brothers Inc. in the amount of 
$1,612,000 with 15% contingency of $241,800 for a project total not to exceed 
$1,853,800.  The change order task described below represents work added to the 
original contract scope of work (per Section IV P of the Procurement and Contract 
Management Policy) or deleted from, which alters the original contract amount.   

CHANGE ORDER #1   

Change Order #1 reflects labor and equipment costs to replace three (3) additional 8-
inch diameter Dezurik plug valves located on the digester circulation sludge piping 
system.  These valves were found to not effectively seat (seal) or actuate because of 
wear and/or deterioration.  As such, these valves have been targeted for replacement 
to safely facilitate the primary heat exchangers and circulation piping work.  Total cost 
was $9,730 

 

Please contact me at 920-832-5945 if you have any questions or require additional 
information regarding this project. 



 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                                   “… meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 

Department of Utilities  
Water Treatment Facility 

2281 Manitowoc Rd. 
Menasha, WI 54952 

p:920-997-4200 
f: 920-997-3240 

 

To: Chairperson Brad Firkus and Members of the Finance Committee 
 

From: Chris Stempa, Utilities Director 
 

CC: Kelli Rindt, Enterprise Fund Accounting Manager 
 

Date: July 17, 2024  
 

Re: Information: Change Orders #1 to August Winter and Sons, Inc. contract 
as part of the Clearwell Repairs Project totaling $8,814 resulting in a 
decrease in contingency from $48,400 to $39,586 

 

 
 

BACKGROUND: 

On March 20, 2024 Common Council approved a contract for the Appleton Water 
Treatment Facility (AWTF) Clearwell Repairs Project to August Winter and Sons, Inc. 
in the amount of $242,000 with 20% contingency of $48,400 for a project total not to 
exceed $290,400.  The change order task described below represents work added to 
the original contract scope of work (per Section IV P of the Procurement and 
Contract Management Policy) or deleted from, which alters the original contract 
amount.   

CHANGE ORDER #1   

Change Order #1 reflects the labor and equipment costs to replace the existing 18-
inch diameter Filter Effluent Valve #8.  The valve does not effectively seat or 
automatically open without manual assistance. 

 

Please contact me at 920-832-5945 if you have any questions or require additional 
information regarding this project. 



 
 

 FACILITIES & CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT 
 2024 MID-YEAR REVIEW 

All figures through June 30, 2024 
 

 
This mid-year report attempts to summarize the majority of initiatives completed or in-progress 
during this period. 
 
 
Facilities and Construction Management 
 

Projects and Successes 
• Completed the 2021 AWWTP Electrical Distribution Project (Phase 5). 
• Completed the 2023 AWWTP Exterior Masonry Repairs Project. 
• Completed the 2023 AWWTP A-Building Ceiling and Painting Project. 
• Completed the 2023 MSB CEA Shop HVAC. 
• Completed the 2024 MSB furniture replacement project. 
• Completed the 2024 Telulah Park Pavilion Renovation Project. 
• Completed the 2024 City Hall Health Department remodel. 
• 2024 Fire Station lighting upgrades project is in construction phase. 
• 2024 Fire Station #2 fire alarm system upgrades project is in construction phase. 
• 2024 Fire Station #2 locker room design is in progress. Construction is scheduled for 

2025. 
• 2024 Golf Course Clubhouse flooring upgrades is in design phase, construction to be 

completed in December. 
• 2024 fountain masonry repairs are in progress. City Park fountain masonry repairs 

completed. Houdini Plaza masonry repairs to be completed in fall 2024. 
• 2024 City Hall security upgrades is in design phase, construction to be completed by end 

of 2024. 
• 2024 Fire Station #1 and #6 HVAC upgrades project is under construction and scheduled 

to be completed in October 2024. 
• 2024 AWWTP V-Building Elevator upgrades project is in design phase. 
• 2024 Water Plant HVAC upgrades project is under construction and scheduled to be 

completed in November 2024. 
• 2024 AWWTP L-Building HVAC project is in design phase. 
• 2024 AWWTP Lighting upgrades project is in construction phase. 
• 2024 Mead Pool tank re-coating project is in design phase. 
• 2024 ADA Upgrades project is in design phase. 
• 2024 Park Pavilion Roof replacement project is in construction phase. 
• 2024 AWWTP A-Building Roof Replacement project is under construction and 

scheduled to be completed in November 2024. 
• 2024 PRFMD Generator Replacement project is under construction and scheduled to be 

completed in November 2024.  



 
 

• Library replacement is in construction phase. 
• Valley Transit Whitman Ave Facility Renovation project is in construction phase and 

scheduled to be completed in December 2024. 
 

Staffing, Training, and Safety 
• Administrative Services Coordinator retired in February. 
• New Administrative Services Coordinator started in January. 
• One summer seasonal started in June.  
• All maintenance staff completed required safety trainings.  
• Assistant Facilities Manager completed OSHA-30 trainings. 
• Assistant Facilities Manager completed the City of Appleton Thrive Leadership 

Academy. 
• Stop the Bleed Trauma Kits installed throughout City facilities.  
• No work-related injuries occurred. 

 
Budget 
• Year to date and Facilities Monthly Billings completed and reviewed monthly. 
• Annual Department budget meetings conducted in April. 
• 2025 Facilities and Construction Management budget submitted. 
• 5-year CIP plan updated and submitted. 
 
Operations & Maintenance Summary 
• Asset Management System Updates 

o Facilities staff have been working with IT Department and Tyler Technologies to 
implement new asset management system. 
 

• Standby Generator Systems:  
o Monthly and annual standby generator system testing successfully completed.  

 
• City Hall 

o New basement storage space updated for storage needs. 
o Attorney’s conference room received new furniture and flooring. 

 
• Fire Stations 

o Fire Station #1: 
 Standby generator had muffler replaced.  

 
o Fire Station #4: 

 Garage exterior wall restoration completed.  
 

o Fire Station #6:  
 Men’s shower improvements in-progress. 

 



 
 

• MSB 
o Truck wash exit overhead door replaced.  

 

• Parks and Parks Facilities 
o Park pavilions prepped and opened May 1st. 
o City Park fountain inspected, cleaned, and turned on in spring. 
o Houdini Plaza fountain inspected, cleaned, and turned on in spring. 
o Jaycee Park pavilion men’s restroom restoration completed in spring. 
o Highview Park pavilion plumbing chase access improvements completed. 
o Lions Park lion drinking fountain donated by Mary Beth Nienhaus and the Noon 

Lions Club. Drinking fountain installed on May 1st.   
o Various park pavilion exterior doors received new paint. 
o Vulcan Heritage Park parking lot light pole was backed into and damaged. New 

light pole and fixture installed.  
 

• Aquatic Facilities 
o Pool Code: State of Wisconsin updated safety, maintenance, and operation of 

public pools and water attractions. Staff reviewed the new code pool and 
implemented new requirements. 
 

o Mead Pool: 
 Pool prepped and opened on-time.  
 Bathhouse interior door upgrades completed. 
 Bathhouse water heaters replaced as they are the end of their useful life. 
 Concession appliances inspected. 
 New lane lines installed. 
 Water meter upgrade installation completed.  

 

o Erb Pool: 
 Pool prepped and opened on-time.  
 Lap Pool tile repairs completed. 
 Leisure Pool UV equipment inspection completed. 
 Concession appliances inspected. 
 Sand filter venting improvements completed. 
 

• Police Station 
o Evidence area had additional outlets connected to generator power.  

 
• Wastewater Treatment Plant 

o V-bldg deluge fire suppression system installed.  
o Methane boilers received annual inspection in June. 
o New electrical distribution system completed and online. Training and 

maintenance procedures completed. 



 
 

o Interior lighting upgrades in-progress. 
 

• Water Treatment Plant 
o Sump pumps and piping replaced.  
o Interior lighting upgrades in-progress.  

 
• AEDs 

o All AEDs and components scheduled to be replaced in 2024 have been replaced. 
 

• Backup Batteries:  
o All backup batteries scheduled to be replaced in 2024 were replaced in spring. 

 
• Emergency Notification Sirens:  

o Emergency notification sirens received annual inspection and testing in March by 
Faith Technologies. 

o Edison Elementary School siren received repairs.  
 

• Exterior Lighting Survey:  
o Semi-annual exterior facility and parks lighting survey completed in spring. 

 
• Generator Maintenance: 

o Monthly generator inspections completed. 
o Annual generator testing and inspection completed. 
o 5-year generator inspection completed. 

 
• Contracted Services: 

o Custodial services provider has overall been meeting majority of expectations and 
dealing with intermittent staffing challenges.  

o Currently going through the RFP process for custodial services new contract to 
start January 2025. 

o UPS inspections completed at City Hall, Police Station, and Water Plant. 
o Annual overhead door inspection completed by Arbon. 
o Quarterly, semi-annual, and annual fire suppression and fire detection inspections 

completed by Summit.  
o Erb Pool and Mead Pool annual security alarm testing completed. 
o Erb Pool and Mead Pool pest control inspections began April-October. 
o Monthly pest control services by Valley Pest Control completed. 
o HVAC service provider, EC&D, completed quarterly inspections. 
o Elevator annual inspections completed. 

 
 
 
 



 
 

 
Work Order Performance 

 
DATE CREATED CLOSED 

 ’23-Q2 ’24-Q2 ’23-Q2 ’24-Q2 
January 233 248 241 228

February 199 195 186 168
March 239 233 172 218
April 274 272 299 276
May 262 252 223 248
June 216 207 261 237

TOTAL 1,423 1,407 1,382 1,375
AVERAGE 237 235 230 229

 
 

 
Emergencies 
Emergency maintenance is any activity that requires immediate repair because of impending 
danger to the occupants, business processes, the building, or a building system. Total of 20 
after business hour emergencies occurred that required attention from Facilities Management 
personnel. Major incidents include Fire Station #4 rig 9324 striking the exterior garage wall 
and MSB electrical garage was struck by trailer; both incidents required significant repairs 
that have been completed. Weather related incidents include Winter storm Cora causing 
several facility power outages over two days.  

 
After Hour Emergency 
Maintenance Quantity

 2022 2023 2024
January 2 8 0
February 0 1 4
March 2 0 2
April 2 3 4
May 1 3 3
June 7 2 7
TOTAL 14 17 20

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

Energy Use & Efficiency 
Utility bills for facility electric and natural gas use and cost have been entered on a monthly 
basis. Compared to 2023, facility natural gas usage is trending down by about 25%, this is 
due to the 2023 Wastewater Treatment Plant polymer incident. The facility electric usage is 
trending even to 2023 usage. 

 
 

Budget Performance Summary 
 

Description Year to Date  Full Year 
Amended 

Budget 

Percent of 
Amended 

Budget 
Facilities Administration (6330) 180,449 404,802 45%
Facilities Maintenance (6331) 1,347,837 2,582,191 52%
Total – Facilities Mgmt. Internal 
Service 

1,528,286 2,986,993 51% 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

 
 
 



 
 

 
Figure 1: Lions Park lion drinking fountain installed and unveiled with  

Mary Beth Nienhaus and the Appleton Noon Lions Club. 

 

 



 
 

 
Figure 2: Valley Transit Whitman Ave facility renovation progress. 



 
 

 



 
 

Figure 3: Fire Station #4 rig struck exterior wall. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

 
 

Figure 4: Municipal Services Building mechanic shop HVAC upgrades.  

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

Figure 5: Stop the Bleed Trauma kits installed through City Facilities. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
FINANCE DEPARTMENT 

MID-YEAR REVIEW 
All figures through June 30, 2024 

 
 

Significant 2023 Events: 
o Worked with the Department of Revenue to address an error made on TID values and 

established an interest-free loan to adjust the tax levy and reduce the impact on the affected 
tax payers. 

o Successfully completed a managed inventory trial with a vendor and one department to control 
cost and eliminate waste of janitorial supplies. 

o Addressed customer service concerns due to drive-up alley closure. 
o Evaluated approach during staffing challenges and fostered a “teamwork” mentality by training 

staff to assist with other tasks as needed. 
o Managed logistics of staffing changes during property tax collection time period including 

coverage schedules, training, and supporting staff. 
o Completed the 2024 budget and tax billing process. 
o Reviewed scheduled Wastewater Rate increase during the budget process to determine 

possible adjustments to the 2024 planned increase.   
o Completed implementation of GASB 96 – Subscription-Based Information Technology 

Arrangements. 
o Continued tracking funding sources and costs related to COVID-19 and ARPA funding.   
o Completed required quarterly reports for COVID-19 & ARPA grants. 
o Completed issuance of 2023 GO debt notes. 
o Continued implementation of the Utility Billing module of the ERP system. 
o Completed review of procurement card holders with departments. 

 
 
Significant 2024 Events: 

o Completed the 2023 annual audit with an unqualified opinion. 
o Completed the TID #7 interim audit with an unqualified opinion as required by the State. 
o Completed annual required reports with the State and PSC. 
o Continued implementation process for the Utility Billing module of the ERP system. 
o Began implementation process for Enterprise Asset Management (EAM) module in ERP 

system. 
o Transitioned two billing processes from the legacy system to alternative systems. 
o Began the process to issue $13.5 million of G.O. notes and $12.6 million in Wastewater 

revenue bonds.  
o Evaluated cash flow needs of Water and Wastewater Utilities for timing of bond issuance.  

Determined Water Utility can be postponed until 2025. 
o Continued to monitor and assist with determining allowable uses of multiple funding sources 

related to COVID-19 and ARPA grants. 
o Completed required reports for COVID-19 and ARPA grants. 
o Continued to add departments to janitorial supplies contract. 
o Continued to train staff members in new positions within the department and provide coverage 

as needed. 
o Continue to evaluate funding options for replacement of private side lead service and address 

PSC requirements. 
o Worked with departments to address current service issues and identify future needs for 

contracts that pertain to multiple departments. 
o Continued process to review and update Procurement and Purchase Card policies. 

  



 

 
FINANCE DEPARTMENT 

MID-YEAR REVIEW 
All figures through June 30, 2024 

 
 
Major objectives for the remainder of 2024: 

o Complete implementation process for the Utility Billing module of the ERP system. 
o Continue implementation process for Enterprise Asset Management (EAM) module in ERP 

system. 
o Complete the 2025 budget and related tax billing process. 
o Complete issuance of GO notes and Wastewater revenue bonds. 
o Continue to monitor and report COVID-19 and ARPA grants. 

 
 
Budget Performance Summary  
 

Program Actual Budget % 
Administration 73,163 151,865 48.2 
Customer Service 40,318 108,018 37.3 
Support Service 381,740 710,192 53.8 

Total 495,221 970,075 51.0 
 
 
 



 LEGAL and ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES DEPARTMENT 
  MID‐YEAR REVIEW 

  All figures through June 30, 2024 
 
Significant 2024 Events: 
The Legal and Administrative Services Department has been engaged in a number of 
matters through the first half of 2024.  Below are some of the highlights for the first half of 
the year: 
 
City Attorney’s Office 

 As of June 1, represented the City in traffic and ordinance related matters in 2024, 
including 2,798 scheduled initial court appearances, 41 scheduled jury and court trials 
and 1,118 scheduled pre‐trials/jury trial conferences or motion hearings.  

 Negotiated a new PILOT agreement with Mosaic. 

 Worked cooperatively with City staff on multiple acquisitions including land for the 
SPCP trail and parcels needed for construction projects via the condemnation 
process. 

 Negotiated, drafted and finalized various agreements in relation to downtown 
development including Fox Commons/City Center access, the Dark Horse 'no build' 
easement, and a license agreement for the former Blue Ramp site along with the 
extension/amendment. 

 Worked closely with staff and outside counsel to negotiate, finalize terms, and 
ultimately execute a development agreement with US Venture for the 
redevelopment of the 222 Building on College Avenue. 

 Drafted or assisted in amending or creating more than 90 ordinances, including 
multiple department renaming ordinances. 

 In just under the first six months of 2024, the Attorney’s Office processed over 150 
new agreements/contracts.  This can include negotiation, preparation of the contract 
document, circulation for signatures, tracking, and distribution. 

 Provided officers and staff of the Appleton Police Department with research results, 
written legal guidance as well as assisted APD officers to address legal questions on 
multiple occasions. 
 

City Clerk’s Office: 
• Implemented numerous alcohol licensing changes that included modifications to 

alcohol license renewals and preparations for electronic delivery of alcohol renewal 
information. 

•    Implemented Chapter 125 alcohol law changes such as new forms, new license types, 
and regulations. 

•   Updated the alcohol license policy to address licensing activity and clarify regulations 
for applicants. 

•    Assisted the APD and DOR with enforcement of gambling devices in Class A 
establishments.  

•    Successfully administered the Spring Election during a severe winter storm with 
power outages to polling places. 



•   Modified and improved the Election Day Contingency Plans as a result of 
experiencing a major election incident.  

•   Completed a third round of redistricting and modified Ward plans as a result of state 
legislative district changes.  

•    Created instructions for the creation of Zoom meetings for virtual participation at 
Committee/Council meetings. 
 

Areas of Primary Concentration for the remainder of 2024: 

 We will continue working with other departments in the City to ensure that City 
projects run smoothly and there is no delay in project completions.  

 The City Attorney’s Office will continue to vigorously defend the City of Appleton in 
actions filed against the City of Appleton.   

 The City Clerk’s Office will work diligently to facilitate the August and November 
elections. 

 The City Clerk’s Office will continue to review and update the Special Event Policy and 
related procedures. 
 

 
Budget Performance Summary 

 
ORG 

 
ACCOUNT DESCRIPTION 

ORIGINAL 
APPROP 

REVISED 
BUDGET 

YTD ACTUAL   
% USED 

14510  Administration  $399,742  $404,742  $183,758.94  45.40% 

14521  Litigation  $207,844  $213,644  $95,002.88  44.50% 

14530  Recordkeeping  $117,716  $117,716  $48,772.64  41.40% 

14540  Licensing  ‐$158,234  ‐$158,234  ‐$175,092.01  110.70% 

14550  Elections  $249,314  $249,314  $88,462.15  35.50% 

14560  Mail/Copy Services  $196,340  $196,340  $69,233.22  35.30% 
 

Revenue Total  ‐$236,000  ‐$236,000  ‐$193,092.38  81.80% 
 

Expense Total  $1,248,722  $1,259,522  $503,230.20  40.00% 
 

Grand Total  $1,012,722  $1,023,522  $310,137.82  30.30% 
City Law A23‐0777 
 



Legal	Services	-	Attorney's	Office
The	Legal	Services	Department	is	committed	to	being	a	resource;	providing	information	to	external	customers	and	information,	legal	advice,	and	guidance	to	internal	customers.	In	the
continuously	changing	landscape	of	the	pandemic,	local,	State,	and	federal	orders	all	required	hours	of	research,	interpretation,	and	consultation	with	various	City	Departments.	The
City	Attorney's	Office	provides	advice	and	direction	to	City	staff	along	with	the	Common	Council.

*The	Agreements	and	Contracts	chart	is	reflective	of	new	agreements	and	contracts	only.	It	does	not	include	extensions,	amendments,	or	task	orders	that	fall	under	a	master
agreement.
**Averages	are	calculated	using	data	from	the	years	2017-2023.

All	2024	numbers	are	reflective	through	June	30,	2024.

Year

20
17

20
18

20
19

20
20

20
21

20
22

20
23

20
24

0K

5K

10K

Va
lu
e

11,549
10,787

7,541 7,136

8,890
8,152

9,915

3,957

Annual	Initial	Appearances	and	Annual
Trials	and	Hearings Budget	Year

Actual	2021 Actual	2022 Actual	2023 Budgeted
2024

$0

$500,000

$1,000,000

Va
lu
e

$987,790

$1,142,903
$1,073,275

$1,259,522

Department	Budget	Summary

Average	Number
of	New	Matters
Opened	Annually

675
Yearly	total	as	of	6/30/24:	332

Average	Number
of	Ordinances	Adopted
or	Published	Annually

107
Yearly	total	as	of	6/30/24:	95

Administration
Elections
Licensing
Litigation
Mail/	Copy	Center
Recordkeeping

Trials/Hearings
Initials

Average	Number
of	Agreements	and	Contracts

Created	Annually

245
Yearly	total	as	of	6/30/24:	158



Legal	and	Administrative Services	-	City	Clerk
The	Legal	Services	Department	in	committed	to	being	a	resource;	providing	information	to	external	customers	and	information,	legal	advice,	and	guidance	to	internal	customers.	In	the
continuously	changing	landscape	of	the	pandemic,	local,	State,	and	federal	orders	all	required	hours	of	research,	interpretation,	and	consultation	with	various	City	Departments.

All	2024	numbers	are	reflective	through	June	30,	2024.

Date

Fe
br
ua
ry
	1
9,
	2
01
9

Ap
ri
l	2
,	2
01
9

Se
pt
em
be
r	1
0,
	2
01
9

Fe
br
ua
ry
	1
8,
	2
02
0

Ap
ri
l	7
,	2
02
0

Au
gu
st
	1
1,
	2
02
0

N
ov
em
be
r	3
,	2
02
0

Fe
br
ua
ry
	1
6,
	2
02
1

Ap
ri
l	6
,	2
02
1

Fe
br
ua
ry
	1
5,
	2
02
2

Ap
ri
l	5
,	2
02
2

Au
gu
st
	9
,	2
02
2

N
ov
em
be
r	8
,	2
02
2

Fe
br
ua
ry
	2
1,
	2
02
3

Ap
ri
l	4
,	2
02
3

Fe
br
ua
ry
	2
0,
	2
02
4

Ap
ri
l	2
,	2
02
4

0K

10K

20K

Ab
se
nt
ee
	B
al
lo
ts
	Is
su
ed

0K

10K

20K

Ab
se
nt
ee
	B
al
lo
ts
	R
et
ur
ne
d

Absentee	Ballots

Date
Fe
br
ua
ry
	1
9,
	2
01
9

Ap
ri
l	2
,	2
01
9

Se
pt
em
be
r	1
0,
	2
01
9

Fe
br
ua
ry
	1
8,
	2
02
0

Ap
ri
l	7
,	2
02
0

Au
gu
st
	1
1,
	2
02
0

N
ov
em
be
r	3
,	2
02
0

Fe
br
ua
ry
	1
6,
	2
02
1

Ap
ri
l	6
,	2
02
1

Fe
br
ua
ry
	1
5,
	2
02
2

Ap
ri
l	5
,	2
02
2

Au
gu
st
	9
,	2
02
2

N
ov
em
be
r	8
,	2
02
2

Fe
br
ua
ry
	2
1,
	2
02
3

Ap
ri
l	4
,	2
02
3

Fe
br
ua
ry
	2
0,
	2
02
4

Ap
ri
l	2
,	2
02
4

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

Ba
llo
ts
	C
as
t	(
%
)

Voter	Turnout

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Year

0K

50K

100K

150K

Pi
ec
es
	o
f	M

ai
l

$0

$50,000

$100,000

$150,000

Po
st
ag
e

Pieces	of	Metered	Mail	and	Postage	Costs

Date

Fe
br
ua
ry
	1
9,
	2
01
9

Ap
ri
l	2
,	2
01
9

Se
pt
em
be
r	1
0,
	2
01
9

Fe
br
ua
ry
	1
8,
	2
02
0

Ap
ri
l	7
,	2
02
0

Au
gu
st
	1
1,
	2
02
0

N
ov
em
be
r	3
,	2
02
0

Fe
br
ua
ry
	1
6,
	2
02
1

Ap
ri
l	6
,	2
02
1

Fe
br
ua
ry
	1
5,
	2
02
2

Ap
ri
l	5
,	2
02
2

Au
gu
st
	9
,	2
02
2

N
ov
em
be
r	8
,	2
02
2

Fe
br
ua
ry
	2
1,
	2
02
3

Ap
ri
l	4
,	2
02
3

Fe
br
ua
ry
	2
0,
	2
02
4

Ap
ri
l	2
,	2
02
4

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

Ab
se
nt
ee
	B
al
lo
ts
	R
et
ur
ne
d

Percent	of	Absentee	Ballots	Returned

Date

Fe
br
ua
ry
	1
9,
	2
01
9

Ap
ri
l	2
,	2
01
9

Se
pt
em
be
r	1
0,
	2
01
9

Fe
br
ua
ry
	1
8,
	2
02
0

Ap
ri
l	7
,	2
02
0

Au
gu
st
	1
1,
	2
02
0

N
ov
em
be
r	3
,	2
02
0

Fe
br
ua
ry
	1
6,
	2
02
1

Ap
ri
l	6
,	2
02
1

Fe
br
ua
ry
	1
5,
	2
02
2

Ap
ri
l	5
,	2
02
2

Au
gu
st
	9
,	2
02
2

N
ov
em
be
r	8
,	2
02
2

Fe
br
ua
ry
	2
1,
	2
02
3

Ap
ri
l	4
,	2
02
3

Fe
br
ua
ry
	2
0,
	2
02
4

Ap
ri
l	2
,	2
02
4

0K

20K

40K

Ba
llo
ts
	C
as
t

0K

20K

40K

Re
gi
st
er
ed
	V
ot
er
s

Ballots	Cast	and	Registered	Voters*

Year

20
19

20
20

20
21

20
22

20
23

20
24

0

500

1000

1500

Li
ce
ns
es

1,566

1,061 1,115

1,349
1,240

827

Licenses	Issued

Registered	Voters
Ballots	Cast

Absentee	Ballots	Issued
Absentee	Ballots	Returned

Pieces	of	Mail Postage

*2/19/19	--	District	7	only
*9/10/19	--	Districts	6	and	15	only
*2/20/24	--	only	5	wards	within	the	City

Special	Events
Alcohol/Operator	Licenses
Other	Licenses


	0000_Agenda
	0001_1_Meeting_Minutes070824
	0002_1_prs financing plan_appleton finance committee 07.22.24
	0003_1_RS cemetery grave reimbursment 2024_1-1
	0003_2_Copy of Military Report 2023 - 2024
	0003_3_VETERANS JULY 2023 - JUNE 2024
	0004_1_2024 Mead Pool Re-Coating Project (reject bids)
	0005_1_H-23 Change Order 2 Finance Memo Final
	0005_2_Copy of H-23 Change Order 2 Final
	0006_1_Police Station Firing Range Door
	0007_1_PrimClarifer1-4 Rehab_Bid rejection memo
	0008_1_240719_Finance Memo_Change Order 1_Sabel amended
	0009_1_8-R-24 Require Super Majority Vote on Wheel Tax Fee Changes
	0012_1_AWWTP GirtProj_ChangeOrders No1-2
	0013_1_AWWTP HEX ReplacementChangeOrderNo1
	0014_1_AWTF Clearwell_Change Orders No1
	0015_1_2024 Facilities and Construction Management Mid-Year Report
	0016_1_2024 Finance Mid-Year Report
	0017_1_2024 Legal Admin Mid Year Report.pdf

